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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@a¢we,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporath and its consolidated subsidiaries. This
Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statementsdhanot historical in nature, are predictive itune, or that depend upon or refer to future
events or conditions or contain forward-lookingataents within the meaning of Section 21 of theuifes Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and the Private Securities Litigation RefAct of 1995. These include, among other thisggtements regarding:

* Oour expectation to continue to acquire companiesjyrcts, services and technologi

 our intention that our direct sales force will gglbportionately more of our hardware systems petsdin the future

» continued realization of gains or losses with respe our foreign currency exposur:

* our expectation that our software busir total revenues generally will continue to incre:

 our belief that software license updates and prosiugport revenues and margins will grc

* our expectation that our hardware business wileHawer operating margins as a percentage of regetihan our software busine
» our international operations providing a signifitportion of our total revenues and expen

* Our expectation to continue to innovate and iniresava technology

* our expectation to continue to make significanestments in research and development and relabeidigropportunities, includir
those related to hardware products and serv

» our expectation to grow our consulting revent
« the sufficiency of our sources of funding for aditions or other matter

 our belief that we have adequately provided for masonably foreseeable outcomes related to owudits and that any settlem:
will not have a material adverse effect on our ctidated financial position or results of operat¢

* our expectation to continue paying comparable ditends on a quarterly bas
* our expectation that seasonal trends will continuescal 2013;

* our expectation to continue to depend on thirdypaxdnufacturers to build certain hardware systeradycts and third pari
logistics providers to deliver our produc

» our expectation that to the extent customers reagwport contracts or cloud software subscriptiomtezts, we will recogniz
revenues for the full contra’ values over the respective renewal peric

as well as other statements regarding our futuezatipns, financial condition and prospects, anglrimss strategies. Forward-looking
statements may be preceded by, followed by or decthe words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intendsplans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,”
“will,” “is designed to” and similar expressions.@/X¢laim the protection of the safe harbor for favlboking statements contained in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 &l forward-looking statements. We have basedeterward-looking statements on our
current expectations and projections about futuents. These forward-looking statements are subjetisks, uncertainties and assumptions
about our business that could affect our futureltesind could cause those results or other outsdediffer materially from those expressed
or implied in the forward-looking statements. Fastihiat might cause or contribute to such diffeesnaclude, but are not limited to, those
discussed in “Risk Factors” included elsewheréig Annual Report and as may be updated in filimganake from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), diefuthe Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be fidgdus in our fiscal year 2013, which
runs from June 1, 2012 to May 31, 2013.
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We have no obligation to publicly update or re\assy forward-looking statements, whether as a reguiew information, future events or
risks, except to the extent required by applicalleurities laws. If we do update one or more fodAlaoking statements, no inference shoul
drawn that we will make additional updates withpexs to those or other forward-looking statemeNesy information, future events or risks
could cause the forward-looking events we discnghis Annual Report not to occur. You should rlacp undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which reflect our opinions cayof the date of this Annual Report.
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PART |
ltem 1. Business
General

We are the world’s largest provider of enterpristvgare and a leading provider of computer hardvpaioglucts and services. Our software,
hardware systems, and services businesses dewgopfacture, market, host and support databasenaftleware software, applications
software, and hardware systems, with the lattesisting primarily of computer server and storagedpicts. Our businesses provide products
and services that are built upon industry standamgsengineered to work together or independevitlyin existing customer information
technology (IT) environments, and run securely avide range of customer IT environments, includitaud computing environments.

Cloud computing environments provide on demandssctea shared pool of computing resources inlatdea self-service manner, delivering
advantages in speed, agility and efficiency. Cloochputing has evolved from technologies and seswigat Oracle has provided for many
years, including clustering, server virtualizati®@grvice-Oriented Architecture (SOA), shared services,datple management automation,
more recently, engineered systems. Our securabteliand scalable product offerings are desigoéaprove business efficiencies at a lower
total cost of ownership. We seek to be an industager in each of the product categories in whielcampete, and to expand into new and
emerging markets

We believe our ability to offer our customers cleodmd flexibility in the manner in which they deplour products and services—while
maintaining enterprise-grade reliability, securdépd interoperability based upon industry standasiddmportant to our corporate strategy.
Oracle Fusion Applications, for example, offer amsérs a choice of deployment models to run ourdstats-based software applications in on-
premise or cloud computing IT environments. Or&lleud is a family of our cloutbased software subscription offerings that provatess 1
select Oracle software applications and softwaatfqims on a subscription basis in a secure, stdse@ased cloud computing environment.
Oracle Cloud includes software applications asé@® such as Oracle Fusion Human Capital Manage(#CM) Cloud Service and Oracle
Fusion Customer Relationship Management (CRM) CBevice, and software platform services such asl@bDatabase Cloud Service and
Oracle Java Cloud Service, among others.

We believe our internal growth and continued infimrawith respect to our software, hardware angtises businesses are the foundation of
our long-term strategic plans. In each of fiscal2@nd 2011, we invested $4.5 billion and in fi2@10, we invested $3.3 billion in research
and development to enhance our existing portfdliproducts and services and to develop new produadsservices. We continue to focus the
engineering of our hardware and software producteake them work together more effectively andwéelimproved computing performance,
reliability, and security to our customers. Forrmyde, Oracle Engineered Systems, which includeQracle Exadata Database Machine, Ol
Exalogic Elastic Cloud, and SPARC SuperCluster petsl amongst others, combine certain of our harel@ad software offerings to provide
engineered systems that increase computing perfarenand reduce storage requirements relative toaupetitors’ products, creating time
savings, efficiencies, and operational cost adyggdor our customers.

We also believe that an active acquisition progisan important element of our corporate strategjiy strengthens our competitive position,
enhances the products and services that we cantoffeistomers, expands our customer base, progigeger scale to accelerate innovation,
grows our revenues and earnings and increaseshsidek value. In recent years, we have investdibihd of dollars to acquire a number of
companies, products, services and technologiestithto, are complementary to, or have otherwisameed our existing offerings. We expect
to continue to acquire companies, products, sesvarel technologies to further our corporate stygateg

We are organized into three businesses—softwardwaae systems and services—which are further ddidto certain operating segments.
Our software business is comprised of two operaggments: (1) new software licenses and (2) softligense updates and product support.
Our hardware systems business consists of two tipgisegments: (1) hardware systems products grita(@ware systems support. Our
services business is comprised of the remaindeubperating segments and offers consulting sesyimanaged cloud services,

3
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and education services. Our software, hardwaresysand services businesses represented 70%, 17 ¥@3%nof our total revenues,
respectively, in fiscal 2012; 68%, 19% and 13%peesively, in fiscal 2011; and 77%, 9% and 14%peesively, in fiscal 2010. Prior to our
acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sun) in Jay2010, we did not have a hardware systems ssi%ee Note 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, included elsesvimethis Annual Report, for additional informaticelated to our operating segments.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslavizare corporation and is the successor to op@staginally begun in June 1977.

Oracle and Cloud Computing

Our cloud computing strategy offers customers adnmortfolio of enterprisgrade software and hardware products and senhieesite secur
scalable, and reliable, and based upon industndatas to enable interoperability and portabilgditionally, we offer customers a pragmatic
roadmap to adopt the cloud computing environmegit tlest fits their needs, whether that is a “paVatoud or a “public’cloud. Private clouc

are exclusive to a single organization, whereaslipticlouds are used by multiple organizationsaoshared basis and hosted and managed by
a third-party service provider. Our enterprise-gradftware and hardware products and servicegifaatp and public cloud computing
environments include, among others:

» Oracle Cloud, which was created to give accesettimin Oracle software in a secure, elasticallyadie, highly available, cloud-
based IT environment that we offer to customera snbscription basis, includes access, hostingastrficture management, the
of software updates, and suppt

» Oracle Engineered Systems, which include our Oragbedata Database Machine, Oracle Exalogic El&tiad, Oracle Exalytic
In-Memory Machine, and Oracle SPARC SuperClustedpcts, and which are designed to be foundationsléoid computing by
incorporating pre-integrated and optimized combamet of hardware and software that deliver higHgrerance efficiently and at a
lower total cost of ownershi

» Our Oracle software product and hardv-related software portfolio, which include

© Oracle Fusion Applications in the cloud, which #re newest generation of applications offered siamers. With ove

100 modules available, Oracle is the only compaitly such a broad cloud based application s

Oracle SOA Suite and Oracle Business Process Mar&ageSuite for process integration and Oracle Ddtgrator anc
Oracle GoldenGate for data integration, which arth ldesigned to enable integration within and acpblic and private
clouds;

Oracle Identity Management and Oracle DatabaserBgounhich are designed to enable customers targetheir owr
cloud environments and integrate with public clgt

Oracle VM for SPARC and x86, which are designedrtable customers to create virtual environmentsnigtiple
applications to share a physical server for highidization and efficiency; and which simplify amagcelerate software
deployment by enabling f-configured software images to be created and rnaplieibloyed onto virtualized serve

Oracle operating systems and management, whichdadDracle Solaris and Oracle Linux, which areftmdation for
building, deploying and managing laaS clouds amdige secure, reliable operating environments f8ABC and x86
servers; anc

Oracle Enterprise Manager, which is designed teigeoa complete management solution for clouds fapplication to
disk—including laaS and PaasS offerings—and enatlegmers to plan and set up clouds; packageanestleploy
applications on clouds; manage and monitor clondisagplications on clouds; and meter, charge atichge clouds ove
time; and

» Our Oracle hardware product portfolio, which inasdur Oracle Engineered Systems hardware, our SRid x86 based serve
and our storage and networking products, and whiokides the underlying mission-critical infrastiwre for Oracle’s various
cloud offerings and our customers’ and partners’gte and public cloud offerings, including softweas-a-service (SaaS, software
that we offer on a subscription basis and deligea aervice to customers that includes accessnbg
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infrastructure management, the use of softwaretegdand support), platfo-as-a-service (PaaS, an application development
deployment platform delivered as a service to dgyals who use the platform to build, deploy and agarapplications) and
infrastructur-as-a-service (laaS, which consists of computing senstsage and networking delivered as a servicejds(

Oracle Cloud

Oracle Cloud is a family of our cloud-based sofevanbscription offerings that provides our custanaard partners subscription-based, self-
service access to certain of our database and endadé, and applications software. Oracle Cloud ipges/many common services including:
resource management and isolation, security, datea@ge and integration, virus scanning, and ckxgchself-service monitoring.

Oracle Cloud provides customers with flexible dgpt@nt models to run our business applicationsandaicomputing or on-premise IT
environments, and includes Oracle Fusion CRM Clserlice, Oracle Fusion HCM Cloud Service and thact@rSocial Network. We also
offer certain software applications via subscriptlased, cloud computing delivery models includdrgcle RightNow Customer Experience
and Oracle Taleo Talent Management Cloud Servioeng others.

Oracle Cloud also provides our software platforsservices including Oracle Java Cloud Service@ratle Database Cloud Service. Oracle
Java Cloud Service provides customers with an og@ndards-based Java application developmentepldyanent platform built on Oracle’s
WebLogic Server functionality in a cloud environrémat we manage and offer to customers via a sighien-based arrangement. Customers
and partners are able to use standard Java Ireddbatvelopment Environments such as Oracle JDegelbjetBeans and Eclipse to create
applications that can then be deployed on the ©rdaVa Cloud Service. Oracle Database Cloud Sepvinedes customers with Oracle
Database functionality in a cloud environment thatmanage and offer to customers via a subscriiémed arrangement. Oracle Database
Cloud Service includes the Oracle Application ExsréAPEX) application development environment aseéteof business productivity
applications that are designed to be easy to usea@mbe quickly provisioned.

Oracle Engineered Systems

An important element of our corporate strategy prutluct development efforts is to engineer our waré and software products together to
deliver efficiencies that simplify our customer¥’ énvironments; provide increased IT performanekalbility, and security; and free up
resources that customers can use to invest in atimvand competitive differentiation. Oracle Eregred Systems are a part of our hardware
systems segment, and are pre-integrated produgisesmed to include multiple elements of Oraclévgafe and hardware products. Oracle
Engineered Systems provide the foundation for Ifisotidation and cloud computing, and are desigoetktiver high performance and
scalability; provide faster time to production; uee data storage costs; and enable customerddieefy purchase, deploy and support thei
environments. All Oracle Engineered Systems atedds the factory and delivered ready to run. Enge-integrated products are also
designed to be upgraded effectively and efficierAly integrated systems, Oracle Engineered Syssenmdify routine maintenance, such as
software patching, by providing a single solutibattcovers the entire system. Oracle Engineereté®@gsinclude Oracle Exadata Database
Machine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud, Oracle et In-Memory Machine, SPARC SuperCluster, Ordz#tabase Appliance, and Oracle
Big Data Appliance.

Oracle Exadata Database Machine

Oracle Exadata Database Machine is a family ofjmetied software and hardware products that comlinedatabase, storage and operating
system software with our server, storage and né&iwghardware. Oracle Exadata Database Machinesigded to enable customers to
consolidate databases, manage large volumes qfinggove query response times, and reduce costajmpving data storage and using fe
IT resources.

Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud

Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud is an engineeredesyghat combines Oracle Fusion Middleware softwétle our hardware to run Java and
non-Java applications and provide customers withpotications platform for cloud computing. OraEbealogic Elastic Cloud is designed to
improve the performance of applications that run
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on it and enable customers to consolidate multiplglications onto a single system that is desigodx® scalable, reliable and secure.

Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machine

The Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machine is a singgever that is designed to be configured for in-mgnanalytics for business intelligence
workloads. The Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machieatiures an optimized Oracle Business IntelligermenBation Suite and Oracle
TimesTen In-Memory Database. The Oracle Busingsdlizence Foundation Suite takes advantage oélargmory, processors, storage,
networking, operating system and system configonadif the Oracle Exalytics hardware. This optimmais designed to provide better query
responsiveness, higher user scalability and loatat tost of ownership.

SPARC SuperCluster

Our SPARC SuperCluster is a general purpose engideystem that combines the computing power ofSBARC processor, the performa
and scalability of Oracle Solaris, the optimizethttase performance of Oracle Exadata storage aratttelerated middleware processing of
the Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud. Oracle SPARCe3Guster is designed to provide the scalabilitg parformance demanded by a wide
range of Oracle and non-Oracle enterprise worklolds an ideal mission-critical consolidation fitam that is designed to run multiple tiers,
from database to middleware to application, ansfgport multiple applications and operating systeits by side. SPARC SuperCluster
enables faster deployment, increased systemsatiilizand reduced data center space and energyeeents.

Oracle Database Appliance

Oracle Database Appliance is an integrated, fagitient system of software, servers, storage atdarking in a single box that is designed to
deliver high-availability database services foridewange of homegrown and packaged online traimsaptocessing (OLTP) and data
warehousing applications. The Oracle Database Appé is designed to enable enterprises to congal@laTP and data warehousing
databases up to four terabytes in size.

Oracle Big Data Appliance

Oracle Big Data Appliance is an engineered systesigthed for acquiring, organizing and loading wridtired data into an Oracle database
integrating the key components of a big data ptatfmto a single product, Oracle Big Data Appliaiea scalable and supported big data
infrastructure that reduces the risks of a custaitt bolution. Built using our industrgtandard hardware, Oracle Big Data Appliance isllex
and configured for high performance and availahilit

Software, Hardware Systems and Services Businesses
Software Business

Our software business consists of our new softiweeases segment and software license updatesraddgi support segment.

New Software License

The new software licenses operating segment ofofiware business primarily includes the licensihgdatabase and middleware software, as
well as applications software.

Our software solutions are designed to help custemagluce the cost and complexity of their IT iafractures by delivering solutions via an
industry standards-based, integrated architeciums. standards-based architecture enables oura@ftio work in customer environments that
may include Oracle or non-Oracle hardware or saftve@mponents. This approach is designed to suppstbmer choice, to reduce customer
risk and to be adapted to the specific needs ofrahystry or application. In this model, our datedand certain of our middleware offerings
designed to manage and protect a customer’s unmagthysiness information, while

6
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application servers run enterprise applications dha designed to automate multiple business fonstand provide intelligence in critical
functional areas. Our software products are dedigm®perate on both single server and clustemegiseonfigurations for on-premise or cloud
computing IT environments and to support a chofagperating systems, including, for example, Or&xéaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft
Windows and third party UNIX products.

New software license revenues represented 27%,828P28% of total revenues in fiscal 2012, 2011 201D, respectively

Database and Middleware Software

Our database and middleware software provide aerahgfferings that are designed to provide a effgetive, high-performance platform for
running and managing business applications for imeédsusinesses, as well as large, global entegr@®er customers are increasingly focused
on reducing the total cost of their IT infrastruetand we believe that our software offerings hieggm achieve this goal. Our software is
designed to accommodate demanding, non-stop bgsemesronments using clustered middleware and databervers and storage. These
clusters are designed to scale incrementally asnextjto address our customers’ IT capacity, satlsir planning and procurement needs,
support their business applications with a standaddplatform architecture, reduce their risk ofad@ss and IT infrastructure downtime and
efficiently utilize available IT resources to megiality of service expectations.

New software license revenues from database andlemidre products represented 70% of our new softligense revenues in fiscal 2012
72% in each of fiscal 2011 and 2010.

Database Softwar

Oracle Database software is the world’s most popiterprise database software. It is designedable reliable and secure storage, retrieval
and manipulation of all forms of data, includingrtsactional data, business information, and aigalydemistructured and unstructured dat
the form of weblogs, text, social media feeds, XMés, office documents, images, video and spatialges; and other specialized forms of
data, such as human genomic and medical data.e€dpathbase software is used for a variety of p@pdacluding packaged applications,
custom application development, OLTP applicatialiaga warehousing and business intelligence, aaddasument repository or specialized
data store.

Oracle Database software is available in four ed#ti Enterprise Edition, Standard Edition, Stand&diion One and Express Edition. All
editions are built using the same underlying cedéch means that our database software can scatedmall, single processor servers to
clusters of multi-processor servers and our Orggldata Database Machines.

We also offer customers in-memory database softvieeckiding Oracle TimesTen In-Memory, the world®st popular in-memory database,
and Oracle In-Memory Database Cache. Oracle Time&T-8emory Database is designed to deliver reaktdata management and
transaction processing speeds for performanceairiipplications, from complex analytical queriad apeed-of-thought data visualization, to
mission-critical, industry-specific applicationscbuas call centers, trading platforms, reservatisiems, and smart meters. Oracle TimesTen
In-Memory Database supports multiple computingfptats, is compatible with Oracle Database softwanel can work as a standalone
database at the applications tier. Oracl®kmory Database Cache acts as a high performacbe ¢ar Oracle Database Enterprise Edition

is used to provide immediate access to historiatd th existing Oracle Databases that are frequentiessed such as customer and user lists,
open orders, and product catalogs.

A number of optional addn products are available with Oracle Databaserprise Edition software to address specific custoraquirements
In the areas of performance and scalability, werd@iracle Real Application Clusters, Oracle AdvahCempression and Oracle Partitioning
software options. In the area of data securitypffer Oracle Advanced Security, Oracle Databasety@uacle Audit Vault and Oracle
Database Firewall software options.



Table of Contents

In addition to the four editions of Oracle Datahase also offer a portfolio of specialized databssf#ware products to address particular
customer requirements, including:

* MySQL, the world’s most popular open source databdssigned for high performance and scalabilitwelh applications and
embedded applications, available in Enterprisepc&ted, Classic, Cluster and Community editic

» Oracle Berkeley DB, a family of open source, emiaddig, relational, XML and key-value (NoSQL) datedmdesigned for
developers to embed within their applications aadcks; anc

» Oracle NoSQL Database, a distributed-value database designed for high availability armdsive scalability of high volur
transaction processing with predictable -latency.
Middleware Softwar:

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is a broad farofljntegrated application infrastructure softwpreducts that is designed to form a reli
and scalable foundation on which customers cam pdéploy, secure, access and integrate busing$isajpns and automate their business
processes. Built with Oracle’s Java technologyfptat, Oracle Fusion Middleware products can be @sed foundation for custom, packaged
and composite applications—or applications thatlmadeployed in private or public cloud environnsent

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is designed tdqut customers’ IT investments and work with b@tlacle and non-Oracle database,
middleware and applications software through itsrogrchitecture and adherence to industry standadsas Java Enterprise Edition (Java
EE) and Business Process Execution Language (BRIELQng others.

By using Oracle Fusion Middleware software, wedadi customers can better adapt to business cheaqgjdly, reduce their risks related to
security and compliance, increase user productaity drive better business decisions. Specific@lhacle Fusion Middleware software is
designed to enable customers to integrate heteeogsrbusiness applications, automate businessgsex;escale applications to meet customer
demand, simplify security and compliance, manafgeyicles of documents and get actionable, targatisthess intelligence; all while

continuing to utilize their existing IT systems.dddition, Oracle Fusion Middleware software supporultiple development languages and
tools, which enables developers to build and deplely services, websites, portals and web-basedtafiphs.

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is used to iraegrextend, rapidly configure and secure enteg@jplications. Oracle Fusion Middleware
integrates with Oracle Applications as well as othé@d party applications, including applicationsclouds. Oracle Fusion Middleware
software is also the foundation for Oracle FusigpWcations—providing customers greater benefignfra unified application platform.

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is availableanious software products and suites, includingdfiewing functional areas:
» Application Server and Cloud Application Foundati
» Service-Oriented Architecture and Business Process Manage
» Business Intelligence
 Identity and Access Manageme
» Data Integration
* Web Experience Management, Portals, Content Manageamd Social Networks; al
» Development Tools

Application Server and Cloud Application Foundation

The foundation of Oracle Fusion Middleware softwiar®racle WebLogic Server—an application servat th compliant with the Java EE
specification. Oracle WebLogic Server incorporatestering and caching technology,

8
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which increases application reliability, performansecurity and scalability. In addition to OradfebLogic, Oracle combines cloud
infrastructure components into the Oracle cloudiaggon foundation, including Oracle Virtual Assbin Builder, Oracle Coherence, Oracle
JRockit, Oracle Tuxedo and Oracle GlassFish Server.

Oracle Virtual Assembly Builder works with Oraclegdl ogic Server to increase the efficiency of aggilan virtualization and to enable users
to quickly and easily design and deploy multi-tiplications to virtualized IT environments, botimeentional and cloud. Oracle Coherence is
an in-memory data grid solution that enables ozgtions to predictably scale applications by pringdast and reliable access to frequently
used data. Oracle JRockit is a high performanca ¥értual Machine designed to run Java applicatemsnulti-core processors with higher
and more predictable performance. Oracle Tuxeds legacy, mainframe and non-Java applicationsewritt the C, C++ and COBOL
languages that have transaction reliability, sdbtpland performance requirements. Oracle GlagsBisrver enhances the value of Oracle
Fusion Middleware software for developers by aaegiieg development practices and decreasing apiolicime-to-market.

Service-Oriented Architecture and Business Prokssagement

Service-Oriented Architecture is a software develept and architecture methodology that createsagulan re-usable approach to
applications development; makes it easy to integsgstems with each other; and reduces the need$tly custom development. Oracle SOA
Suite is a suite of middleware software productsus create, deploy and manage applications amace-Oriented Architecture including
Oracle JDeveloper, Oracle BPEL Process Managecl©vdeb Services Manager, Oracle Business Rules;|©Business Activity Monitorin
and Oracle Service Bus. Oracle Business Procesadéament Suite is a suite of software that is desigo enable business and IT
professionals to design, implement, automate antvebusiness processes and workflows within amdsacorganizations. Oracle SOA
Governance is designed to maintain the securityirgedrity of our customers’ SOA deployments.

Business Intelligence

Oracle Business Intelligence (BIl) is a comprehenset of analytic software products designed teigeocustomers with the information they
need to make better business decisions. OraclesgBss Intelligence software products include @r&tSuite Enterprise Edition, a
comprehensive query and analysis server; OracleaSss an online analytical processing server; @MmtPublisher, a self-service production
and operational reporting tool; and Oracle Reald Decisions, a real-time data classification antthdpation solution. Users can access these
tools from a variety of user interfaces includimgwser-based interactive dashboards; ad hoc quehamalysis; proactive detection and alerts
integrated with e-mail; Microsoft Office integratiancluding support for Excel, Word and PowerPoamt¢g mobile analytics for mobile and
smart phones.

Identity and Access Management

Oracle’s identity and access management softwardugts are designed to enable customers to mantggeal and external users, secure
corporate information from potential software thge@nd streamline compliance initiatives while lowg the total cost of their security and
compliance initiatives. These software productude a lightweight directory access protocol (LDAIectory service to store and manage
user identities and policies; identity provisionitagprovision users and roles in multiple enteegplications and systems; access
management to manage access control and entitlsrftgrdustomers, partners and employees; and tgemtalytics to audit and identify users
attempting to access systems for which they arauittorized.

Data Integration

Oracle’s data integration offerings consist of Qga&oldenGate, Oracle Data Integrator and Oracterarise Data Quality products. Oracle
GoldenGate is a high performance data movementaniihuous availability solution designed to capttransaction records on one system
and to move and apply them to other systems withihopact on system and network performance. Of2el& Integrator is an extract-
transform-load (ETL) solution that enables userexivact data from one system, transform it fromsburce system’s format to a target
system’s format and load it into the target sysfsuth as a data warehouse). Oracle Data Integabstor
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includes big data capabilities to transform andlloastructured data from non-Oracle environmerits @racle Database or Oracle Exadata.
Additionally, Oracle Enterprise Data Quality enablesers to profile any type of data (customer odpct-oriented) and to clean it using a
variety of automated matching and cleansing rulaking the data more reliable and more accurate.

Web Experience Management, Portals, Content Manageamnd Social Networks

Oracle WebCenter is designed to deliver a complsée engagement platform for social business, adimgepeople and information. It brings
together a broad portfolio of portal, web expereentanagement, content, social and collaboratidmtgogies into a single product suite.
Oracle WebCenter is designed to improve customeaityp and sales by helping marketing-driven orgations deliver contextual and targeted
web experiences to users and give employees readiifable access to information and applicatiorthé context of an interaction and
business process through portals and composité&capphs. Oracle WebCenter helps people work tagatiore efficiently through contextual
collaboration tools that optimize connections ampagple, information and applications while ensgitiisers have access to the right
information in the context of their daily busingsscesses.

Oracle WebCenter Content is an enterprise contantigement software suite that is designed to enaleles to capture, manage and publish
information that is either unstructured, not easéigdable or has not been stored, including doctspenages, audio, video and a wide variety
of other forms of digital content. Oracle WebCer@ées enables marketers and business users tp @asite and manage contextually
relevant, social and interactive online experieram@®ss multiple channels on a global scale. OM&@bCenter Portal is a portal and composite
applications solution that is designed to deliveuitive user experiences for the enterprise thasaamlessly integrated with enterprise
applications. Oracle WebCenter social, which ineRi®racle Social Network and Oracle WebCenter Remaé Collaboration, enables secure
social networking and enterprise collaborationddol the enterprise.

Development Tools

Oracle JDeveloper is an integrated software enwilemt that is designed to facilitate rapid developtaé a variety of different types of
applications using Oracle Fusion Middleware sofeawvand popular open source technologies. OracleelBger software provides support for
developing Java applications; web services, con&DA applications and business processes; righinterfaces using AJAX/DHTML and
Flash technologies; and websites using populaptitg languages. Oracle JDeveloper software alsviges comprehensive application
lifecycle management facilities including modelibgijlding, debugging, unit testing, profiling anptimizing applications and is integrated
with the Oracle Application Development Framewookiware, which provides a declarative frameworkbailding business applications and
popular open source tools, including Eclipse antBans.

Java

Java is the computer industry’s most widely-usdtivsre development language and is viewed as aagkibndard. The Java programming
language and platform together represent one ahttst popular and powerful development environmantke world, one that is used by
millions of developers globally to develop businapslications. Oracle Fusion Middleware softwaredpicts and Oracle Fusion Applications
are built using our Java technology platform, whighbelieve is a key advantage for our business.

Java is designed to enable developers to writevaoéton a single platform and run it on many otliferent platforms, independent of
operating system and hardware architecture. Jawvaden adopted by both independent software vei(B¥3 that have built their products on
Java and by enterprise organizations building eustpplications or consuming Java-based ISV products

For customers, the Java platform is designed tblersavariety of compatible applications, indeperiae their vendor, and to support a global
community of Java developers, support engineerkaadledge bases that can help customers redugeskhef and time to deployment as
well as the ongoing cost of ownership and mainteean
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There are three primary editions of Java (Standamtgrprise and Micro) that support a broad spetwéiusage ranging from mobile phones to
desktop computers to server applications. Javalsanbe found embedded in a variety of devicesnaachines, including printers, cars,
airplanes, tablets, DVD players, set-top boxesspsmart meters and bank ATM machines; and Java€adesigned for specialized use in
smart cards. Certain of our products are built prilm to enable customers to run Java applicatmnand with them, such as Oracle WebLogic
Server and Oracle Coherence. Many more of our mtsdcare built with and rely on Java, such as trecterFusion Middleware software
product family and Oracle Fusion Applications. WW@ect to continue to innovate and invest in Jachrielogy for the benefit of customers i
the Java community.

Management Software

Oracle Enterprise Manager is Oracle’s integratadrenise IT management and cloud management fashilyoducts. Oracle Enterprise
Manager is designed to combine the self-manageoagatbilities built into Oracle products with itsdimessdriven IT management capabiliti
to deliver a holistic approach to IT managemenbsgthe entire Oracle technology portfolio, inchgdDracle Database and Oracle Exadata,
Oracle Fusion Middleware and Oracle Exalogic Eta€lioud, Oracle Applications, Oracle Solaris, Oeadhnux, Oracle VM and our complete
hardware portfolio. Oracle Enterprise Manager sigieed to manage Oracle’s software and hardwatéofiorwhether deployed using
traditional IT architectures or in cloud computmghitectures. In both cases, Oracle Enterpriseddanis designed to provide a complete IT
lifecycle management approach, including configgiglements of an IT environment, monitoring senkaeels; diagnosing and
troubleshooting problems, patching and provisiodihgnvironments, managing compliance reportingl providing change management in a
unified way across physical and virtualized IT eagiments.

Virtualization Software

Oracle VM is server virtualization software for bddracle SPARC and x86-based servers, and sugpatiiOracle and non-Oracle
applications. Oracle VM software is designed tobdmdifferent applications to share a single phglssystem for higher utilization and
efficiency, and simplify software deployment by blirag pre€onfigured software images to be created and napliejployed without installatic
or configuration errors.

Applications Software

Oracle Applications are designed using an industiipdards-based, integrated architecture to maaragjautomate core business functions
across the enterprise, as well as help customiesatitiate and innovate in those processes unimtieeir industries or organizations. Oracle
Applications are also designed to reduce the dskt, and complexity of our customers’ IT infrastures, while supporting customer choice
and providing flexibility in deployment models andgrade paths.

Through a focused strategy of investments in irstleresearch and development and strategic acquisjtive also provide industry-specific
solutions for customers in a number of differemlustries, including communications, engineering emsstruction, financial services, health
services, manufacturing, public sector, retail, atilities. We continue to broaden the number dfvgare applications that we offer on a
subscription basis via a cloud computing environntemrovide our customers with choice and flexikiin how they manage their software
investments and software deployments. New softliggase revenues from applications software reptese30% of our new software license
revenues in fiscal 2012 and 28% in each of fis€al12and 2010.

Oracle’s Applications strategy provides customeith & secure path to adopt our latest technologaces which are designed to improve the
customer software experience and enable bettenéssperformance. Central to that strategy is @élpplications Unlimited program,

which is our commitment to customer choice throaghgoing investment and innovation in our curremngli@ptions offerings. Oracle Fusion
Applications build upon this commitment and areigiesd to work with and evolve customer investmémtbeir existing applications portfoli
Oracle Lifetime Support helps ensure customersaaititinue to have a choice in upgrade paths baséldedr enterprise needs.
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We protect our customers’ current investments iacler Applications by delivering new product relesa&t incorporate customer-specific and
industry-specific innovations across product lirfgis.ce announcing our Applications Unlimited pragrin 2005, we have delivered major
releases on all applications product lines by caiinigi business functionality with innovative techogies such as role-based analytics, secure
search, identity management, self-service and waxkfo deliver adaptive industry processes, busimetlligence and insights, and optimal
end-user productivity.

Oracle Fusion Applications are part of a compreivensuite of modular, next-generation software mapions that enable efficient
management of core business functions across teepeise. Oracle Fusion Applications are desigr&dgicommercially-available technology
standards such as Java and BPEL; the principl8©@éf, and a common approach and architecture fouske experience, business intellige
social networking and mobility. With their tailoreder experience and embedded analytical capabjli@racle Fusion Applications are
designed to increase user productivity and allosta@mers to manage functions across different enments more effectively. Using a SOA
approach, Oracle Fusion Applications are enginegrguovide customers with more flexibility to invete and adopt next-generation
technologies at their own pace, whether via oneuteé product family, or an entire suite. OraalsiBn Applications are engineered to be
cloud-ready and thus offer flexible deployment op4, including on-premise, public cloud, privateud, or a combination of these options.

We also continue to offer and enhance Oracle Appbas, including our Oracle E-Business Suite, SligBeopleSoft, and JD Edwards product
families. All Oracle Applications are enterprisexde and based upon industry standards, and dedigaetomate core business processes and
address industry-specific needs.

The primary applications software offerings include
* Human Capital Managemet
» Customer Relationship Manageme
» Financials;
» Governance, Risk and Compliance (GR
* Procurement
» Supply Chain Management (SCN
» Enterprise Project Portfolio Management (EPPI
» Enterprise Performance Management (EF
» Business Intelligence / Analytic Applicatior
* Web Commerce; ar
* Industry-Specific Applications

Human Capital Management

We offer a broad portfolio of Human Resource ankieManagement applications, and flexible deploytegtions for on-premise or cloud
computing IT environments. Our complete and integtafferings provide core human resource transastiworkforce service automation &
delivery, and complete enterprise talent managen@ntglobal, web-based, single system architedtudesigned for organizations of every
size, industry and region. In fiscal 2012, we apepliTaleo Corporation, a leading provider of cldaded talent management software that
helps organizations attract, develop, motivate, r@tain human capital. We believe our portfolidH2M solutions creates a broad offering for
organizations to manage their human resource apesaind employee careers, either via cloud offsrsuch as Oracle Fusion HCM Cloud
Service and Oracle Taleo Talent Management sergicen-premise solutions, including Oracle Fusid®NH(which is also cloud ready),
Oracle E-Business Suite HCM, and PeopleSoft HCM.
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Customer Relationship Management

We offer a broad portfolio of CRM applications, limding Siebel CRM, Oracle E-Business Suite CRM,f&8oft CRM, Oracle Fusion
Applications for CRM, and Oracle RightNow CX SewiCloud, that are designed to help our customerag®their selling processes more
efficiently; integrate marketing campaigns and eoaninto their selling processes more effectivalyd deliver high quality customer service
across multiple channels, including call centersbywand mobile devices. Our Oracle CRM On DemardSiebel CRM offerings also provide
many industry-specific features designed to suptherspecialized needs of users in key sectors, @sicommunications, consumer products,
financial services, high technology, insurance, §i€iences and the public sector. Customers mayeldst to use our subscription-based CRM
cloud offerings, including Oracle Fusion CRM Cldadrvice and Oracle RightNow Customer Experience@ranothers.

Financials and Governance, Risk and Compliance

Our financial management and GRC solutions aregdesito enable our customers to meet fiduciaryssatory requirements, more

efficiently manage risk across a global enterpageglerate the credit-to-cash cycle of businesséactions, track financial operations and cash
flow through accounting and treasury functions arahage business performance. In addition to oufghiorof financial management
applications from Oracle E-Business Suite, Peogte8nd JD Edwards, we also offer Oracle Fusion G&€Eomponent of the Oracle Fusion
Applications suite, to provide unified intelligenaad insight into all GRC activities, end-to-engbgart for cross-industry and industry-specific
GRC processes, and automated controls that wodssionultiple business applications.

Procurement

We offer a broad portfolio of advanced procurenagpilications, including JD Edwards EnterpriseOnppBuManagement, JD Edwards Wc¢
Distribution Management and Supplier Self-Servi@eacle E-Business Suite Advanced Procurement, ©Fagion Procurement, and
PeopleSoft Supplier Relationship Management, anobingrs. These integrated procurement applicatimmsl@signed to provide packaged
integration to back-office applications that fulypport “source-to-settle” processes for all catiegoof spend, including capital goods, direct
materials, indirect goods and services. Our prauere applications also provide industry-specifipatailities and the flexibility to leverage
applications on demand, on-premise or in any coathin to achieve procurement objectives.

Supply Chain Management

We offer a broad portfolio of SCM applications, lumting Agile, Demantra, JD Edwards, Oracle E-BusinBuite, and Oracle Fusion
Applications, among others, that support supplyrchaanagement processes such as demand managerdentnanagement, supply chain
planning, sales and operations planning, procuréaghsourcing to product development, manufaaftimnsportation and warehouse
management. Our SCM software offerings are desigmedovide our customers with the ability to faxstand fulfill demand for their produ
through end-to-end, integrated, yet modular softwkor example, customers can use Demantra prottuptedict demand and market
requirements; Agile products to manage the lifegydltheir products, innovate, and adapt themspaase to volatile market conditions;
Oracle Advanced Procurement products to optimippléer and procurement networks and reduce coses;l©Fusion Order Orchestration to
orchestrate and fulfill orders across global nekspand Oracle, PeopleSoft, and JD Edwards manufagtapplications to deploy lean, mixed-
mode manufacturing with integrated manufacturingeeion systems that meet both discrete and proegsgements.

Enterprise Project Portfolio Management

We offer a broad portfolio of EPPM applications;luding JD Edwards EnterpriseOne Project Managen@natcle E-Business Suite’s family
of Oracle Projects, Oracle Fusion Project PortfMianagement, PeopleSoft Enterprise Service Autamasind Primavera Project Portfolio
Management. Oracle EPPM applications target prajgensive industries such as engineering and aaet&in, aerospace and defense, utili
oil and gas,
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manufacturing, professional services, and projetgrisive departments within other industries. ORPE products help companies propose,
prioritize and select project investments; and plaanage and control the most complex projectspaoj@ct portfolios. Additionally, our
Primavera Project Portfolio Management family adgwcts provides industry-specific solutions forjpot-intensive industries such as oil and
gas, utilities, engineering and construction, gesos and defense, and public sector. Through @dedduser experience, embedded analytics,
and collaborative tools, our EPPM solutions aregiesl to provide project stakeholders, project ngans, and team members with the
information needed to plan, mandate and delivavsacthe organization.

Enterprise Performance Management

Our Oracle Hyperion Performance Management suitgaducts are a modular set of integrated apptinatthat integrate with both Oracle and
non-Oracle transactional systems to help orgawizathutomate, integrate and administer a broacerahfinancial and operational
management processes. Our EPM applications in¢lygerion Strategy Management; Hyperion Financials€land Reporting; Hyperion
Planning, Budgeting and Forecasting; and Hyperiaiitability and Cost Management. These applicationable organizations to define and
model their financial structure, define their ofigrg plans and manage financial budgets, allocat#ect revenues and costs to better
understand business unit profitability, consolidatel aggregate financial results from a varietgystems, and manage the financial close and
statutory reporting processes.

Business Intelligence / Analytic Applications

We provide packaged business intelligence apptinatfor cross-industry business processes as sveibastry-specific analytic applications.
Each of our business intelligence applicationsuie=st packaged data models, packaged ETL processssged key performance indicators
(KPIs), and packaged dashboards to deliver ingfgtttis tailored for specific business processes.lfDsiness intelligence applications are |
on Oracle’s business intelligence technology, andcee data from multiple versions of Orasleomprehensive portfolio of applications as \
as from non-Oracle data sources. Our EPM and bssinélligence applications, together with ouribess intelligence technology, enable us
to offer our customers an integrated solution fipans planning and budgeting, financial managerogetational analytics, and reporting.

Web Commerce

Our Web Commerce solutions are designed to enalbdepgises to deliver a consistent, relevant amdgralized cross-channel buying
experience through catalog, merchandising, margetinided search and navigation, personalizatiotpraated recommendations and livelp
capabilities. By combining certain technologied thia have recently acquired including Art Techngl@oup, Inc.’s and Endeca
Technologies Inc.’s Web Commerce software withlegacy Oracle and Siebel CRM software, we offenified cross-channel commerce and
CRM platform, which is designed to enable busings$sealeliver a consistent experience across atyasfalifferent customer points of contact,
including online, in-store, mobile, social and ko%$his combined platform is designed to enableaustomers to strengthen their customers’
loyalty, improve brand value, achieve better opegatesults, increase customer service and impbosginess response times across online and
traditional commerce environments.

Industry-Specific Applications

Oracle Applications can be tailored to offer custosna variety of industry-specific solutions. Agaat of our strategy, we strive to ensure that
our applications portfolio addresses the major stiduinfluenced technology challenges of custoniefsey industries that we view as strategic
to our future growth, including communications, samer goods, education, energy, engineering anstremtion, financial services,
healthcare, life sciences, manufacturing, profesgdiservices, public sector, retail, travel, traorsgtion and utilities. For example, we offer the
financial services sector a suite of applicatiotddrassing cash management, trade, treasury, pagnkemding, private wealth management,
asset management, compliance, enterprise risk @asiddss analytics, among others. We offer thelrstator software solutions designed to
provide unified and actionable data among storech@ndising and financial operations. Our applaaifor consumer goods
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manufacturers are designed to provide them witlabikty to build their brand against retail priedabel programs by engaging directly with
the consumer. Our Public Sector solutions are desigo provide national and local governments tithability to improve service delivery to
citizens, increase internal efficiency and imprénasmsparency. Our ability to offer applicationsatidress industry-specific complex processes
provides us an opportunity to expand our customarsiviedge of our broader product offerings andrasisl customer specific technology
challenges.

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’muimeestments in Oracle software by offering ptoacand personalized support services,
including our Lifetime Support policy and unspegifiproduct enhancements and upgrades. Softwarnsdiagodates provide customers with
rights to unspecified software product upgradesraaghtenance releases and patches released doeitgrin of the support period. Product
support includes internet and telephone accessctmical support personnel located in our globppsut centers, as well as internet access to
technical content through “My Oracle Support”. 8afte license updates and product support contaaetgenerally priced as a percentage of
the net new software license fees. Substantidllgfadur customers purchase software license updatd product support contracts when they
acquire new software licenses and renew their soéWwcense updates and product support contraotsadly. Our software license updates
product support revenues represented 43%, 42% 3%dof our total revenues in fiscal 2012, 2011 ad@® respectively.

Hardware Systems Business

Our hardware systems business consists of two tipgisegments: hardware systems products and hezdiyatems support.

Hardware Systems Produc

We provide a complete selection of hardware sysemdsrelated services including servers, storagyorking, virtualization software,
operating systems, and management software to dugiperse public and private cloud computing eoninents. We engineer our hardware
systems with virtualization and management capagsilto enable the rapid deployment and efficieahagement of cloud infrastructures.
Oracle’s hardware systems support many of the veoldggest public and private clouds, and powerclera own internal cloud initiatives,
including our software development private cloud &vacle University’s self-service private cloud.

Our hardware products and services are designied topen,” or to work in customer environments timaty include other Oracle or non-
Oracle hardware or software components. These ptednd services also help to meet customers’ déstarmanage growing amounts of
data and business requirements to meet increasingliance and regulatory demands and to reducggngpace and operational costs. We
have also engineered our hardware systems prottuctsate performance and operational cost advestiag customers when our hardware
and software products are combined as Oracle EaegideSystems.

Our Oracle Engineered Systems include Oracle Eaddatabase Machine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cl@rdgcle Exalytics In-Memory
Machine, SPARC SuperCluster, Oracle Database Apgiand Oracle Big Data Appliance. By combining senver and storage hardware \
our software, our open, integrated products betieress customer and cloud computing requiremeniseiformance, scalability, reliability,
security, ease of management and lower total dast/nership. Our hardware systems products reptedel®%, 12% and 6% of our total
revenues in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respewgtivel

Servers

We offer a wide range of server systems using &&RC microprocessor. Our SPARC servers are diffeata by their reliability, security
and scalability; and by the customer environmemas they target (general purpose or specializetsys. Our midsize and large servers are
designed to offer greater performance and lowet taist of ownership than mainframe systems foimess critical applications and for
customers having more computationally intensivedee®ur SPARC servers run the Oracle Solaris operaystem and
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are designed for the most demanding mission crigicterprise environments at any scale. SPARC serre also a core component of the
SPARC SuperCluster, one of our Oracle Engineeratefs.

We also offer enterprise x86 servers. These x86seare primarily based on microprocessor platéoftom Intel Corporation (Intel) and are
also compatible with Oracle Solaris, Oracle LinMbicrosoft Windows and other operating systems. X3& systems are also a core compoil
of many of Oracle Engineered Systems, includingclergxadata Database Machine, Oracle Exalogic iEl@bud, Oracle Exalytics In-
Memory Machine and Oracle Big Data Appliance.

Our Netra line of products are aimed at the unigeeds of original equipment manufacturers (OEMs)ragtwork equipment providers
(NEPs). Rack-optimized systems and our blade prtoafferings combine high-density hardware architeetand system management software
that OEMs find particularly useful in building theiwn solution architectures.

Storage

Our storage products are designed to securely neapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missittical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, hardware-related software including file sys$ software, backp and archive software and storage managememtasefaind networkin
for mainframe and open systems environments. @uage products are designed to improve data au#yaty providing fast data access and
dynamic data protection for restoration and seaunthiving for compliance. Our storage productsdagigned to work together, to work with
Oracle software and to work with multendor application and systems environments to miaei performance and efficiency while minimiz
management overhead and reducing the total castioérship.

Our Sun ZFS Storage Appliance Network Attached&fer(NAS) offering is designed to provide impropetformance, manageability and
reduced total cost of ownership by combining tlgesheration software with high-performance contrs|lfiash-based caches and disks. Our
Oracle Pillar Axiom Storage Area Network (SAN) ®ystleverages a patented quality-of-service ardhiteaesigned to meet business critical
service level agreements under dynamic, multi-apfibn loads and enable customers to consolidatege applications into a single data
center storage solution.

Our tape storage product line includes StorageTitaries, drives, virtualization systems, media dadice software. These products are
intended to provide robust solutions for both Idegn preservation and netrm protection of customer data at a lower totast ©f ownershig

Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux Operating SystemistdardwareRelated Software

The Oracle Solaris operating system is designgudeide a reliable, secure and scalable operatiatgs environment through significant core
feature development, networking, security anddilstem technologies as well as close integratidh kardware features. This design provides
us with an ability to combine Oracle Solaris witlhr @wn hardware components to achieve certain pagfoce and efficiency advantages in
comparison to our competitors. The Oracle Solgrerating system is based on the UNIX operatingesysbut is unique among UNIX syste

in that it is available on our SPARC servers an@ s&rvers that are substantially based upon micoagsors from Intel. We also support
Oracle Solaris deployed on other companies’ hard\panducts.

Oracle provides a broad virtualization solutiomfrthe desktop to the data center. Oracle Solarjgrd\dides comprehensive, built-in
virtualization capabilities for the operating systenetwork and storage resources. In additiorstouilt-in virtualization capabilities, Oracle
Solaris 11 is engineered for server virtualizattonboth x86 and SPARC based systems.

The Oracle Linux operating system with Oracle’s téakable Enterprise Kernel is a Linux operatingesysfor enterprise workloads including
databases, middleware and applications. Oracletsésikable Enterprise Kernel is designed to work wigh Oracle products to patch core
operating systems without downtime.

In addition to Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux @tielg systems, we also develop a range of othelweae-related software, including
development tools, compilers, management toolsdorers and storage, diagnostic tools, virtualiratand file systems.

16



Table of Contents

Hardware Systems Suppc

Our hardware systems support offerings providecensts with software updates for the software coraptsithat are essential to the
functionality of our server and storage produatshsas Oracle Solaris and can include product repaiaintenance services and technical
support services. We continue to evolve hardwaséegys support processes that are intended to pralgdtientify and solve quality issues ¢
to increase the amount of new hardware systemssupgntracts sold in connection with the saleswfhardware systems products. Hardv
systems support contracts are generally pricedp@sa@ntage of the net hardware systems produess @ur hardware systems support
revenues represented 7% of our total revenuescim @ffiscal 2012 and 2011 and 3% in fiscal 2010.

Services Business

We deliver an integrated services solution to leelgtomers and partners maximize the performanteeafinvestments in Oracle technology.
Our services are differentiated based on our focu®racle technology, extensive experience anddosetof intellectual property and best
practices. Our services business is comprisedeofdmainder of our operating segments and offaersudtng services, managed cloud services
and education services. Our services businessseamierl 13% of our total revenues in each of fig0ak and 2011 and 14% of our total
revenues in fiscal 2010.

Consulting

Oracle Consulting is designed to help our customene successfully architect and deploy our praglu@tr consulting services include
business and IT strategy alignment, enterpriseitathre planning and design, initial product impéntation and integration and ongoing
product enhancements and upgrades. Together,sbhesees are designed to help our customers acttieuebusiness goals, reduce the risk
associated with their IT initiatives and maximikeit return on investment. Oracle Consulting engagestomers directly and provides
specialized expertise to our global systems integzartners. We utilize a global, blended deliverydel to optimize value for our customers
and partners, consisting of on-premise consultaats local geographies, industry specialists anasattants from our global delivery and
solution centers.

Managed Cloud Service

Oracle managed cloud services provide comprehessifteare and hardware management and maintenandees—including deployment,
management, monitoring, patching, security and aghgiservices—for customers hosted at our Oractedadatter facilities, select partner data
centers, or physically on-premise at customerifasl Additionally, we provide support servicesttbon-premise and remote, to Oracle
customers to enable increased performance andrhaghéability of their products and services. Wadiéve that our managed cloud services
offerings provide our customers with greater valnd choice through increased business performaadeced risk, a predictable cost and n
flexibility in terms of service in order to maxingizhe performance of their Oracle software andward products and services.

Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as a part of our mission of acceleratin@ttogption and use of our software and
hardware products and to create opportunitiesda @ur product revenues. Our training is providewgh a variety of formats, including
instructor-led classes at our education centams Mirtual training, self-paced online trainingitring via CD-ROM, private events and custom
training. Our live virtual class offerings allowustents anywhere in the world to receive real-tim&ractive training online. In addition, we
also offer a certification program certifying daéak administrators, developers, implementers, ttamési and architects.

Marketing and Sales

We directly market and sell our products and sewio businesses of many sizes and in many indsisgovernment agencies and educational
institutions. We also market and sell our prodtictsugh indirect channels. No single customer antzmifor 10% or more of our total
revenues in fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010.
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In the United States, our sales and service empgee based in our headquarters and in fieldesffilsroughout the country. Outside the
United States, our international subsidiariesa®dl support our products in their local countrigsvall as within other foreign countries where
we do not operate through a direct sales subsidizumy geographic coverage allows us to draw onrlessi and technical expertise from a gl
workforce, provides stability to our operations aadenue streams to offset geography-specific enimtrends and offers us an opportunity to
take advantage of new markets for our products.i@arnational operations subject us to certaikstisvhich are more fully described in “Risk
Factors” included in Item 1A. of this Annual Repdktsummary of our domestic and international rexenand long-lived assets is set forth in
Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statdmertiuded elsewhere in this Annual Rep

We also market our products worldwide through iedirchannels. The companies that comprise ourdadahannel network are members of
the Oracle Partner Network. The Oracle Partner Netis a global program that manages our busireationships with a large, broad-based
network of companies, including independent sofenard hardware vendors, system integrators antlerssinat deliver innovative solutions
and services based upon our products. By offeringpartners access to our premier products, edunzdtinformation, technical services,
marketing and sales support, the Oracle Partnevdtktprogram extends our market reach by providingpartners with the resources they
need to be successful in delivering solutions t@mers globally. The majority of our hardware syst products are sold through indirect
channels including independent distributors andevaldded resellers.

Seasonality and Cyclicalit

Our quarterly revenues have historically been &iéby a variety of seasonal factors, includingdtiacture of our sales force incentive
compensation plans, which are common in the tecyyahdustry. Our total revenues and operating margre typically highest in our fourth
fiscal quarter and lowest in our first fiscal qeartThe operating margins of our businesses arergiy affected by seasonal factors in a sin
manner as our revenues (in particular, our newsoé licenses segment) as certain expenses withioast structure are relatively fixed in the
short term. See “Selected Quarterly Financial Datdtem 7 of this Annual Report for a more comgpldescription of the seasonality and
cyclicality of our revenues, expenses and margins.

Competition

We face intense competition in all aspects of awsiiess. The nature of the IT industry createsw@petitive landscape that is constantly
evolving as firms emerge, expand or are acquireteehnology evolves and as customer demands ampetitive pressures otherwise change.

Our customers are demanding less complexity andrddetal cost in the implementation, sourcing, gn&ion and ongoing maintenance of t|
enterprise software and hardware systems. Ourgeigersoftware and hardware offerings compete tiredth some offerings from some of
the largest and most competitive companies in thédyincluding Microsoft Corporation (Microsofthternational Business Machines
Corporation (IBM), Intel, Hewlett-Packard Compam) and SAP AG, and smaller companies like Salesfoom, as well as many others. In
addition, the low barriers to entry in many of ouarket segments regularly introduce new technotogiel new and growing competitors to
challenge our offerings. Our competitors range faompanies offering broad IT solutions across mafryur lines of business to vendors
providing point solutions, or offerings focusedaspecific functionality, product area or industryaddition, as we expand into new market
segments, we will face increased competition asvilleeompete with existing competitors, as wellfaims that may be partners in other areas
of our business and other firms with whom we hastepmeviously competed. Moreover, we or our contpetimay take certain strategic
actions—including acquisitions, partnerships andtjeentures, or repositioning of product lines—atinvite even greater competition in one
or more product categories.

Key competitive factors in each of the segmentstiich we currently compete and may compete in titeré include: total cost of ownership,
performance, scalability, reliability, security nittionality, efficiency, ease of management andityuaf technical support. Our product sales
(and the relative strength of our products verbose of our competitors) are also directly andrgatly affected by the following, among other
things:

 the adoption of SaaS, hosted or cloud softwareioffs;
» the adoption of commodity servers and microproass
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» the broade“platforn™” competition between our industry standard Javant@olgy platform and the .NET programming environt
of Microsoft;

» operating system competition among, primarily, Ouacle Solaris operating system, Microseftt/indows Server, UNIX (includin
HP-UX from HP and AIX from IBM) and Linux

 the adoption of open source alternatives to comialesoftware by enterprise software custom
» products, features and functionality developedriralty by customers and their IT sta

» products, features or functionality customized englemented for customers by consultants, systemegiiators or other third
parties; anc

* attractiveness of offerings from business processirtsourcers
For more information about the competitive risksfaee, refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Manufacturing

To produce our hardware systems products, we relyoth our internal manufacturing operations as agthird party manufacturing partners.
Our internal manufacturing operations consist prilpaf final assembly, test and quality controlair enterprise and data center servers and
storage systems. For substantially all other martufang, we rely on third party manufacturing pams We distribute most of our hardware
systems products either from our facilities or partfacilities. Our manufacturing processes aretas standardization of components across
product types, centralization of assembly and ithistion centers and a “build-to-order” methodoldgywhich products generally are built only
after customers have placed firm orders. Produafayur hardware products requires that we purchzterials, supplies, product
subassemblies and full assemblies from a numbegrmdors. For most of our hardware products, we leaiating alternate sources of supply
such sources are readily available. However, weetjoon sole sources for certain of our hardwaoglpcts. As a result, we continue to eval
potential risks of disruption to our supply chapeecations. Refer to “Risk Factorsicluded in Item 1A. within this Annual Report fadditiona
discussion of the challenges we encounter withaesjp the sources and availability of suppliesdior products and the related risks to our
business.

Research and Development

We develop the substantial majority of our productsrnally. In addition, we have extended our pradbfferings and intellectual property
through acquisitions of businesses and technolodiesalso purchase or license intellectual propegtyts in certain circumstances. Internal
development allows us to maintain technical cortkar the design and development of our produces hdéle a number of United States and
foreign patents and pending applications thateelatvarious aspects of our products and technoMthjle we believe that our patents have
value, no single patent is essential to us or yoadmour principal business segments. Researchdanelopment expenditures were $4.5 billion
in each of fiscal 2012 and 2011 and $3.3 billiofiseal 2010, or 12%, 13% and 12% of total reverindiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Rapid technological advances in hardvand software development, evolving standardsnmputer hardware and software
technology, changing customer needs and frequempneduct introductions and enhancements charaeténe software and hardware marl
in which we compete. We plan to continue to de@i@asignificant amount of resources to researctdamdlopment efforts to maintain and
improve our current product and services offerings.

Employees

As of May 31, 2012, we employed approximately 108,full-time employees, including approximately B0 in sales and marketing,
approximately 9,000 in software license updatesmnduct support, approximately 1,000 in the macitufiing of our hardware systems
products, approximately 6,000 in hardware systeuppart, approximately 26,000 in services, approxatya32,000 in research and
development and approximately 11,000 in generalaamiinistrative positions. Of these employees, @xiprately 42,000 were located in the
United States and approximately 73,000 were emplayernationally. None of our employees in thetddiStates is represented by a labor
union; however, in certain foreign subsidiaries kess’ councils represent our employees.
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Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reporid@rm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amesrdsnto reports filed pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exch#@wgef 1934, as amended, are available, free afgdy on our Investor Relations web site at
www.oracle.com/investor as soon as reasonablyipedude after we electronically file such materiathwor furnish it to, the SEC. The
information posted on our web site is not incorpedlanto this Annual Report.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers are listed below.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Ellisol Chief Executive Officer and Directi

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directc

Safra A. Cat: President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc

Mark V. Hurd President and Directt

John Fowle Executive Vice President, Syste

Thomas Kuriar Executive Vice President, Product Developrr

Dorian E. Daley Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

William Corey Wes Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€Accounting Officel

Mr. Ellison, 67, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1Bé7served as Chairman of the Board
from May 1995 to January 2004.

Mr. Henley, 67, has served as Chairman of the Beutk January 2004 and as a Director since Jud& 18 served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer from Marct9190 July 2004.

Ms. Catz, 50, has been a President since Janu@dy @hief Financial Officer most recently since A@011 and has served as a Director since
October 2001. She was previously Chief Financidiic®f from November 2005 until September 2008 antdrim Chief Financial Officer from
April 2005 until July 2005. Prior to being nameck§ident, she held various other positions withimsesjoining Oracle in 1999. She also
currently serves as a director of HSBC Holdings plc

Mr. Hurd, 55, has been a President and serveda®etor since September 2010. Prior to joininghesserved as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of HP from September 2006 to August 28460 as Chief Executive Officer, President and a beerof the Board of Directors of HP
from April 2005 to August 2010.

Mr. Fowler, 51, has been Executive Vice Presidgstems since February 2010. Prior to joining us,Mdwler served as Sun Microsystems,
Inc.’s Executive Vice President, Systems Group fiday 2006 to February 2010, as Executive Vice Emdi Network Systems Group from
May 2004 to May 2006, as Chief Technology Officenftware Group from July 2002 to May 2004 and DivecCorporate Development from
July 2000 to July 2002.

Mr. Kurian, 45, has been Executive Vice Presidendduct Development since July 2009. He serveceaEVice President of Development
from February 2001 until July 2009. Mr. Kurian wetkin Oracle Server Technologies as Vice PresideDevelopment from March 1999
until February 2001. He also held various otheiitos with us since joining Oracle in 1996.

Ms. Daley, 53, has been Senior Vice President, Gé@munsel and Secretary since October 2007. &ved as Vice President, Legal,
Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secratamy June 2004 to October 2007, as Associate Ge@eraisel and Assistant Secretary fr
October 2001 to June 2004, and as Associate Ge@ietaisel from February 2001 to October 2001. Skek\Vrious other positions with us
since joining Oracle’s Legal Department in 1992.

Mr. West, 50, has been Senior Vice President, GatpcController and Chief Accounting Officer sirfeebruary 2008 and was Vice President,
Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officesrh April 2007 to February 2008. His previous exgece includes 14 years with Arthur
Andersen LLP, most recently as a partner.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in rapidly changing economic and teakgioal environments that present numerous riskeyrnoéwhich are driven by factors that
we cannot control or predict. The following disdoss as well as our “Critical Accounting PoliciesdhEstimates” discussion in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations (Item 7), highlights soméhefe risks. The risks described below
not exhaustive and you should carefully consides#hrisks and uncertainties before investing inseaurities.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our business, results of operations dméncial condition, including our
revenue growth and profitability, which in turn cdd adversely affect our stock price. Our business is influenced by a range of factioat
are beyond our control and that we have no comparativantage in forecasting. These include:

» general economic and business conditit

 the overall demand for enterprise software, hardvggstems and service

» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegoment spending prioritie
» general political developments; a

» currency exchange rate fluctuatio

Macroeconomic developments like the debt crisisartain countries in the European Union and sloweiognomies in parts of Asia and South
America could negatively affect our business, ofiregaresults or financial condition which, in tugguld adversely affect our stock price. A
general weakening of, and related declining coigocanfidence in, the global economy or the curtaiit in government or corporate spending
could cause current or potential customers to redheir information technology (IT) budgets or &ble to fund software, hardware systems
or services purchases, which could cause custaimeleday, decrease or cancel purchases of our prodnd services or cause customers r
pay us or to delay paying us for previously pureldasroducts and services.

In addition, political unrest in regions like thaddle East, terrorist attacks around the globethagotential for other hostilities in various
parts of the world, potential public health cris@sl natural disasters continue to contribute tingate of economic and political uncertainty
that could adversely affect our results of operatiand financial condition, including our revenuevgth and profitability. These factors
generally have the strongest effect on our sale®wfsoftware licenses, hardware systems produatdyare systems support and related
services and, to a lesser extent, also may affaatemewal rates for software license updates anduget support.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dteinaccurate sales forecasts or other factors.Our revenues, and particularly our new
software license revenues and hardware systemsigioevenues, are difficult to forecast, and, essalt, our quarterly operating results can
fluctuate substantially. Our limited experiencetwitanaging our hardware business and forecassirigtitre financial results creates additic
challenges with our forecasting processes.

We use a “pipeline” system, a common industry ficacto forecast sales and trends in our busiri@sssales personnel monitor the status of
all proposals and estimate when a customer willeveagurchase decision and the dollar amount cdhee These estimates are aggregated
periodically to generate a sales pipeline. Ourlpipeestimates can prove to be unreliable bothpargicular quarter and over a longer period of
time, in part because the “conversion rate” or Saie rate” of the pipeline into contracts can by ifficult to estimate. A contraction in the
conversion rate, or in the pipeline itself, coutdise us to plan or budget incorrectly and adveifyt our business or results of operation:
particular, a slowdown in IT spending or econontaditions generally can unexpectedly reduce theeaion rate in particular periods as
purchasing decisions are delayed, reduced in anwwéncelled. The conversion rate can also betaffieby the tendency of some of our
customers to wait until the end of a fiscal peliln¢he hope of obtaining more favorable terms, Wwhian also impede our ability to negotiate,
execute and deliver upon these contracts in ayimeanner. In addition, for
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newly acquired companies, we have limited abilitptedict how their pipelines will convert into salor revenues for a number of quarters
following the acquisition. Conversion rates posiugisition may be quite different from the acquitespanies’ historical conversion rates.
Differences in conversion rates can also be aftelojechanges in our business practices that weeimght with our newly acquired companies
that may affect customer behavior.

A substantial portion of our new software licenseenue contracts and hardware systems productsactsis completed in the latter part of a
guarter and a significant percentage of theseamge lorders. Because a significant portion of @st structure is largely fixed in the shéetim,
revenue shortfalls tend to have a disproportiogatebative impact on our profitability. The numioélarge new software license transactions,
and to a lesser extent hardware systems prodacisattions, also increases the risk of fluctuatiomaur quarterly results because a delay in
even a small number of these transactions coulglecaur quarterly revenues and profitability to &djnificantly short of our predictions.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peeducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services. Rapid technological advances and evolving standardesmputer hardware and software development and
communications infrastructure, changing and indnggy sophisticated customer needs and frequentpreduct introductions and
enhancements characterize the enterprise softmdraardware systems markets in which we competee léire unable to develop new or
sufficiently differentiated products and servicessenhance and improve our products and suppadicesrin a timely manner or to position
and/or price our products and services to meet ddpristomers may not buy new software licensémmtware systems products or purchase
or renew software license updates and product stippbardware systems support contracts. Renevfalsese support contracts are important
to the growth of our business. In addition, IT stamls from both consortia and formal standard$rgetbrums as well as de facto marketplace
standards are rapidly evolving. We cannot provite assurance that the standards on which we choavelop new products will allow us
compete effectively for business opportunitiesrimeeging areas.

We have released Oracle Fusion Applications, thxé generation of our applications software offesnghich are designed to unify the best-
of-business functional capabilities from all of @pplications on an open-standards-based technébogylation accessible by customers
through the cloud or on-premise. We have also ticdrsigned and built our Oracle Engineered Systproduct offerings including Oracle
Exadata Database Machine, a fast database warafausichine that runs online transaction processpiications; Oracle Exalogic Elastic
Cloud, an integrated “cloud” machine which has eehardware and middleware software that have bagmeered together; Oracle Exalytics
In-Memory Machine, an engineered system featumrgémory software and hardware and an optimizethbss intelligence platform; and
SPARC SuperCluster, an engineered system which io@®bptimized database performance with accelbratddleware processing
capabilities; among others. If we do not contirueevelop and release these or other new or entigamoducts and services within the
anticipated time frames, if there is a delay in ketecceptance of a new, enhanced or acquired grtide or service, if there are changes in
information technology trends for which we do ndequately anticipate or react our product develapra#forts toward, if we do not timely
optimize complementary product lines and servigabwe fail to adequately integrate, support oh@nce acquired product lines or services,
our business may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to compete effectively with exigtior new hardware systems or software competittiig, results of operations and prospe
for our business could be harmed through fewer custer orders, reduced pricing, lower revenues or éavprofits.  Our hardware systems
business will compete with, among others, (i) systenanufacturers and resellers of systems basedraswn microprocessors and operating
systems and those of our competitors, (ii) micrepesor/chip manufacturers and (iii) providers ofage products. Our hardware systems
business may also cause us to compete with congpaie historically have been our partners. Thesepetitors may have more experience
than we do in managing a hardware business. A [sog#on of our hardware products are based orSB8&RC microprocessor and Oracle
Solaris operating system platform, which has a Enaistalled base than certain of our competitptatforms and which may make it difficult
for us to win new customers that have already nsigtgficant investments in our competitors’
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platforms. Certain of these competitors also compety aggressively on price. A loss in our contpetiposition could result in lower
revenues or profitability, which could adverselypiaat our ability to realize the revenue and probfliy forecasts for our hardware systems
business.

Many vendors develop and market databases, middéepraducts, application development tools, busirmgmplications, collaboration products
and business intelligence products, amongst otllescompete with our software offerings. In aiddit several companies offer software-as-a-
service (SaaS) or cloud computing and businesepsoautsourcing (BPO) as competitive alternatigdaying software and hardware, and
customer interest in cloud or SaaS solutions iiEging. Some of these competitors have greatndial or technical resources than we do.
Our competitors that offer business applicatiorss middleware products may influence a customertsipasing decision for the underlying
database in an effort to persuade potential cuswn to acquire our products. We could lose custs if our competitors introduce new
competitive products, add new functionality, acquiompetitive products, reduce prices or form sgiatalliances with other companies.
Vendors that offer SaaS, cloud or BPO solutions perguade our customers not to purchase our pradivet may also face increasing
competition from open source software initiativesvhich competitors may provide software and ietlhal property for free. Existing or new
competitors could gain sales opportunities or qusfs at our expense.

Our hardware systems offerings are complex produdtsve cannot successfully manage the required pesses to meet customer
requirements and demand on a timely basis, the tesaf our hardware systems business will sufferDesigning, developing, manufacturi
and introducing new hardware systems products@rglicated processes. The development processétam and requires a high level of
innovation from both systems hardware and softywapeuct designers and engineers and the suppfighe aomponents used in these
products. The development process is also lengttycastly. Once a new hardware systems produ@&\sldped, we face several challenges in
the manufacturing process. We must be able to dstezustomer demand and manufacture new hardwstensy products in sufficient volun
to meet this demand and do so in a cost effectizerar. Our “build-to-order” manufacturing modelwhich our hardware systems products
generally are not built until after customers placgers, may from time to time experience delaysalivering our hardware systems products
to customers in a timely manner. These delays coalde our customers to purchase hardware proaudtservices from our competitors. We
must also manage new hardware product introductiadgransitions to minimize the impact of custoahelayed purchases of existing
hardware systems products in anticipation of nemlare systems product releases. Because the desigmanufacturing processes for
components are also very complicated, it is posshmt we could experience design or manufactdtévgs. These design or manufacturing
flaws could delay or prevent the production of teenponents for which we have previously committegdy or need to fulfill orders from
customers. These types of component flaws coutd@isvent the production of our hardware productsaoise our hardware products to be
returned, recalled or rejected resulting in loseraies, increases in warranty costs or costs delateemediation efforts, damage to our
reputation, penalties and litigation.

Acquisitions present many risks and we may not iealthe financial and strategic goals that were ¢emplated at the time of a transactio

In recent years, we have invested billionsalfadls to acquire a number of companies, prodsetsjices and technologies. An active
acquisition program is an important element of @egrall corporate strategy and we expect to coptioumake acquisitions in the future. Risks
we may face in connection with our acquisition perg include:

* our ongoing business may be disrupted and our nesmen’s attention may be diverted by acquisition, traosibr integratior
activities;

* an acquisition may not further our business stsategwe expected, we may not integrate an acquostgany or technology
successfully as we expected or we may overpayfastherwise not realize the expected return onjroxestments, which could
adversely affect our business or operating res

* we may have difficulties (i) managing an acquirethpany' s technologies or lines of business or (ii) entgriew markets where \
have no or limited direct prior experience or whesenpetitors may have stronger market positi
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» our operating results or financial condition maydoeersely impacted by claims or liabilities tha assume from an acquir
company or technology or that are otherwise reltieah acquisition, including claims from governmagencies, terminated
employees, current or former customers, formerkstoiclers or other third parties; pre-existing cantual relationships of an
acquired company that we would not have otherwigered into, the termination or modification of whimay be costly or
disruptive to our business; unfavorable revenuegeition or other accounting treatment as a resfudin acquired company’s
practices; and intellectual property claims or disg;

» we may fail to identify or assess the magnitudeesfain liabilities, shortcomings or other circuarstes prior to acquiring a
company or technology, which could result in unexed litigation or regulatory exposure, unfavoraddeounting treatment,
unexpected increases in taxes due, a loss of paitidzi tax benefits or other adverse effects orbosiness, operating results or
financial condition:

* we may not realize the anticipated increase inreuenues from an acquisition for a number of regsimeluding if a larger than
predicted number of customers decline to renewso# license updates and product support contilaatdyare systems support
contracts and cloud software subscription contrafctee are unable to sell the acquired productsuwocustomer base or if contract
models of an acquired company do not allow us ¢togrize revenues on a timely ba:

* we may have difficulty incorporating acquired teclugies or products with our existing product lirgggl maintaining uniform
standards, architecture, controls, procedures ahicigs;

* we may have multiple product lines as a resultwfacquisitions that are offered, priced and suiggbodifferently, which couli
cause customer confusion and del:

* we may have higher than anticipated costs in caimthsupport and development of acquired prodirctgeneral and administrati
functions that support new business models, ooimptiance with associated regulations that are roomeplicated than we had
anticipated

* we may be unable to obtain timely approvals frommay otherwise have certain limitations, restoict, penalties or oth
sanctions imposed on us by, worker councils orlambiodies under applicable employment laws asaltref an acquisition, which
could adversely affect our integration plans irtaerjurisdictions

* we may be unable to obtain required approvals fgorernmental authorities under competition andtiarsti laws on a timely basis,
if at all, which could, among other things, delaypoevent us from completing a transaction, othgewestrict our ability to realize
the expected financial or strategic goals of arugsitipn or have other adverse effects on our eurpeisiness and operatiol

 our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintfites potential uses of our cash, including stoglurehases, dividend payments .
retirement of outstanding indebtedne

* we may significantly increase our interest expelagrage and debt service requirements if we iadditional debt to pay for an
acquisition and we may have to delay or not proaeitlila substantial acquisition if we cannot obthie necessary funding to
complete the acquisition in a timely manner or avofable terms

 to the extent that we issue a significant amourgapfity securities in connection with future acitioss, existing stockholders mi
be diluted and earnings per share may decreas¢

* we may experience additional or unexpected chaingesw we are required to account for our acqusgipursuant to U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, inclugimgngements that we assume from an acquis

The occurrence of any of these risks could havaterial adverse effect on our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash flo
particularly in the case of a larger acquisitiorseveral concurrent acquisitions.
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Our hardware systems revenues and profitability decline if we do not manage the risks associatéth our hardware systems business.

Our hardware systems business may adversagtaftir overall profitability if we do not manadetassociated risks. We may not achieve
our estimated revenue, profit or other financialj@ctions with respect to our hardware systemsnassiin a timely manner or at all due to a
number of factors, including:

* our relative inexperience in managing a hardwastesys business and related processes or the urgldepartures of son
important employees could adversely impact ouitgbitd successfully run our hardware systems bssinehich could adversely
impact our ability to realize the forecasts for bardware systems business and its results of tqesg

 our focus on our more profitable Oracle Engine&gstems products like Oracle Exadata Database Magctiracle Exalogic
Elastic Cloud and Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Maahiwhich are in the relatively early stages of diopby our customers, and
our de-emphasis on our lower profit margin commpob#ardware systems products that historically dartst a larger portion of
our hardware systems revenu

» we may forgo sales opportunities, customers anemass as a result of our reducing the resale a@f garty products and services
for which Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sun) historicadlgted as a reselle

* we may not be able to increase sales of hardwatersg support contracts or such increase may ¢aliget than we anticipat
which could result in lower revenues and profitigpilor slower than expected growth of such reverared profitability;

» our hardware systems business has higher expensegescentage of revenues, and thus has begorddable, than our softwal
business. We have reported lower overall operatiagyins as a percentage of revenues in the pastamday report lower
operating margins as a percentage of revenueg ifutbre; anc

» we face a greater risk of potential w-downs and impairments of inventory, higher warraXgenses than we had historic:
encountered in our existing software and serviesinesses and higher amortization from, and p@teintipairment of, intangible
assets associated with our hardware systems baskwes of these items could result in material gearand adversely affect our
operating results

Our strategy of transitioning to a mixed direct ariddirect sales model for our hardware systems prots may not succeed and could result
in lower hardware revenues or profits. Disruptios our software indirect sales channel could affemiir future operating results.

Although we will continue to sell our hardwaestems products through indirect channels, inolgiitidependent distributors and value
added resellers, we have enhanced our direct saesage for our hardware products and intendahatlirect sales force will sell a larger
portion of our hardware products in the future tttagy do now. These direct sales efforts, howawear; not be successful. Our relationships
with some of our channel partners may deterioratabse we are reducing our reliance on some of ghesners for sales of our hardware
products, are modifying our approach and timinthemanufacturing of our products and have alteszthin of Sun’s legacy business
practices with these channel partners, which coegdlt in reduced demand from the channel partrecsrtain customer segments serviced by
these channel partners. Some hardware revenuesfranmel partners may not be replaced by reveremergted from our own sales persol
or may not be replaced as quickly as we expectdtition, we may not be able to hire qualified heace salespeople, sales consultants and
other personnel for our direct sales model at #ite or in the numbers we need to generate the baedwvenues and profit margins we have
projected for future periods. Even if we can magthiring needs, these salespeople may not bet@lalehieve our sales forecasts for our
hardware business. If we experience any of thegs,rour hardware revenues and/or profits may mecli

Our software indirect channel network is compripecharily of resellers, system integrators/implemees, consultants, education providers,
internet service providers, network integrators entipendent software vendors. Our relationshipk thiese channel participants are impor
elements of our software marketing and sales sff@utr financial results could be adversely affédt®ur contracts with channel participants
were terminated, if our relationships with chanpesiticipants were to deteriorate, if any of our patitors enter into
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strategic relationships with or acquire a significehannel participant or if the financial conditiof our channel participants were to weaken.
There can be no assurance that we will be sucdeésshaintaining, expanding or developing our riglaships with channel participants. If we
are not successful, we may lose sales opportuniiestomers and revenues.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ouremating results. We derive a substantial
portion of our revenues from, and have signifiggmerations, outside of the United States. Our iiratgonal operations include software and
hardware systems development, manufacturing, adgesattes, customer support, consulting, managaadctervices and shared
administrative service centers.

Compliance with international and U.S. laws andufations that apply to our international operationgeases our cost of doing business in
foreign jurisdictions. These laws and regulatiordude U.S. laws and local laws which include gataacy requirements, labor relations laws,
tax laws, anteompetition regulations, prohibitions on paymentgdévernmental officials, import and trade resioics and export requiremer
Violations of these laws and regulations could fesuines, criminal sanctions against us, ouiagfs or our employees, and prohibitions on
the conduct of our business. Any such violationg@oesult in prohibitions on our ability to offeur products and services in one or more
countries, could delay or prevent potential acdjoiss and could also materially damage our reportiatbur brand, our international expansion
efforts, our ability to attract and retain employeeur business and our operating results. Ouressadepends, in part, on our ability to
anticipate these risks and manage these diffiultdée monitor our international operations and stigate allegations of improprieties relating
to transactions and the way in which such transastare recorded. Where circumstances warrantyovede information and report our
findings to government authorities, but no assugazan be given that action will not be taken byhsawthorities.

We are also subject to a variety of other risks @mallenges in managing an organization operatingfious countries, including those related
to:

» general economic conditions in each country oramg

« fluctuations in currency exchange rates and reletga@cts to our operating resul
* natural disaster:

» regulatory change:

* political unrest, terrorism and the potential fther hostilities:

» longer payment cycles and difficulties in collegtiaccounts receivabl

» overlapping tax regime:

* our ability to repatriate funds held by our foregubsidiaries to the United States at favorableates;
« difficulties in transferring funds from or convertj currencies in certain countrit

» public health risks, particularly in areas in whigh have significant operations; a
» reduced protection for intellectual property rigiitsome countries

As a result of our hardware systems business,dhane and complexity of laws and regulations thatare subject to have increased. The
variety of risks and challenges listed above calsd disrupt or otherwise negatively impact thepdpphain operations for our hardware
systems products segment and the sales of our gigodnd services in affected countries or regions.

As the majority shareholder of Oracle FinanciaM&srs Software Limited, a publicly traded Indiarita@re company focused on the banking
industry, we are faced with several additionalsjskcluding being subject to local securities tagjons and being unable to exert full control.

The future operating results of our hardware systsiusiness will depend on our ability to manage @amponent inventory to meet the
demands of our hardware systems customers and ticaeomponent inventory write-downs. We depend on suppliers to design, develop,
manufacture and deliver on a timely basis
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the necessary components for our hardware prodittde many of the components purchased are stdndame components (standard or
otherwise) require long lead times to manufactume @eliver. Furthermore, there are some comporteatsan only be purchased from a sir
vendor due to price, quality, technology or othesihess constraints. As a result, our supply chparations could be disrupted or negatively
impacted by natural disasters, political unresttber factors affecting the countries or regionemetthese single source component vendor
located. We may be unable to purchase these itemsthe respective single vendors on acceptaliester may experience significant delays
or quality issues in the delivery of necessarygartcomponents from a particular vendor. If we twafind a new supplier for these parts and
components, hardware systems product shipmentd beullelayed, which would adversely affect our ham systems revenues. We could
also experience fluctuations in component priceglyhf unanticipated, could negatively impact tardware systems business cost structure.
These factors may make it difficult for us to pkmd procure appropriate component inventory lewesstimely fashion to meet customer
demand for our hardware products. Therefore we exggrience component inventory shortages which maswyit in production delays or
customers choosing to purchase fewer hardware ptethom us or systems products from our competitdfe negotiate supply commitments
with vendors early in the manufacturing processrtsure we have sufficient components for our hare\weoducts to meet anticipated
customer demand. We must also manage our levelsief component inventories used in our hardwamelyets to minimize inventory write-
offs or write-downs. If we have excess inventotynay be necessary to write-down the inventory ciwhvould adversely affect our operating
results. If one or more of the risks described a&bmscurs, our hardware systems business and relpezdting results could be materially and
adversely affected.

We expect to continue to depend on third party méawturers to build certain hardware systems prodsieind third party logistics providers
to deliver our products. As such, we are suscepgtitdl manufacturing and logistics delays that coudevent us from shipping customer
orders on time, if at all, and may result in theds of sales and customers.We outsource the manufacturing, assembly and dgliviecertair

of our hardware products to a variety of companigany of which are located outside the United Sta@rir reliance on these third parties
reduces our control over the manufacturing andvégfiprocess, exposing us to risks, including redumontrol over quality assurance, product
costs, product supply and delivery delays as wgetha political and economic uncertainties and nahtlisasters of the international locations
where certain of these third party manufacturexgHtacilities and operations. Any manufacturinggigion or logistics delays by these third
parties could impair our ability to fulfill ordefsr these hardware systems products for extendaddseof time. If we are unable to manage
relationships with these third parties effectivalyjf these third parties experience delays, gigoms, capacity constraints, regulatory issues or
quality control problems in their operations, dt fa meet our future requirements for timely deliy, our ability to ship and/or deliver certain
of our hardware systems products to our custonrklde impaired and our hardware systems busiwmdd be harmed.

We have simplified our supply chain processes byeing the number of third party manufacturing pars and the number of locations where
these third party manufacturers build our hardvegitems products. We therefore have become moendept on a fewer number of these
manufacturing partners and locations. If thesengastexperience production problems or delays mnatameet our demand for products, we
may not be able to find alternate manufacturingaeaiin a timely or cost effective manner, if &t lilwe are required to change third party
manufacturers, our ability to meet our scheduladilvare systems products deliveries to our custoe@uil be adversely affected, which cc
cause the loss of sales and existing or poteni&tbeners, delayed revenue recognition or an inergasur hardware systems products
expenses, all of which could adversely affect ttaegims of our hardware business.

We may experience foreign currency gains and lossedVe conduct a significant number of transactionsurrencies other than the

U.S. Dollar. Changes in the value of major foredginrencies, particularly the Euro, Japanese YerBaiigh Pound relative to the U.S. Dollar
can significantly affect our revenues and operatesylts. Generally, our revenues and operatingtseare adversely affected when the dollar
strengthens relative to other currencies and aséipely affected when the dollar weakens.

In addition, we incur foreign currency transactgains and losses, primarily related to sublicerss find other intercompany agreements
among us and our subsidiaries that we expect tosettle in the near term, which are
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charged against earnings in the period incurredhde a program which primarily utilizes foreigmm@ncy forward contracts to offset the
risks associated with these foreign currency exmssthat we may suspend from time to time. As agfahis program, we enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases oredses in our foreign currency exposures are dffsgains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the riskd aolatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsaction gains or losses. A large portion of
our consolidated operations are international aaeégxmpect that we will continue to realize gain$osses with respect to our foreign currency
exposures, net of gains or losses from our foreigrency forward contracts. For example, we wipenence foreign currency gains and los

in certain instances if it is not possible or cefféctive to hedge our foreign currency exposureshould we suspend our foreign currency
forward contract program. Our ultimate realizedslos gain with respect to currency fluctuationd génerally depend on the size and type of
cross-currency exposures that we enter into, theooy exchange rates associated with these exg®and changes in those rates, whether we
have entered into foreign currency forward contractoffset these exposures and other factorofAhese factors could materially impact our
results of operations, financial position and ciiels, the timing of which is variable and geneyalutside of our control.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesfy rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, confidentiality
procedures, controls and contractual commitmengsdtect our intellectual property rights. Despite efforts, these protections may be
limited. Unauthorized third parties may try to capyreverse engineer portions of our products lemtise obtain and use our intellectual
property. Any patents owned by us may be invalidatécumvented or challenged. Any of our pendinfuture patent applications, whethe
not being currently challenged, may not be issuitk thie scope of the claims we seek, if at alladidition, the laws of some countries do not
provide the same level of protection of our intefileal property rights as do the laws and courthefUnited States. If we cannot protect our
intellectual property rights against unauthorizegying or use, or other misappropriation, we matyramain competitive.

Third parties have claimed and, in the future, malaim infringement or misuse of intellectual propsrrights and/or breach of license
agreement provisions. We periodically receive notices from, or haa@suits filed against us by, others claiming irdement or other
misuse of their intellectual property rights anddogach of our agreements with them. These thirtlgsainclude entities that do not have the
capabilities to design, manufacture, or distrituigducts or services or that acquire intellectuapprty like patents for the sole purpose of
monetizing their acquired intellectual propertyotigh asserting claims of infringement and misuse.ekpect the number of such claims will
increase as:

* we continue to acquire companies and expand intohsinesses

» the number of products and competitors in our itrgusegments grow:

» the use and support of third party code (includipgn source code) becomes more prevalent in thestiryg

 the volume of issued patents continues to incresass

« the proliferation of no-practicing entities asserting intellectual propemntfyingement claims increase
Responding to any such claim, regardless of itisligl could:

» be time consuming, costly and result in litigati

» divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

* require us to pay monetary damages or enter iy@tyoand licensing agreements that we would notnadly find acceptable

* require us to stop selling or to redesign certdiour products

* require us to release source code to third pagiessibly under open source license tel

* require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; ¢

» otherwise adversely affect our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash floy
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We may lose key employees or may be unable todnaugh qualified employees. We rely on the continued service of our senior
management, including our Chief Executive Officed founder, members of our executive team and dteemployees and the hiring of n
qualified employees. In the technology industreréhis substantial and continuous competition fghlly skilled business, product
development, technical and other personnel. Intaxidiacquisitions could cause us to lose key persbof the acquired companies or at
Oracle. We may also experience increased compensaists that are not offset by either improvedipotivity or higher sales. We may not
successful in recruiting new personnel and in nétgi and motivating existing personnel. With raxeaptions, we do not have long-term
employment or non-competition agreements with oopleyees. Members of our senior management team le&vOracle over the years for a
variety of reasons and we cannot assure you tkee thill not be additional departures, which maydiseuptive to our operations.

We continually focus on improving our cost struetby hiring personnel in countries where advaneetrtical expertise is available at lower
costs. When we make adjustments to our workforeemay incur expenses associated with workforceatézhs that delay the benefit of a
more efficient workforce structure. We may alsoenignce increased competition for employees ingleesintries as the trend toward
globalization continues, which may affect our enyple retention efforts and increase our expensas &ffort to offer a competitive
compensation program. Our compensation programdes stock options, which are an important toalttracting and retaining employees in
our industry. If our stock price performs poorlyriay adversely affect our ability to retain oratt employees. In addition, because we
expense all stock-based compensation, we may ifuthiee change our stock-based and other compensatactices. Some of the changes we
consider from time to time include a reductionhie humber of employees granted options, a reduititme number of options granted per
employee and a change to alternative forms of sbh@ded compensation. Any changes in our compensatéetices or changes made by
competitors could affect our ability to retain andtivate existing personnel and recruit new persbnn

Our sales to government clients subject us to rigkduding early termination, audits, investigatian sanctions and penalties. We derive
revenues from contracts with the U.S. governmeatesand local governments and their respectiva@eg, which may terminate most of th
contracts at any time, without cause. There issiased pressure for governments and their agehoittsdomestically and internationally, to
reduce spending. Our federal government contraetsubject to the approval of appropriations bemagle by the U.S. Congress to fund the
expenditures under these contracts. Similarly,comtracts at the state and local levels are sutjpepbvernment funding authorizations.
Additionally, government contracts are generalljeat to audits and investigations which could Keisuvarious civil and criminal penalties
and administrative sanctions, including terminatiéicontracts, refund of a portion of fees recejfedeiture of profits, suspension of
payments, fines and suspensions or debarment framrefgovernment business.

We may need to change our pricing models to cometecessfully. The intense competition we face in the salesuoforoducts and
services and general economic and business camslitEn put pressure on us to change our pricesr fompetitors offer deep discounts on
certain products or services or develop produ@sttie marketplace considers more valuable, wermaay to lower prices or offer other
favorable terms in order to compete successfully such changes may reduce margins and could adyeffect operating results. Our
software license updates and product support feg@fardware systems support fees are generallgchas a percentage of our net new
software license fees and net new hardware sygtemdsicts fees, respectively. Our competitors mégrabwer pricing on their support
offerings, which could put pressure on us to furtfiscount our new license prices.

Any broad-based change to our prices and pricidigips could cause our revenues to decline or lbeydd as our sales force implements and
our customers adjust to the new pricing policiesn8 of our competitors may bundle products for prtiomal purposes or as a long-term
pricing strategy or provide guarantees of prices @oduct implementations. These practices cowdr tme, significantly constrain the prices
that we can charge for certain of our productstdfdo not adapt our pricing models to reflect clesnig customer use of our products or
changes in customer demand, our revenues couldatrAdditionally, increased distribution of apations through cloud and SaaS
providers, may reduce the average price for oudyets or adversely affect other sales of our pregjueducing our revenues unless we can
offset price reductions with volume increases. iHoeease in open source software distribution nisgy eause us to change our pricing moc
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Our cloud computing strategy, including our Oracléloud and Oracle managed cloud services offeringgy not be successful. We offer
customers a broad portfolio of software and harévmoducts and services to enable a roadmap ftoroess to adopt cloud computing. Ore
Cloud includes our cloud software subscription iffgs such as Oracle Fusion Human Capital Manage@lend Service, Oracle Fusion
Customer Relationship Management Cloud Servicegl®mightNow Customer Experience and Oracle Takelerit Management Cloud
Service, among others, all of which provide ourtooeers with certain of our software applicationsdtionality within a cloud-based IT
environment that we manage and offer via a submnijbased model. In addition, Oracle Cloud alsdudes software platforms within a
cloud-based IT environment that we manage and tifeustomers via a subscription-based model inafp@racle Database Cloud Service
and Oracle Java Cloud Service. Oracle managed slerces include software and hardware manageamehiaintenance services hosted at
our data center facilities, select partner datdezsror physically on-premise at customer fac#iti€hese business models continue to evolve
and we may not be able to compete effectively, gaaesignificant revenues or maintain their prdiility. We incur expenses associated with
the infrastructures and marketing of our manageddkervices and cloud software subscription offgziin advance of our ability to recognize
the revenues associated with these offerings. Ddrfarour cloud software subscription offerings manfavorably impact demand for certain
of our other products and services including neftnsoe licenses and software license updates awdlipt support services.

If our data protection or other security measuressecompromised and as a result our data, our cus&se’ data or our IT systems are
accessed improperly, made unavailable, or improgeriodified, our products and services may be peredias vulnerable, our brand and
reputation could be damaged, the IT services wevidle to our customers could be disrupted, and costos may stop using our products

and services, all of which could reduce our revenaied earnings, increase our expenses and expos®uisgal claims and regulatory

actions. We are in the information technology busin@ssl our products and services store, retrieve, podate and manage our customers’
information and data as well as our own. We haxepatation for secure and reliable software andwware products and services and have
invested a great deal of time and resources ireptiog the integrity and security of our produsesyvices and internal and external data that we
manage.

Nevertheless, computer hackers will attempt to pateeor bypass our data protection and other ggeueasures and gain unauthorized ac
to our networks, systems and data or compromisedhédential information or data of our customeZsmputer hackers may be able to
develop and deploy IT related viruses, worms, aheéramalicious software programs that could ataokproducts and services, exploit
potential security vulnerabilities of our produatsd services, create system disruptions and causgosvns or denials of service. Data may
also be accessed or modified improperly as a re$eltnployee or supplier error or malfeasance hird parties may attempt to fraudulently
induce employees or customers into disclosing seasnformation such as user names, passwordgher information in order to gain access
to our data, our customers’ data or our IT systems.

Although this is an industry-wide problem that atfeother software and hardware companies, it &ff@cacle in particular because computer
hackers tend to focus their efforts on the mosufapor wellknown IT companies, and they may focus on Oractabge of our reputation fc
and marketing efforts associated with, having sepuoducts and services. These risks for us wilidase as we continue to grow our cloud-
based offerings and services and store and praoaeasingly large amounts of our customers’ canfidhl information and data and host or
manage parts of our customers’ businesses in ddasdd IT environments, especially in customer sedtwolving particularly sensitive data
such as health sciences, financial services angahernment. We also have an active acquisitiognarm and have acquired a number of
companies, products, services and technologiestbegrears. While we make significant efforts tdr@ss any IT security issues with respect
to our acquisitions, we may still inherit such gskhen we integrate these acquisitions within @racl

If a cyberattack or other security incident desadilabove were to allow unauthorized access to difioation of our customers’ data or our
own data or our IT systems or if the services wwvisle to our customers were disrupted, or if owdpicts or services are perceived as having
security vulnerabilities, we could suffer damagetn brand and reputation. Customers could losédrmce in the security and reliability of
our products and
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services and perceive them to be not secure. fhig could lead to fewer customers using our petsland services and result in reduced
revenue and earnings. The costs we would incuddoess and fix these security incidents would iaseeour expenses. These types of security
incidents could also lead to lawsuits, regulatomestigations and claims and increased legal itgpihcluding in some cases contractual costs
related to customer notification and fraud monitgri

Further, as regulatory focus on privacy issuesioogs to increase and worldwide laws and regulat@mncerning the protection of personal
information expand and become more complex, thesengial risks to our business will intensify. Clgas in laws or regulations associated
with the protection of certain types of data, sasthealthcare data or other personally identifiaiftermation, could greatly increase our cos
providing our products and services.

Our periodic workforce restructurings can be disrtipe. We have in the past restructured or made @ttigsstments to our workforce,
including our direct sales force on which we redabily, in response to management changes, pretlaciges, performance issues, acquisi
and other internal and external considerationghérpast, sales force and other restructurings gemerally resulted in a temporary lack of
focus and reduced productivity. These effects coetdir in connection with future acquisitions arldeo restructurings and our revenues could
be negatively affected.

We might experience significant errors in our sofne and hardware products and services.Despite testing prior to their release, sofavar
and hardware products sometimes contain errorecedly when first introduced or when new versians released. The detection and
correction of any errors can be time consumingagdly. Errors in our software or hardware prodwuctsld affect the ability of our products
work with other software or hardware products, daiglay the development or release of new prodaratew versions of products and could
adversely affect market acceptance of our prodifoige experience errors or delays in releasingrew software or hardware products or new
versions of our software or hardware products, sdctclose revenues. In addition, we run our owrirss operations, cloud software
subscription offerings, Oracle managed cloud ses/and other outsourcing services, support anduttorgsservices, on our products and
networks and any flaws, if exploited, could affeat ability to conduct our business operations. Esers, who rely on our software products
and services for applications that are criticahtsir businesses, may have a greater sensitivipydduct errors than customers for software
products generally. Errors in our software and warg products or services could expose us to ptdidindlity, performance and/or warranty
claims as well as harm our reputation, which camdgact our future sales of products and services.

We may not receive significant revenues from ourent research and development efforts for seveyahrs, if at all. Developing softwal
and hardware products is expensive and the investim@roduct development often involves a longineton investment cycle. We have made
and expect to continue to make significant investi:é research and development and related praghycirtunities. Accelerated product
introductions and short product life cycles requigh levels of expenditures for research and dgraknt that could adversely affect our
operating results if not offset by revenue increadée believe that we must continue to dedicaigrifcant amount of resources to our
research and development efforts to maintain oopatditive position. However, we do not expect toeiee significant revenues from these
investments for several years, if at all.

Business disruptions could affect our operating tdis. A significant portion of our research and depahent activities and certain other
critical business operations are concentratedf@wageographic areas. We are a highly automateinéss and a disruption or failure of our
systems could cause delays in completing salepraoviding services, including some of our cloudtsaire subscription and managed cloud
services offerings. A major earthquake, fire oreottatastrophic event that results in the destroair disruption of any of our critical business
or IT systems could severely affect our abilityctmduct normal business operations and, as a resulfuture operating results could be
materially and adversely affected.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busire: We are subject to various legal proceedingigtion can be lengthy, expensive and
disruptive to our operations and results cannagirkdicted with certainty. An adverse decision coelsllt in monetary damages or injunctive
relief that could affect our business, operatirguhes or financial condition. Additional informatigegarding certain of the lawsuits we are
involved in is discussed under Note 18 of NoteSdmsolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report.
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We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities.As a multinational corporation, we are subjedncome taxes as well as non-income
based taxes, in both the United States and vaftwaggn jurisdictions. Significant judgment is réxpd in determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities. We @agularly under audit by tax authorities and thagthorities often do not agree with positions
taken by us on our tax returns.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a Bigmitly adverse impact on our effective tax réter example, certain U.S. government
proposals for fundamental U.S. international tdenm, if enacted, could have a significant advensgact on our effective tax rate. Further, in
the ordinary course of a global business, thereraney intercompany transactions and calculationsrevthe ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Our intercompany transfer pricing isrently being reviewed by the U.S. Internal ReveSaevice (IRS) and by foreign tax
jurisdictions and will likely be subject to addmial audits in the future. We have negotiated cedailateral Advance Pricing Agreements w
the IRS and certain selected bilateral Advanceiyidgreements that cover many of our intercompaaysfer pricing issues and preclude the
relevant tax authorities from making a transfecipg adjustment within the scope of these agreesnéfawever, these agreements do not ¢
substantial elements of our transfer pricing. Idi&dn, our provision for income taxes could be ebely affected by earnings being lower than
anticipated in jurisdictions which we consider tibdefinitely reinvested outside the United Staled have lower statutory tax rates and
earnings being higher than anticipated in jurisditg that have higher statutory tax rates.

We are also subject to non-income based taxes,aiphyroll, sales, use, valadeed, net worth, property and goods and servicesst in bot
the United States and various foreign jurisdictio'® are regularly under audit by tax authoritiéhwespect to these non-income based taxes
and may have exposure to additional non-incomeddtseliabilities. Our acquisition activities hawereased our non-income based tax
exposures, particularly with our entry into thedwaare systems business, which increased the vaunti€omplexity of laws and regulations
that we are subject to and with which we must cgmpl

Although we believe that our income and rinceme based tax estimates are reasonable, theoegissurance that the final determination o
audits or tax disputes will not be different frorhat is reflected in our historical income tax psiwns and accruals.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions maygversely affect our operating results. Under business combination accounting
standards pursuant to ASC 8@usiness Combinationsve recognize the identifiable assets acquiresl|ifibilities assumed and any non-
controlling interests in acquired companies gehegdltheir acquisition date fair values and, icleaase, separately from goodwill. Goodwil

of the acquisition date is measured as the exeaesra of consideration transferred, which is alepegally measured at fair value, and the net
of the acquisition date amounts of the identifisddsets acquired and the liabilities assumed. €timates of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable but whicihegently uncertain. After we complete an acdiasij the following factors could result in
material charges and adversely affect our operaéaglts and may adversely affect our cash flows:

» costs incurred to combine the operations of congsawe acquire, such as transitional employee ergearsd employee retentic
redeployment or relocation expens

» impairment of goodwill or intangible asse
» amortization of intangible assets acquir
» areduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired

+ identification of or changes to assumed contindjabtlities, both income tax and n-income tax related, after our fin
determination of the amounts for these contingenareghe conclusion of the measurement period (@éipeip to one year from the
acquisition date), whichever comes fii

» charges to our operating results to maintain aedaplicative pr-merger activities for an extended period of timéoomaintair
these activities for a period of time that is lontfe&n we had anticipated, charges to eliminat&geduplicative pre-merger
activities, and charges to restructure our opeamat@ to reduce our cost structu

32



Table of Contents

» charges to our operating results resulting fromeesps incurred to effect the acquisition;
» charges to our operating results due to the expgrdicertain stock awards assumed in an acquis

Substantially all of these costs will be accourftechs expenses that will decrease our net incamdesarnings per share for the periods in
which those costs are incurred. Charges to ouratipgrresults in any given period could differ dangially from other periods based on the
timing and size of our future acquisitions andekeent of integration activities. A more detailedatission of our accounting for business
combinations and other items is presented in thé@it@l Accounting Policies and Estimates” sectairManagemens Discussion and Analys
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsr{i 7).

There are risks associated with our outstanding afudure indebtedness. As of May 31, 2012, we had an aggregate ofSh8lion of
outstanding indebtedness that will mature betwhemémainder of calendar 2012 and calendar 204@vanday incur additional indebtedness
in the future. Our ability to pay interest and ngplae principal for our indebtedness is dependeonwur ability to manage our business
operations, generate sufficient cash flows to sergiuich debt and the other factors discussedsrséution. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to manage any of these risks succégsfu

We may also need to refinance a portion of ourtanting debt as it matures. There is a risk thaimag not be able to refinance existing debt
or that the terms of any refinancing may not béaerable as the terms of our existing debt. Furttoee, if prevailing interest rates or other
factors at the time of refinancing result in highrgerest rates upon refinancing, then the intezgpense relating to that refinanced indebtec
would increase. Should we incur future increasestarest expense, our ability to utilize certafroor foreign tax credits to reduce our U.S.
federal income tax could be limited, which couldaworably affect our provision for income taxes aifictive tax rate. In addition, changes
by any rating agency to our outlook or credit rgtoould negatively affect the value of both ourtdsfd equity securities and increase the
interest amounts we pay on outstanding or futule. dédese risks could adversely affect our finanoiendition and results of operations.

Environmental laws and regulations subject us tanamber of risks and could result in significant Itlities and costs. Some of our
hardware systems operations are subject to seaterd! and international laws governing protectibthe environment, proper handling and
disposal of materials used to manufacture our pizdthuman health and safety and regulating thefsertain chemical substances. We
endeavor to comply with these environmental laves,cpompliance with such laws could increase oudpecbdesign, development, procuren
and manufacturing costs, limit our ability to maeaxxcess and obsolete non-compliant inventory,gdanr sales activities, or otherwise
impact future financial results of our hardwaretegss business. Any violation of these laws canesihjs to significant liability, including
fines, penalties and possible prohibition of saliegur products into one or more states or countied result in a material adverse effect on the
financial condition or results of operations of txardware systems business. A significant portfoouo hardware systems revenues come 1
international sales. Environmental legislation witthe European Union (EU), including the EU Direeton Restriction of Hazardous
Substances (RoHS) and Waste Electrical and EldctEguipment Directive (WEEE Directive), as well@kina’s regulation on Management
Methods for Controlling Pollution Caused by Eledimlnformation Products may increase our costaifig business internationally and
impact our hardware systems revenues from EU ciesrand China as we endeavor to comply with andement these requirements. In
addition, similar environmental legislation has thee may be enacted in other jurisdictions, the wative impact of which could be
significant.

Our stock price could become more volatile and yanwvestment could lose value. All of the factors discussed in this sectionldoaffect ou
stock price. The timing of announcements in thelipubarket regarding new products, product enhamcgsor technological advances by our
competitors or us and any announcements by usqofisitons, major transactions, or management absueguld also affect our stock price.
Changes in the amounts and frequency of sharedleases or dividends could adversely affect outkgpoice. Our stock price is subject to
speculation in the press and the analyst commuttignges in recommendations or earnings estimgtégdncial analysts, changes in
investors’ or analysts’ valuation measures forgiaock, our credit ratings and market trends unedl&d our performance. A significant drop in
our stock price could also expose us to the riskegfirities class actions lawsuits, which couldltés substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, which calvdraely affect our business.
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Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Iltem 2.  Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devetopntonsulting, manufacturing and
administrative personnel. Our headquarters fadilitysists of approximately 2.1 million square feeRedwood City, California, substantially
all of which we own. We lease our principal intdrmeanufacturing facility for our hardware systermsducts in Hillsboro, Oregon. We also
own or lease other office facilities for currenewnsisting of approximately 24.9 million squagetfin various other locations in the United
States and abroad. We believe our facilities agoid condition and suitable for the conduct of lousiness. Approximately 5.1 million square
feet, or 19%, of total owned and leased spacehkesar is being actively marketed for subleasdisposition.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 18 of Notes to Cdidsed Financial Statements in Item 15 of this AalnReport on Form 10-K is incorporated
herein by reference.

ltem 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globak8&eMarket under the symbol “ORCL” and has beededzon the NASDAQ since our
initial public offering in 1986. According to thecords of our transfer agent, we had 15,269 stddkh®of record as of May 31, 2012. The
following table sets forth the low and high salegrof our common stock, based on the last daily, sa each of our last eight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarter $25.61 $ 30.2¢ $30.2( $ 36.3
Third Quartel $25.51] $ 31.9( $27.6¢ $ 33.6¢
Second Quarte $26.0( $ 33.6¢ $22.4¢ $ 29.5¢
First Quarte $24.7¢ $ 34.0¢ $21.4¢ $ 24.6¢

We declared and paid cash dividends totaling $ar2#$0.21 per outstanding common share over theseat fiscal 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

In June 2012, our Board of Directors declared atgug cash dividend of $0.06 per share of outstandommon stock payable on August 3,
2012 to stockholders of record as of the closeusfriess on July 13, 2012. We currently expect tdgiooe paying comparable cash dividends
on a quarterly basis; however, future declaratafrdividends and the establishment of future re@rd payment dates are subject to the final
determination of our Board of Directors.

For equity compensation plan information, pleaderr® Item 12 in Part Ill of this Annual Report.

Stock Repurchase Progran

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $atourepurchase shares of our common stock. Onriteee20, 2011, we announced that
our Board of Directors approved an expansion ofsbock repurchase program by an additional $51hilOn June 18, 2012, we announced
that our Board of Directors approved a further ergian by an additional $10.0 billion. Approximat&$.1 billion remained available for stock
repurchases as of May 31, 2012 pursuant to ouk segrrchase program prior to the additional amauwrtthorized in June 2012.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchasetgavill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquaitions and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchases of our dt
our stock price and economic and market conditins. stock repurchases may be effected from timarte through open market purchase
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repupaggram may be accelerated, suspended, delaykscontinued at any time.

The following table summarizes the stock repurctaadivity for the three months ended May 31, 204@ #he approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to @tk stpurchase program:

Total Number of

Approximate Dollar

Total Number Average Price Shares Value of Shares that
PurchasedA as May Yet Be Purchase

Part of Publicly

of Shares Paid per Announced

(in millions, except per share amounts Purchased Share Programs Under the Programs
March 1, 201—March 31, 201: 18.€ $ 29.4¢ 18.€ $ 5,055.!
April 1, 201—April 30, 2012 32.c $ 28.9i 32.: $ 4,119.!
May 1, 201—May 31, 201z 36.€ $ 27.1¢ 36.€ $ 3,119t

Total 87.7 $ 28.3¢ 87.7
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcler return on our common stock with the cumuéatbtal return of the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Information Technology Index for eatthe last five fiscal years ended May 31, 20128uasng an investment of $100 at the
beginning of such period and the reinvestment gfdividends. The comparisons in the graphs bel@based upon historical data and are not
indicative of, nor intended to forecast, futurefpenance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Oracle Corporation, the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Information Technology Index

$20 mm—m—m— e e e e e e e -
200
D s1z0
0 §
L
L
A
g $100
550
30
507 508 500 510 511 512
—— Oracle Comporation — fe = SEP 500 4= AP Information Technokogy
*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2007 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS
5/07 5/08 5/09 5/10 5/11 5/12
Oracle Corporation 100.0( 117.8¢ 101.3¢ 117.7¢ 179.9( 140.2¢
S&P 500 Inde» 100.0( 93.31 62.9: 76.1- 95.87 95.4¢
S&P Information Technology Inde 100.0( 102.5¢ 73.0¢ 93.8¢ 113.7( 122.3(
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financiatadas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heikected financial data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetseand related notes included in Item 15 of tmsidal Report. Over the last five fiscal
years, we have acquired a number of companiesdimguSun Microsystems, Inc. in fiscal 2010 and B&ystems, Inc. in fiscal 2008, ama
others. The results of our acquired companies baee included in our consolidated financial statesisince their respective dates of
acquisition and have contributed to our growthemenues, income, earnings per share and totakasset

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

(in millions, except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Total revenue $ 37,12. $ 3562. $ 26,82( $ 23,25! $ 22,43(
Operating incomi $ 13,70¢ $ 12,03¢ $ 9,062 $ 8,321 $ 7,84«
Net income $ 9981 $ 8547 $ 6,13t $ 559 $ 5,521
Earnings per sha—basic $ 19 ¢ 16¢ $ 122 $ 11C $ 1.0¢
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 19 $ 167 $ 121 $ 10 $ 1.0¢
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 5,01t 5,04¢ 5,014 5,07( 5,13:
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 5,09t 5,12¢ 5,07: 5,13(C 5,22¢
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ 024 $ 021 $ 02 $ 0.0t % —
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Working capital® $ 2463t $2498. $ 12,311 $ 943 $ 8,07«
Total asset $ 78,327 $ 7363t $61,57¢ $ 47,41¢ $ 47,26¢
Notes payable and other borrowir® $ 16,47« $ 15,92 $ 14,65 $ 10,23t $ 11,23¢

(1) Total working capital sequentially increased instperiods primarily due to the favorable impacbtir net current assets resulting from our netrine generated during these periods
and the issuances of $3.25 billion and $4.5 bilbblong-term senior notes in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 20&8pectively. These increases were partially offgetash used for acquisitio
and repurchases of common stock in all periodseptesl and repayments of certain of our senior rintéiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 and dividend paysemade in fiscal 2012, 2011,
2010 and 200¢

(2 Our notes payable and other borrowings, whichessnted the summation of our notes payable, dusrehother current borrowings and notes payahdeosimer non-current
borrowings as reported per our consolidated balaheets as of the dates listed in the table alymregrally increased between fiscal 2008 and 20&2althe issuances of $1.7 billion
and $1.15 billion of short-term borrowings madesuamt to our revolving credit agreements in fig2 and 2011, respectively, $3.25 billion of Idegn senior notes in fiscal 2011
and $4.5 billion of long-term senior notes in fis2810. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Fira@rgatements, included elsewhere in this AnnugldRefor additional information
regarding our notes payable and other borrowi
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Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis nak¢ial Condition and Results of Operations wittoaerview of our key operating
business segments and significant trends. Thisvaiis followed by a summary of our critical acoting policies and estimates that we
believe are important to understanding the assum@tnd judgments incorporated in our reportechfifed results. We then provide a more
detailed analysis of our results of operations famhcial condition.

Business Overview

We are the world’s largest provider of enterprisivgare and a leading provider of computer hardvpaioglucts and services. Our software,
hardware systems, and services businesses dewaopfacture, market, host and support databasenattleware software, applications
software, and hardware systems, with the lattesisting primarily of computer server and storagedpicts. Our businesses provide products
and services that are built upon industry standandsengineered to work together or independenitlyin existing customer information
technology (IT) environments and run securely avide range of customer IT environments, includitaud computing environments.

Cloud computing environments provide on demandsteea shared pool of computing resources inlatslea self-service manner, delivering
advantages in speed, agility and efficiency. Cloaghputing has evolved from technologies and seswilcat Oracle has provided for many
years, including clustering, server virtualizati@grvice-Oriented Architecture (SOA), shared services,datple management automation,
more recently, engineered systems. Our securapteland scalable product offerings are designéupoove business efficiencies at a low
total cost of ownership. We seek to be an industider in each of the product offering categomesfich we compete and to expand into new
and emerging markets

We believe our ability to offer our customers cleodmd flexibility in the manner in which they deplour products and services—while
maintaining enterprise-grade reliability, secustyd interoperability based upon industry-standarndssportant to our corporate strategy.
Oracle Fusion Applications, for example, offer cusérs a choice of deployment models to run ourdstats-based software applications in on-
premise or cloud computing IT environments. Or&dieud, a family of our cloud-based software sulpgn offerings, provides access to
select Oracle software applications and softwaatfquims on a subscription basis in a secure, stdee@ased cloud computing environment.
Oracle Cloud includes software applications asreicg® such as Oracle Fusion Human Capital Manage@kud Service and Oracle Fusion
Customer Relationship Management Cloud Service saftivare platform services such as Oracle DataGémad Service and Oracle Java
Cloud Service, among others.

We believe our internal growth and continued inrimrawith respect to our software, hardware andises businesses are the foundation of
our long-term strategic plans. In each of fiscal2@nd 2011, we invested $4.5 billion and in fi2@10 we invested $3.3 billion in research
and development to enhance our existing portfdliproducts and services and to develop new produaisservices. We continue to focus the
engineering of our hardware and software productadke them work together more effectively andwéelimproved computing performance,
reliability, and security to our customers. Forrmyde, Oracle Engineered Systems, which includeQracle Exadata Database Machine, Ol
Exalogic Elastic Cloud, and SPARC SuperCluster petgl amongst others, combine certain of our harelaad software offerings to provide
engineered systems that increase computing perfarenand reduce storage requirements relative teaupetitors’ products, creating time
savings, efficiencies, and operational cost adgg#dor our customers.

We also believe that an active acquisition progiman important element of our corporate strategiy strengthens our competitive position,
enhances the products and services that we cantoffeistomers, expands our customer base, progigeger scale to accelerate innovation,
grows our revenues and earnings and increaseshstidek value. In recent years, we have investdihd of dollars to acquire a number of
companies, products, services and technologiestithto, are complementary to, or have otherwisamced our existing offerings. We expect
to continue to acquire companies, products, sesvarel technologies to further our corporate stygateg
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We are organized into three businesses—softwardwaae systems and services—which are further dividto certain operating segments.
Prior to our acquisition of Sun Microsystems, If8un) in January 2010, we did not have a hardwgstess business or related operating
segments. Each of our businesses and operatingeséghras unique characteristics and faces diffeqgmortunities and challenges. Although
we report our actual results in U.S. Dollars, wadwct a significant number of transactions in cocres other than U.S. Dollars. Therefore, we
present constant currency information to provideaxmework for assessing how our underlying busieeg®erformed excluding the effect of
foreign currency rate fluctuations. An overviewoolr three businesses and related operating segriodotss.

Software Busines

Our software business, which represented 70%, 68% @% of our total revenues in fiscal 2012, 204d 2010, respectively, is comprised of
two operating segments: (1) new software licenses(2) software license updates and product supPor. constant currency basis, we ex
that our software business’ total revenues genevall continue to increase due to continued demfamaur software products and software
license updates and product support offeringsuding the high percentage of customers that rehew software license updates and product
support contracts and due to our acquisitions, whiwuld allow us to grow our profits and continoenake investments in research and
development.

New Software License: We license our database and middleware asaselur applications software and provide subsorighiased access
to select Oracle software applications and softyadaforms through a cloud-based IT environmertiusinesses of many sizes, government
agencies, educational institutions and resellgns. growth in new software license revenues thatepert is affected by the strength of general
economic and business conditions, governmentaldtadg constraints, the competitive position of saoftware products, our acquisitions and
foreign currency fluctuations. The substantial migjoof our new software license business is alsaracterized by long sales cycles. The
timing of a few large software license transactiocas substantially affect our quarterly new sofeviicense revenues. Since our new software
license revenues in a particular quarter can Wbeedlif to predict as a result of the timing of avféarge software license transactions, we believe
that analysis of new software license revenues toailang 4-quarter period (as provided in our Qady Reports on Form 10-Q) provides
additional visibility into the underlying performe of our new software license business. New soéieense revenues represented 27%,
and 28% of our total revenues in fiscal 2012, 284d 2010, respectively. The proportion of our neWvgare license revenues relative to our
total revenues was affected by our entry into taelWvare systems business as a result of our atgnisf Sun in the third quarter of fiscal
2010. Our new software license segmgmtargins have historically trended upward overctherse of the four quarters within a particulacé
year due to the historical upward trend of our seftware license revenues over those quarterlpger@nd because the majority of our c

for this segment are predominantly fixed in thersterm. However, our new software license segnsemiargins have been and will continu

be affected by fair value adjustments relatinghdloud software subscription obligations thatagssumed in business combinations (desc
further below) and by the amortization of intangilblsets associated with companies and technolbgiese have acquired.

We recorded adjustments to reduce obligations undieassumed cloud software subscription offeringsusiness combinations to their
estimated fair values at the acquisition datesa Assult, as required by business combination attoayrules, we did not recognize cloud
software subscription revenues as a part of oursatware licenses revenues that would have bderwise recorded as revenues by the
acquired businesses as independent entities imntloeint of $22 million in fiscal 2012. To the extenderlying cloud software subscription
contracts are renewed with us following an acqoisjtwe will recognize the revenues for the fullueaof the cloud software subscription
contracts over the contract periods.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Customers that purchase software license up@aig product support are granted rights to
unspecified product upgrades and maintenance edéssued during the support period, as well dmieal support assistance. Substantiall

of our customers renew their software license wgxlahd product support contracts annually. The trafvsoftware license updates and
product support revenues is primarily influencedHtrge factors: (1) the percentage of our supptract customer base that renews its
support contracts, (2) the amount of new suppartrects sold in connection
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with the sale of new software licenses and (3atieunt of support contracts assumed from compavedsave acquired.

Software license updates and product support reagmwhich represented 43%, 42% and 49% of our teta@nues in fiscal 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively, is our highest margin busingsts The proportion of our software license updatad product support revenues relative to
our total revenues was affected by our entry iheohardware systems business as a result of ouisé@n of Sun in the third quarter of fiscal
2010. Margins during fiscal 2012 were 87% and anteaifor 72% of our total margins over the saméopleiOur software license update and
product support margins have been affected by#dire adjustments relating to software supportgattions assumed in business combinations
(described further below) and by amortization déngible assets. However, over the longer termbelieve that software license updates and
product support revenues and margins will growttierfollowing reasons:

» substantially all of our customers, including cuséss from acquired companies, renew their supmortracts when eligible for
renewal;

» substantially all of our customers purchase softviaense updates and product support contracts tiey buy new softwai
licenses, resulting in a further increase in oypsut contract base. Even if new software liceesenues growth was flat, software
license updates and product support revenues veouitinue to grow in comparison to the correspongingr year periods
assuming renewal and cancellation rates and fo@igency rates remained relatively constant sgutestantially all new software
license transactions result in the sale of softiiaemse updates and product support contractsshwddd to our support contract
base; ani

* our acquisitions have increased our support conbriase, as well as the portfolio of products awé@do be licensed and support

We recorded adjustments to reduce support obligatesumed in business combinations to their egtihfair values at the acquisition dates.
As a result, as required by business combinaticowating rules, we did not recognize software Iggenpdates and product support revenues
related to software support contracts that woultehzeen otherwise recorded by the acquired bugisessindependent entities in the amounts
of $48 million, $80 million and $86 million in fist 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. To the exiaderlying support contracts are renewed
with us following an acquisition, we will recognitiee revenues for the full value of the supporttmts over the support periods, the majority
of which are one year.

Hardware Systems Busine:

Our hardware systems business consists of two tipgisegments: (1) hardware systems products grite(@ware systems support. Our
hardware business represented 17%, 19% and 9% ¢dtalirevenues in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 201(eesvely. We expect our hardware
business to have lower operating margins as a pege of revenues than our software business dile imcremental costs we incur to
produce and distribute these products and to peosighport services, including direct materials labdr costs. We expect to make investments
in research and development to improve existingware products and services and to develop newMaaedproducts and services.

Hardware Systems Product We provide a complete selection of hardwaréesys and related services including servers, storag
networking, virtualization software, operating g, and management software to support diversaifonments, including public and
private cloud computing environments. We enginegrardware systems with virtualization and manag@noapabilities to enable the rapid
deployment and efficient management of cloud infrecsures. Our hardware systems products consisipity of computer server, storage ¢
hardware-related software, including our OracleaBsloperating system. Our hardware systems conmp@neducts are designed to be “open,”
or to work in customer environments that may inelather Oracle or non-Oracle hardware or softwareponents. We have also engineered
our hardware systems products to create performamt@perational cost advantages for customers whehardware and software products
are combined as Oracle Engineered Systems.
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Our Oracle Engineered Systems include Oracle Eaddatabase Machine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cl@rdgcle Exalytics In-Memory
Machine, SPARC SuperCluster, Oracle Database Apgdiand the Oracle Big Data Appliance. By combirdngserver and storage hardware
with our software, our open, integrated productssbe@ddress customer on-premise and cloud conpreiquirements for performance,
scalability, reliability, security, ease of managemand lower total cost of ownership.

We offer a wide range of server systems using 8&&RC microprocessor. Our SPARC servers are diffeata by their reliability, security,
scalability and customer environments that thegdaafgeneral purpose or specialized systems). GQusine and large servers are designed to
offer greater performance and lower total costwfiership than mainframe systems for business akitipplications and for customers having
more computationally intensive needs. Our SPAR@essirun the Oracle Solaris operating system aadl@signed for the most demanding
mission critical enterprise environments at anyesca

We also offer enterprise x86 servers. These x8&s&are primarily based on microprocessor platfoftmm Intel Corporation and are also
compatible with Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Misaft Windows and other operating systems.

Our Netra line of servers are aimed at the unicrezla of original equipment manufacturers (OEMs)ragtd/ork equipment providers. Rack-
optimized systems and our blade product offerimgahine high-density hardware architecture and systenagement software that OEMs
find particularly useful in building their own saion architectures.

Our storage products are designed to securely neapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, hardware-related software including file sys$ software, backp and archive software and storage managememtasefaind networkin
for mainframe and open systems environments.

The majority of our hardware systems products ale through indirect channels, including indeperidéstributors and value added resellers.

To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathirternal manufacturing operations as well agdtparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoiflfinal assembly, test and quality control ofexptise and data center servers and storage
systems. For all other manufacturing, we rely ardtparty manufacturing partners. We distribute tradour hardware products either from
facilities or partner facilities. We strive to remucosts by simplifying our manufacturing proceshesugh increased standardization of
components across product types and a “build-terdnthanufacturing process in which products gemegak built only after customers have
placed firm orders. In addition, we seek to enhdrarelware systems support processes that are ddgigiproactively identify and solve
quality issues and to increase the amount of nedwere systems support contracts sold in connegetitinthe sales of new hardware produ

Our hardware systems products revenues, cost divaae systems products and operating margins thaeport are affected by the strength of
general economic and business conditions, govertahendgetary constraints, our strategy for andctirapetitive position of our hardware
systems products, our acquisitions and foreignenuny rate fluctuations. In addition, our operatmnargins for our hardware systems products
segment have been and will be affected by the @matidn of intangible assets.

We have limited experience in predicting our quéyteardware systems products revenues. The timirmyistomer orders and delays in our
ability to timely manufacture or deliver a few lartransactions could substantially affect the amofihardware systems products revenues,
expenses and operating margins that we report.

Hardware Systems Suppot  Our hardware systems support offerings proeiggomers with software updates for the softwarepmments
that are essential to the functionality of our serand storage products, such as Oracle Soladszaminclude product repairs, maintenance
services and technical support services. Typically,hardware systems support contract arrangeraemigivoiced to the customer at the
beginning of the support period and are one yedumtion. Our hardware systems support revenwsswh report are influenced by a
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number of factors, including the volume of purclsasthardware products, the mix of hardware praglparchased and the percentage of our
hardware systems support contract customer baseeti@ws its support contracts. All of these faxtne heavily influenced by our customers’
decisions to either maintain or upgrade their éxgshardware systems’ infrastructure to newly depetl technologies that are available.

Our hardware systems support margins have beewiliige affected by our acquisitions and relatedaamting including fair value
adjustments relating to hardware systems supptigatlons assumed and by the amortization of intalegassets. As required by business
combination accounting rules, we recorded adjustst@nreduce our hardware systems support revédouesntracts assumed from our
acquisitions to their estimated fair values. Thes®unts would have been recorded as hardware systgoport revenues by the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amotii@anillion, $148 million and $128 million fordcal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

To the extent underlying hardware systems suppotracts are renewed with us following an acquisitive will recognize the revenues for
the full values of the hardware systems supportreots over the support periods.

Services Busines

Our services business is comprised of the remaioideur operating segments and offers consultimgiaes, managed cloud services and
education services. Our services business, whiptesented 13% of our total revenues in each cdlfid@12 and 2011 and 14% of our total
revenues in fiscal 2010, has lower margins tharsottwvare and hardware businesses. The proporfioarcservices revenues relative to our
total revenues was affected by our entry into tielWare systems business as a result of our atgaisf Sun in the third quarter of fiscal
2010. Our services revenues are impacted by cestaior acquisitions, general economic conditiggegsonnel reductions in our customers’ IT
departments, tighter controls over discretionagnsiing and the growth in our software and hardwgstems products revenues.

Our consulting line of business primarily providesvices to customers in business and IT stratigynaent, enterprise architecture planning
and design, initial product implementation and gné&tion and ongoing product enhancements and upgrddie amount of consulting revenues
recognized tends to lag the amount of our softaarkhardware systems products revenues by sewerdbcs since consulting services, if
purchased, are typically segmentable from the przdwith which they relate and are performed aftercustomer’s purchase of the products.
Our services revenues as they relate to considéngces are dependent upon general economic comsland the level of our product
revenues, in particular the new software licensessaf our application products. To the extent weeable to grow our products revenues, in
particular our software application product revesywee would also generally expect to be able toteagdly grow our consulting revenues.

Oracle managed cloud services provide comprehessiftware and hardware management and maintenandees—including deployment,
management, monitoring, patching, security and agbgservices—for customers hosted at our Oractedadatter facilities, select partner data
centers, or physically on-premise at customerifasl Additionally, we provide support servicesttbon-premise and remote, to Oracle
customers to enable increased performance andrhaghdability of their products and services. Wadidve that our managed cloud services
offerings provide our customers with greater valnd choice through increased business performaadeced risk, a predictable cost and n
flexibility in terms of service in order to maxingizhe performance of their Oracle software andward products and services.

Education services provide training to customeastners and employees as a part of our missioartbefr the adoption and usage of our
software and hardware products by our customersagale opportunities to grow our products revenues

Acquisitions

An active acquisition program is another importlement of our corporate strategy. In recent yemeshave invested billions of dollars to
acquire a number of complementary companies, ptedservices and technologies including Taleo Catjian (Taleo) and RightNow
Technologies, Inc (RightNow) in fiscal 2012,
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and Art Technology Group, Inc. (ATG) and Phase Foduncorporated (Phase Forward) in fiscal 201 1gragothers. We believe our
acquisition program strengthens our competitivetjpss enhances the products and services thataneffer to customers, expands our
customer base, provides greater scale to accelarateation, grows our revenues and earnings arr@ases stockholder value. We expect to
continue to acquire companies, products, servindgechnologies in furtherance of our corporatategy. Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport provides additional information relatedur recent acquisitions.

We believe we can fund our future acquisitions witin internally available cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securities, cash generated
from operations, additional borrowings or from tbguance of additional securities. We estimatdittacial impact of any potential
acquisition with regard to earnings, operating rimargash flow and return on invested capital tagdpetfore deciding to move forward with an
acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmirinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aaating Standards Codification (Codification) and sigier the various staff accounting
bulletins and other applicable guidance issuechBySEC. GAAP, as set forth within the Codificaticequires us to make certain estimates,
judgments and assumptions. We believe that thmasds, judgments and assumptions upon which wearelyeasonable based uj

information available to us at the time that thesttmates, judgments and assumptions are madee €sémates, judgments and assumptions
can affect the reported amounts of assets anditiebias of the date of the financial statemestsvall as the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the periods presented. To thetakiene are differences between these estimagmients or assumptions and actual results,
our financial statements will be affected. The agting policies that reflect our more significastimates, judgments and assumptions and
which we believe are the most critical to aid ilyfwinderstanding and evaluating our reported faiaresults include the following:

» Revenue Recognitic

» Business Combinatior

» Goodwill and Intangible Asse—Impairment Assessmer
» Accounting for Income Taxe

» Legal and Other Contingenci

» Stock-Based Compensatic

» Allowances for Doubtful Account

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a péaticransaction is specifically dictated by GAARJaloes not require management’s
judgment in its application. There are also areastiich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alterrestiwould not produce a
materially different result. Our senior manageniead reviewed the below critical accounting polices related disclosures with the Finance
and Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitio

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software, Wwiicludes new software license revenues earned giranting licenses to use our software
products and fees from cloud software subscriptiderings, and software license updates and proslygport revenues; (2) hardware systems,
which includes the sale of hardware systems predactuding computer servers and storage prodaothardware systems support revenues;
and (3) services, which includes software and hardwelated services including consulting, managdedd services and education revenues.
Revenue generally is recognized net of any taxksated from customers and subsequently remittegbte@rnmental authorities.

43



Table of Contents

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and SwévRelated Services (Software Elements)

New software license revenues primarily represeas £arned from granting customers licenses towsaatabase, middleware a
applications software and exclude revenues defficed software license updates, which are inclugesbiftware license updates and product
support revenues. The basis for our new softwaemsie revenue recognition is substantially govehyetthe accounting guidance contained in
ASC 985-605Software-Revenue Recognitiowe exercise judgment and use estimates in coonegith the determination of the amount of
software and services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software license revenues when: (1) we enter inégally binding arrangement with a customer fa libense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undattas; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftsastause the foregoing conditions are not meteaagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howéf/acceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are exjby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theeoiegreement and are short-term in nature, werg#y recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the acceptance terms are perfunctory hioth@r revenue recognition criteria have been. ifigtcceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions @@ long-term in nature or are not included aadrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

The vast majority of our software license arrangetsi@clude software license updates and prodymat contracts, which are entered into at
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software petdipgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagldaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teehnantent, as well as internet and telephone adoet®chnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsarerglly priced as a percentage of the net newaodtlicense fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updateperdiict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Software Products and Software Related Servicetn@® Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customerspihichase both software related products and sodtwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another gekd to as software related multiple-element greaments). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our sodtpeoducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliigefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneoligedg of the other elements. For those
software related multiplelement arrangements, we have applied the residetlod to determine the amount of software licemsenues to k
recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Under the uasiohethod, if fair value exists for undeliveredraknts in a multiple-element
arrangement, such fair value of the undeliverethelds is deferred with the remaining portion of éinengement consideration recognized
upon delivery of the software license or serviaegarggement. We allocate the fair value of each elgrof a software related multiple-element
arrangement based upon its fair value as deterntipexdir vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE-saiibed further below), with any
remaining amount allocated to the software license.

Revenue Recognition for Hardware Systems Prodhetsjware Systems Related Services and Cloud Saft®albscription Offerings
(Nonsoftware Elements)

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejutssent amounts earned primarily from the sbt®mputer servers and storage
products. Our revenue recognition policy for thesasoftware deliverables and
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other nonsoftware deliverables including hardwastesns related services and cloud software sulisnripfferings is based upon the
accounting guidance contained in ASC 6RByenue Recognitigrand we exercise judgment and use estimates imection with the
determination of the amount of hardware systemdymts, hardware systems related services revemdesl@ud software subscription
revenues to be recognized in each accounting period

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenaateecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence affamgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsg€8) the sale price is fixed or determinable] é4) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eflsadause the foregoing conditions are not matamgnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce reasefar estimated returns or certain other incergiograms where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iaié an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiarited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions @@ long-term in nature or are not included asdrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the smitwcomponents that are essential to the
functionality of our server and storage products ean also include product repairs, maintenanocgdcgsr and technical support services.
Hardware systems support contracts are generatlggpas a percentage of the net hardware systesdsgs fees. Hardware systems support
contracts are entered into at the customer’s oti@hare recognized ratably over the contractual t# the arrangements, which are typically
one year.

Our cloud software subscription offerings generpligvide customers access to certain of our soéwathin a cloud-based IT environment
that we manage and offer to customers on a sultiseripasis. Revenues for our cloud software supsori offerings are recognized ratably
over the contract term commencing with the dateseuvice is made available to customers and aflratvenue recognition criteria have been
satisfied.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Hardware Systems Products and Hardware Systemsed®letervices (Nonsoftwe
Arrangements

We enter into arrangements with customers thathase both nonsoftware related products and serfricesus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as wéimgre multiple-element arrangements). Each eléméhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uagoofunting provided the following criteria are ntee delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righttoirn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgyeoduct or service is considered probable asdlstantially controlled by us. We consider
a deliverable to have standalone value if the pcbduservice is sold separately by us or anoteeder or could be resold by the customer.
Further, our revenue arrangements generally dinobtde a general right of return relative to tkedivcered products. Where the aforementic
criteria for a separate unit of accounting aremet, the deliverable is combined with the undeldeelement(s) and treated as a single unit of
accounting for the purposes of allocation of thramgement consideration and revenue recognitiontHése units of accounting that include
more than one deliverable but are treated as desimit of accounting, we generally recognize rexenover the delivery period. For the
purposes of revenue classification of the elemiinraisare accounted for as a single unit of accagntive allocate revenue to the respective
revenue line items within our consolidated statetmehoperations based on a rational and consistetttodology utilizing our best estimate of
relative selling prices of such elements.

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememésallocate revenue to each element based onitagsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdohupon the following selling price hierarchy: S®available, third party evidence (TPE)

if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling pr{ESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available (@cdption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanssystems product includes software, we determieher the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheelwet the product’s essential functionality arfd, i
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so, the entire product is treated as a nonsoftdelieerable. The total arrangement consideratiailixated to each separate unit of accounting
for each of the nonsoftware deliverables using ¢tetive selling prices of each unit based on fieeeanentioned selling price hierarchy. We
limit the amount of revenue recognized for deliceetements to an amount that is not contingent diptume delivery of additional products or
services or meeting of any specified performancelitmns.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in nonsoftware multiple-elemenaagements using the price charged for a
deliverable when sold separately and for softwiaenke updates and product support and hardwatensysupport, based on the renewal rates
offered to customers. TPE is established by evialgaimilar and interchangeable competitor prodoctservices in standalone arrangements
with similarly situated customers. If we are unableletermine the selling price because VSOE or &5 not exist, we determine ESP for
purposes of allocating the arrangement by reviewistprical transactions, including transactionsevety the deliverable was sold on a
standalone basis and considering several othemaktand internal factors including, but not lindite, pricing practices including discounting,
margin objectives, competition, the geographiestiich we offer our products and services, the typeustomer (i.e. distributor, value added
reseller, government agency and direct end usesngrathers) and the stage of the product lifecyte determination of ESP is made thro
consultation with and approval by our managemaking into consideration our pricing model and gevtarket strategy. As our, or our
competitors’, pricing and go-to-market strategieslee, we may modify our pricing practices in theure, which could result in changes to our
determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. As a resultfature revenue recognition for multiple-elemembaagements could differ materially
from our results in the current period. Sellingcps are analyzed on an annual basis or more fridgulmwe experience significant changes in
our selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to botht®afe and Nonsoftware Elements

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements—Arrangements with SoftwadeNomsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemergsitiay include a combination of our various sofevealated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including hardveystems products, hardware systems support, néwegeflicenses, software license upd
and product support, cloud software subscriptionsalting, managed cloud services and educatiosudh arrangements, we first allocate the
total arrangement consideration based on the velaglling prices of the software group of elemests: whole and to the nonsoftware
elements. We then further allocate consideratighiwihe software group to the respective elemeittsin that group following the guidance
ASC 985-605 and our policies as described abovter Atie arrangement consideration has been albtatihe elements, we account for each
respective element in the arrangement as descaibevk.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable tim&oe and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include conggilitimplementation services sold separately undeswdting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Congukvenues from these arrangements are genadhunted for separately from new
software license revenues because the arrangemealiy as services transactions as defined in A88-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmiaccounted for separately include the natlisexvices (i.e. consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalittheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantaierbn the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthdtere is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for the
consulting services, revenues are deferred urilticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimidwe proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isastilizing hours incurred to date as a percentagetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcaswee progress towards completion, revenues angmeed when we receive final acceptance
from the customer that the services have been @isthlWhen total cost estimates exceed revenueacaevee for the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully
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burdened daily rate applicable to the consultirgaaization delivering the services. The complegityhe estimation process and factors
relating to the assumptions, risks and uncertaintiberent with the application of the proportiopatformance method of accounting affects
the amounts of revenues and related expensesedpnrour consolidated financial statements. A neindf internal and external factors can
affect our estimates, including labor rates, witiian and efficiency variances and specificatiod #asting requirement changes.

Our managed cloud services are offered as starglalvangements or as a part of arrangements torsest buying new software licenses or
hardware systems products and services. Oraclegedr@doud services are designed to provide compsie software and hardware
management and maintenance services for custorastachat our Oracle data center facilities, sgladner data centers or physically on-
premise at customer facilities. Additionally, wepide support services, both on-premise and rentmi®racle customers to enable increased
performance and higher availability of their produand services. Depending upon the nature ofrla@gement, revenues from managed c
services are recognized as services are performedably over the term of the service period, whikgenerally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsmess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveareegecognized as the classes or other educafierngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements aret dwt qualify for separate accounting for the pob@nd service transactions, then new
software license revenues and/or hardware systemdsigts revenues, including the costs of hardwgstems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based orracraccounting using either the percentage-of-detiom or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safewhardware systems and services arrangementeatinclude milestones or customer
specific acceptance criteria that may affect ctidecof the software license or hardware systerngyet fees; (2) where consulting services
include significant modification or customizatiohtbe software or hardware systems product or heespecialized nature and generally
performed only by Oracle; (3) where significant solting services are provided for in the softwacernse contract or hardware systems
product contract without additional charge or aressantially discounted; or (4) where the softwarense or hardware systems product
payment is tied to the performance of consultingises. For the purposes of revenue classificatifothe elements that are accounted for as a
single unit of accounting, we allocate revenuesditware and nonsoftware elements based on a ahtiol consistent methodology utilizing
our best estimate of the relative selling pricewdh elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentéiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential’ uf the software or hardware systems productstlaaglanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye iletermine upon execution of these arrangentleatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suaiterahination cannot be made, revenues are
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@ggrof the applicable funding provision by the govmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalte éime of sale and recognize revenues if akkotvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 daysettr, payment terms may vary based on the coimtmhich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gegaetaémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoccessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requireeriifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within louginesses include short-term payment terms, we &atandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers thghwur financing division. Since fiscal 1989, wham financing division was formed, we
have established a history of collection, withcoh@essions, on these receivables with payment tirangenerally extend up to five years fi
the contract date. Provided all other revenue neitiog criteria have been met, we recognize newnsok license revenues and hardware
systems products revenues for these arrangemeotsdgtivery, net of any payment discounts
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from financing transactions. We have generally setseivables financed through our financing divisam a non-recourse basis to third party
financing institutions within 90 days of the comtisl dates of execution and we classify the prosdesin these sales as cash flows from
operating activities in our consolidated statementsash flows. We account for the sales of theseivables as “true sales” as defined in ASC
860, Transfers and Servicingas we are considered to have surrendered caritioése financing receivables.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with leggiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeodugts. These leasing companies, in turn,
lease our products to end-users. The leasing caegpganerally have no recourse to us in the evieiefault by the end-user and we recognize
revenue upon delivery, if all the other revenuegsition criteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliersauasionally, we have purchased goods or serviarasuf operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedaodhese same companies (Concurrent Transagti®ofiware license agreements or sales
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@ath time period from the date we have purchasedg or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment dadasure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @mselin cash. We recognize new software
license revenues or hardware systems product regdnom Concurrent Transactions if all of our raxemnecognition criteria are met and the
goods and services acquired are necessary foruoent operations.

Business Combination

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@gius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased at their acquisition date fair values. Godldhgi of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred and thefrthe acquisition date fair values of the asaetpiired and the liabilities assumed. While we
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvalak assets acquired and liabilities assum@éukeadcquisition date, our estimates are
inherently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period, which beayp to one year from the acquisition
date, we record adjustments to the assets accaumetlabilities assumed with the correspondingeiffe goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of thHeies of assets acquired or liabilities assumedcheévier comes first, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded to our consolidated seattnof operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires ocanagement to make significant estimates and asgumpespecially at the acquisition d
including our estimates for intangible assets, i@mtial obligations assumed, restructuring liab8sit pre-acquisition contingencies and
contingent consideration, where applicable. AltHouge believe the assumptions and estimates werhade in the past have been reasonable
and appropriate, they are based in part on histioexperience and information obtained from the ag@ment of the acquired companies and
are inherently uncertain.

Examples of critical estimates in valuing certaiith@ intangible assets we have acquired includeatainot limited to:

 future expected cash flows from software licendessdardware systems product sales, support agreejtonsulting contract
other customer contracts, acquired developed tégobies and patent:

» expected costs to develop th-process research and development into commergialbfe products and estimated cash flows fi
the projects when complete

» the acquired company’s brand and competitive pmsiths well as assumptions about the period of tieecquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined com|'s product portfolio; an

» discount rates
Unanticipated events and circumstances may ocatintay affect the accuracy or validity of such agstions, estimates or actual results.
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We estimate the fair values of cloud software stipson, software license updates and product sttpgrad hardware systems support
obligations assumed. The estimated fair valuebadgd performance obligations are determined uttgia cost build-up approach. The cost
build-up approach determines fair value by estingathe costs related to fulfilling the obligatiguisis a normal profit margin. The estimated
costs to fulfill the obligations are based on tietdrical direct costs related to providing thevésgs including the correction of any errors in the
products acquired. The sum of these costs and tipggrofit approximates, in theory, the amountt thha would be required to pay a third pi

to assume the performance obligations. We do mbidie any costs associated with selling efforteesearch and development or the related
fulfilment margins on these costs. Profit assaawith any selling efforts is excluded becauseattopuired entities would have concluded
those selling efforts on the performance obligaiprior to the acquisition date. We also do noluide the estimated research and development
costs in our fair value determinations, as thes¢scare not deemed to represent a legal obligatitime time of acquisition. As a result, we did
not recognize new software licenses revenues tetateloud software subscription contracts in thmant of $22 million that would have been
otherwise recorded by the acquired businesseslap@mdent entities in fiscal 2012. We did not redizg software license updates and product
support revenues related to support contractsamthounts of $48 million, $80 million and $86 naiflithat would have been otherwise
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeedttigs in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respedfiviel addition, we did not recognize
hardware systems support revenues related to hegdyatems support contracts that would have oikeraeen recorded by the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amotii8danillion, $148 million and $128 million fordcal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Historically, substantially all of our customensciuding customers from acquired companies, reteiv software license updates and product
support contracts when the contracts are eligitmlednewal and we strive to renew cloud softwalkesstiption and hardware systems support
contracts. To the extent cloud software subscrhiptsoftware support or hardware systems suppottacis are renewed, we will recognize the
revenues for the full values of the contracts dkiercontracts’ periods, which are generally one yreduration.

In connection with a business combination, we estiintosts associated with restructuring plans caétadio by our management.
Restructuring costs are typically comprised of ewypé severance costs, costs of consolidating dplfacilities and contract termination
costs. Restructuring expenses are based upontplrisave been committed to by our managementnbytbe refined in subsequent periods.
We account for costs to exit or restructure cergaitivities of an acquired company separately ftbenbusiness combination. These costs are
accounted for as one-time termination and exitpatsuant to ASC 42&xit or Disposal Cost ObligationsA liability for a cost associated
with an exit or disposal activity is recognized andasured at its fair value in our consolidatetestant of operations in the period in which
liability is incurred. When estimating the fair ual of facility restructuring activities, assumpsoare applied regarding estimated sub-lease
payments to be received, which can differ matseridm actual results. This may require us to redar initial estimates which may materie
affect our results of operations and financial posiin the period the revision is made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4acquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiate and may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafficient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of thevédile estimates of assets acquired and lialsilaEsumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.

If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteglaby the end of the measurement
period, which is generally the case given the matidrsuch matters, we will recognize an assetliabdity for such pre-acquisition contingency
if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed omahility had been incurred at the acquisition datd (i) the amount of the asset or liability can b
reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurgerod, changes in our estimates of such conticigewill affect earnings and could have
a material effect on our results of operations famahcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax redataluation allowances assumed in connection whihsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cinaumoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary esteésdeing recorded to goodwill provided that wewitlin the measurement period.
Subsequent to the measurement period or our fetalhehination of the tax allowance’s or contingesagstimated value, whichever comes 1
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changes to these uncertain tax positions and tatetevaluation allowances will affect our provisifor income taxes in our consolidated
statement of operations and could have a matenjgh¢t on our results of operations and financialtpm.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Impairment Assessrtgen

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wieger events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with ASC 3Bflangibles—Goodwill and OtherEffective fiscal 2012, we opted to perform a dfaéive assessment
to test a reporting unit’s goodwill for impairmeBased on our qualitative assessment, if we deterithiat the fair value of a reporting unit is
more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of moreath50 percent) to be less than its carrying amdhbetiwo step impairment test will be
performed. In the first step, we compare the falue of each reporting unit to its carrying vallighe fair value of the reporting unit exceeds
the carrying value of the net assets assignedatauttit, goodwill is not considered impaired andawe not required to perform further testing.
If the carrying value of the net assets assignall@éaeporting unit exceeds the fair value of gq@orting unit, then we must perform the second
step of the impairment test in order to determiveeitnplied fair value of the reporting unit's goatdwif the carrying value of a reporting unit's
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then weulgbrecord an impairment loss equal to the diffeeerOur reporting units are consistent with
our operating segments identified in Note 16 ofdddb Consolidated Financial Statements includseldiere in this Annual Report.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit ilwes the use of significant estimates and assumptibhese estimates and assumptions in
revenue growth rates and operating margins usedltolate projected future cash flows, risk-adjdstescount rates, future economic and
market conditions and determination of appropniaégket comparables. We base our fair value estsrateassumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are unpredictable and inhgrantertain. Actual future results may differ frdhose estimates. In addition, we make
certain judgments and assumptions in allocatingeshassets and liabilities to determine the cagyalues for each of our reporting units. Our
most recent annual goodwill impairment analysisicivtwas performed during the fourth quarter ofdis2012, did not result in a goodwill
impairment charge, nor did we record any goodwrilbairment in fiscal 2011 or 2010.

We make judgments about the recoverability of paseld finite lived intangible assets whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate
that an impairment may exist. Each period we evaltlze estimated remaining useful lives of purctastangible assets and whether events or
changes in circumstances warrant a revision toeimining periods of amortization. Recoverabilifyfinite lived intangible assets is measured
by comparison of the carrying amount of the asséte future undiscounted cash flows the asseqgeated to generate. We review indefinite
lived intangible assets for impairment annually arfgenever events or changes in circumstances iediica carrying value may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of indefinite livedangible assets is measured by comparison of thgimgramount of the asset to its fair value

the asset is considered to be impaired, the anafarty impairment is measured as the differencevden the carrying value and the fair value
of the impaired asset.

Assumptions and estimates about future values@mdining useful lives of our intangible and otrerd-lived assets are complex and
subjective. They can be affected by a variety ofdes, including external factors such as induatrgt economic trends and internal factors such
as changes in our business strategy and our ihtenegasts. Although we believe the historicaluasptions and estimates we have made are
reasonable and appropriate, different assumptindsatimates could materially impact our reportedrfcial results. We did not recognize any
intangible asset impairment charges in fiscal 2@0D2,1 or 2010.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining eorldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucge of a global business, there are many
transactions and calculations where the ultimatetdcome is uncertain. Some of these uncertaiatisg as a consequence of revenue sharing
and cost reimbursement arrangements among relatitié® the process of identifying items of revesand expenses that qualify for
preferential tax treatment and segregation of fpr@ind domestic earnings and expenses to avoidedtaskation. Although we
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believe that our estimates are reasonable, thetirautcome of these matters could be differeminfthat which is reflected in our historical
income tax provisions and accruals. Such differermoeild have a material effect on our income tawigion and net income in the period in
which such determination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dertandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&es have been provided because such
earnings are planned to be indefinitely reinvestetdide the United States. Remittances of foreggniags to the United States are planned
based on projected cash flow, working capital av&stment needs of our foreign and domestic operatBased on these assumptions, we
estimate the amount that will be distributed toltheted States and provide U.S. federal taxes esetamounts. Material changes in our
estimates as to how much of our foreign earnindisbeidistributed to the United States or tax l&gien that limits or restricts the amount of
undistributed foreign earnings that we consideefmitely reinvested outside the United States douhterially impact our income tax
provision and effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In order for us to
realize our deferred tax assets, we must be algerterate sufficient taxable income in those juctimhs where the deferred tax assets are
located. We consider future growth, forecastedirgm future taxable income, the mix of earningthimjurisdictions in which we operate,
historical earnings, taxable income in prior ye#rsarryback is permitted under the law and pruderd feasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowancehinevent we were to determine that we would nalie to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmethietaleferred tax assets valuation allowance wbealdharged to earnings in the period in wl
we make such a determination, or goodwill wouldadpisted at our final determination of the valuatidlowance related to an acquisition
within the measurement period. If we later deteenthrat it is more likely than not that the net defd tax assets would be realized, we would
reverse the applicable portion of the previoustyvited valuation allowance as an adjustment toiegsmat such time.

We calculate our current and deferred tax providiased on estimates and assumptions that coutt &iéfim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.y&djustments based on filed returns are generatigrded in the period when the tax returns
are filed and the global tax implications are knpwhich can materially impact our effective taxerat

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to omgaiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich often result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outéonaay uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentabescription of our accounting policies
associated with tax related contingencies assumedpart of a business combination is provided utilasiness Combinations” above. For
those tax related contingencies that are not agbartusiness combination, we account for thesentiain tax issues pursuant to ASC 740,
Income Taxe, which contains a two-step approach to recogniaimgy measuring uncertain tax positions taken oeebga to be taken in a tax
return. The first step is to determine if the weighavailable evidence indicates that it is makely than not that the tax position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of anyatedl appeals or litigation processes. The secemdisto measure the tax benefit as the largest
amount that is more than 50% likely to be realigpdn ultimate settlement. Although we believe weehadequately reserved for our uncertain
tax positions, no assurance can be given with otgpehe final outcome of these matters. We adstrves for our uncertain tax positions

to changing facts and circumstances, such as tisingl of a tax audit, judicial rulings, refinemeftestimates or realization of earnings or
deductions that differ from our estimates. To thieet that the final outcome of these mattersfiedint than the amounts recorded, such
differences generally will impact our provision facome taxes in the period in which such a deteation is made. Our provisions for income
taxes include the impact of reserve provisions@rahges to reserves that are considered appropridtalso include the related interest and
penalties.

In addition, as a part of our accounting for busigneombinations, intangible assets are recogniziedr ¥alues and goodwill is measured as the
excess of consideration transferred over the righated fair values of assets acquired. Impairnsbarges associated with goodwill are
generally not tax deductible and will result ininoreased effective income tax rate in the periad &ny impairment is recorded. Amortization
expenses associated with acquired intangible aasetgenerally not tax deductible pursuant to aistieg tax structure; however, deferred
taxes have been recorded for non-deductible anatiiiz expenses as a part of the accounting fonbasicombinations. We have taken into
account the allocation of these identified intatgglamong different taxing jurisdictions, includitigpse with nominal or zero percent tax rates,
in establishing the related deferred tax liabidtie
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Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. A description of @agcounting policies associated with contingencgssimed as a part of a business combination
is provided under “Business Combinations” above.l&gal and other contingencies that are not agfatbusiness combination, we accrue a
liability for an estimated loss if the potentiab$ofrom any claim or legal proceeding is considgnethable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgment is required in bibid determination of probability and the deterrtioraas to whether the amount of an
exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of @aiicies related to these matters, accruals araelmadg on the best information available at
the time the accruals are made. As additional médion becomes available, we reassess the potéakidity related to our pending claims and
litigation and may revise our estimates. Such femssin the estimates of the potential liabilite@sild have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employsasding grants of employee stock options, regtddtock-based awards and purchases
under employee stock purchase plans, in accordaiticéASC 718,Compensation—Stock Compensatighich requires that share-based
payments (to the extent they are compensatoryg@dmgnized in our consolidated statements of omeratbased on their fair values. We
recognize stock-based compensation expense oaighstline basis over the service period of therawahich is generally four years.

We are required to estimate the stock awards tkailtimately expect to vest and to reduce stoclett@®mpensation expense for the effects of
estimated forfeitures of awards over the expensegration period. Although we estimate the ratéutdire forfeitures based upon historical
experience, actual forfeitures in the future mdfedi To the extent our actual forfeitures are efiéint than our estimates, we record a trpdor

the difference in the period that the awards vedtsauch truaips could materially affect our operating resultdditionally, we also consider ¢

a quarterly basis whether there have been anyfisigmi changes in facts and circumstances thatavaffiéct our expected forfeiture rate.

We estimate the fair values of employee stock ogtissing a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation modek Tdir value of an award is affected by
our stock price on the date of grant as well asrofissumptions including the estimated volatilitpor stock price over the term of the awards
and the estimated period of time that we expecti@yeps to hold their stock options. The risk-freteiest rate assumption we use is based
upon United States treasury interest rates ap@tepfor the expected life of the awards. We usentipdied volatility of our publicly traded
options in order to estimate future stock pricadseas we believe that implied volatility is moepiresentative of future stock price trends than
historical volatility. In order to determine thetiesated period of time that we expect employedsaid their stock options, we have used
historical rates of employee groups by senioritjobfclassification. Our expected dividend ratbased upon an annualized dividend yield
based on the per share dividend declared by ourdBafeDirectors. The aforementioned inputs entaénéal the option valuation model we ust
fair value our stock awards are subjective estimatel changes to these estimates will cause thesfaies of our stock awards and related
stock-based compensation expense that we recaatyo

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based cogagien awards that result in deductions on owrime tax returns, based on the amount of
stock-based compensation recognized and the faievattributable to the vested portion of stoclaas assumed in connection with a
business combination, at the statutory tax rataerjurisdiction in which we will receive a tax dedion. Because the deferred tax assets we
record are based upon the stock-based compensafi@mses in a particular jurisdiction, the aforetiogied inputs that affect the fair values of
our stock awards may also indirectly affect ouome tax expense. In addition, differences betwberdeferred tax assets recognized for
financial reporting purposes and the actual taxudgdn reported on our income tax returns are win additional paid-in capital. If the tax
deduction is less than the deferred tax assetatwalated shortfall reduces our pool of excesdenefits. If the pool of excess tax benefits is
reduced to zero, then subsequent shortfalls wawgletase our income tax expense.
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To the extent we change the terms of our emploiekdased compensation programs, experience meolattlity in the pricing of our
common stock that increases the implied volatd&jculation of our publicly traded options, refidiéferent assumptions in future periods such
as forfeiture rates that differ from our currenireates, or assume stock awards from acquired compthat are different in nature than our
stock award arrangements, among other potentiadispthe stock-based compensation expense thatomed in future periods and the tax
benefits that we realize may differ significanttgrih what we have recorded in previous reportingoglst

Allowances for Doubtful Account:

We make judgments as to our ability to collect tartding receivables and provide allowances fopttition of receivables when collection
becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based ugpaadafic review of all significant outstanding irees. For those invoices not specifically
reviewed, provisions are provided at differing sateased upon the age of the receivable, the tioltelsistory associated with the geographic
region that the receivable was recorded and cuemmtomic trends. If the historical data that we tascalculate the allowances for doubtful
accounts does not reflect the future ability tdemiloutstanding receivables, additional provisiforsdoubtful accounts may be needed and our
future results of operations could be materialfgeted.

Results of Operations
Impact of Acquisitions

The comparability of our operating results in fis2@812 compared to fiscal 2011 is impacted by aguisitions, primarily the acquisition of
Taleo in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, RightiNim the third quarter of fiscal 2012, ATG in thertl quarter of fiscal 2011 and Phase
Forward during the first quarter of fiscal 2011.

The comparability of our operating results in fis2@11 compared to fiscal 2010 is impacted by agussitions, primarily the acquisition of
Sun in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and, tesskr extent, our acquisitions of ATG in the thjuérter of fiscal 2011 and Phase Forward
during the first quarter of fiscal 2011.

In our discussion of changes in our results of afiens from fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 faschl 2011 compared to fiscal 2010, we
quantify the contributions of our acquired productshe growth in new software license revenueiwsoe license updates and product sup
revenues, hardware systems products revenueslsadye) and hardware systems support revenuegpfaicable) for the one year period
subsequent to the acquisition date. We also aeetaljuantify the total incremental expenses aasattiwith our hardware systems products
and hardware systems support operating segmenfisdal 2011 in comparison to fiscal 2010. The @mental contributions of our acquisitic

to our other businesses and operating segmentoes and expenses are not provided as they eitlhemot separately identifiable due to the
integration of these operating segments into oistiag operations and/or were insignificant to cesults of operations during the periods
presented.

We caution readers that, while pre- and post-aggquiscomparisons, as well as the quantified amstimemselves may provide indications of
general trends, the acquisition information thatpr@vide has inherent limitations for the followirgasons:

» the quantifications cannot address the substaeffiadts attributable to changes in business stiegemncluding our sales force
integration efforts. We believe that if our acqdiempanies had operated independently and safs=sfbad not been integrated,
the relative mix of products sold would have be#feent; and

» although substantially all of our customers, inghgdcustomers from acquired companies, renew Hufware license updates and
product support contracts when the contracts &k for renewal and we strive to renew cloudwafe subscription contracts
and hardware systems support contracts, the amshotgn as software license updates and producosugeferred revenues, new
software licenses deferred revenues and hardwatersg support deferred revenues in our supplemeistabsureelated to certai
charges (presented below) are not necessarilydtigécof revenue improvements we will achieve upontract renewal to the
extent customers do not rene

53



Table of Contents

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided and edghtinue to provide a significant portion of oatal revenues and expenses. As a result,
revenues and expenses will continue to be affdnyethanges in the U.S. Dollar against major inteonal currencies. In order to provide a
framework for assessing how our underlying busieegerformed excluding the effect of foreign cuesefiuctuations, we compare the perc
change in the results from one period to anothgogén this Annual Report using constant curredisclosure. To present this information,
current and comparative prior period results fdities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Bddlare converted into U.S. Dollars at con:
exchange rates (i.e. the rates in effect on May2811, which was the last day of our prior fiscaés) rather than the actual exchange rates in
effect during the respective periods. For examiplm entity reporting in Euros had revenues ofrhilion Euros from products sold on

May 31, 2012 and May 31, 2011, our financial stamets would reflect reported revenues of $1.25 arilin fiscal 2012 (using 1.25 as the
month-end average exchange rate for the period$artd million in fiscal 2011 (using 1.41 as thentieend average exchange rate for the
period). The constant currency presentation waaldslate the fiscal 2012 results using the fis@dll2exchange rate and indicate, in this
example, no change in revenues during the penpdath of the tables below, we present the pedtarige based on actual, unrounded results
in reported currency and in constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $19,23¢ 5% 5% $18,35. 33% 32% $13,81¢
EMEA @ 11,56! 1% 1% 11,49° 29% 28% 8,93¢
Asia Pacific@ 6,32¢ 10% 7% 5,77: 42% 32% 4,06:
Total revenue 37,12] 4% 4% 35,62: 33% 30% 26,82(
Total Operating Expense 23,41¢ -1% -1% 23,58¢ 33% 31% 17,75¢
Total Operating Margin $13,70¢ 14% 14% $12,03¢ 33% 29% $ 9,067
Total Operating Margin % 37% 34% 34%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 52% 52% 52%
EMEA 31% 32% 33%
Asia Pacific 17% 16% 15%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software $26,11¢ 9% 9% $24,03: 17% 15% $20,62¢
Hardware Systenr 6,30z -9% -10% 6,944 203% 195% 2,29(
Services 4,707 1% 1% 4,64 19% 17% 3,90¢
Total revenue $37,12! 4% 4%  $35,62: 33% 30% $ 26,82
% Revenues by Busines
Software 70% 68% 7%
Hardware Systerr 17% 19% 9%
Services 13% 13% 14%

(1) comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi
(@) Asia Pacific includes Jap:

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011 Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate flations, the increase in our total revenues irafisc
2012 was primarily attributable to growth in oufta@re business’ revenues, partially offset by@urion in our hardware systems business’
revenues. Excluding the effect of currency ratetfiations, the Americas contributed 65%, EMEA cbttied 8% and Asia Pacific contributed
27% to our total revenues growth.
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Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate flugtions, total operating expenses decreased $lightiscal 2012 primarily due to a reduction
in our hardware systems business’ expenses duédiemrcies gained through our hardware systempagupntegration efforts and lower
hardware systems products costs associated wittr lbardware systems products revenues; due toadesén certain variable compensation
expenses; and due to a reduction in restructugsts@and acquisition related costs primarily asgediwith expenses incurred in fiscal 2011
related to our acquisition of Sun. These fiscal28%pense decreases were partially offset by flB@aP expense increases in salaries and
benefits primarily related to additional sales amarketing headcount and an increase in genersh@mihistrative expenses that was due to a
$120 million legal expense recovery in fiscal 2011.

Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fuations, the increase in total operating margih @merating margin as a percentage of
revenues in fiscal 2012 was due to our increasevienues while our expenses decreased.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010 Our total revenues increased in fiscal 2011tduit.7 billion of incremental revenue contributio
from our hardware systems business and significantéases in our software and services businessasnues. Our total revenues growth
across all of our businesses in fiscal 2011 wasriy affected by a full year of revenue contribog from Sun as compared to our fiscal 2
operating results, for which Sun’s revenue contidns were limited to only a portion of the fis@l10 period. In addition, our software
business revenues increased as a result of thetgihowur new software license revenues and ouwsoé license updates and product support
revenues. Excluding the effect of currency ratetflations, the Americas contributed 55%, EMEA cinitied 29% and APAC contributed 1!

to our total revenues growth.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, the increase in total operating expensésdal 2011 was due to a full year of expe
contributions from Sun to our fiscal 2011 operatiagults, including increased expenses pertaimtidgtdware systems products sold and
related hardware systems support offerings, additiemployee related expenses and an increastingible asset amortization. These
increases were partially offset by a reductiorestructuring expenses relating to our Sun RestrimgtiPlan and certain other Oracle-based
restructuring plans and were also favorably affétitg the recovery of certain legal costs in fist@l1 as noted above.

On a constant currency basis, our operating mangieased during fiscal 2011 due to our total resrgrowth. Our operating margin as a
percentage of revenues remained flat in fiscal 28L&ur revenues and expenses grew at approxintageame rates.
Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our consolidated financial informatice believe the following information is helpfal &n overall understanding of our past
financial performance and prospects for the futiia should review the introduction under “Impat®equisitions” (above) for a discussion
of the inherent limitations in comparing pre- amm$pacquisition information.
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Our operating results include the following busgesmbination accounting adjustments and expeessed to acquisitions, as well as certain
other significant expense items:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010

New software licenses deferred reven® $ 2. $ — $ =
Software license updates and product support gefeavenue® 48 80 86
Hardware systems support deferred revei® 30 14¢ 12¢
Hardware systems products exper® — — 29
Amortization of intangible asse® 2,43( 2,42¢ 1,97:
Acquisition related and oth®(® 56 20¢ 154
Restructuring® 29t 487 622
Stoclk-based compensatic®) 62€ 50C 421
Income tax effect® (967) (1,007%) (1,059

$ 2,54 $ 2,84¢ $ 2,35¢

(1) In connection with our acquisitions, we havereatied the fair values of the cloud software supsion, software support and hardware systems stipptigations assumed. Due to our
application of business combination accountingsiulee did not recognize new software licenses neegmelated to cloud software subscription congrtiwt would have otherwise
been recorded by the acquired businesses as indiapteentities, in the amount of $22 million in $€012. We also did not recognize software licars#ates and product support
revenues related to support contracts that woule béherwise been recorded by the acquired busisessindependent entities, in the amounts of $#i®@m $80 million and $86
million in fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2Q¥@spectively. In addition, we did not recognizedware systems support revenues related to haedsyatems support contracts that
would have otherwise been recorded by the acqbiusthesses as independent entities in the amotii&anillion, $148 million and $128 million in &l 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal
2010, respectively

Approximately $34 million of estimated cloud softwaubscription contract revenues assumed wilbeatcognized during fiscal 2013 that would haventise been recognized as
revenues by the acquired businesses as indepesmiéigs due to the application of the aforemerbbusiness combination accounting rules. Approtétya13 million and $2

million of estimated software license updates amdipct support revenues related to software sumemtracts assumed will not be recognized duriscafi 2013 and 2014,
respectively, that would have otherwise been reizeghby the acquired businesses as independetiesmtile to the application of the aforementionesiiess combination accounting
rules. Approximately $11 million of estimated haahe systems support revenues related to hardwatensy support contracts assumed will not be rezedrduring fiscal 2013 that
would have otherwise been recognized by certainieed| companies as independent entities due taghkcation of the aforementioned business comiminatccounting rules. To the
extent customers renew these contracts with ugxpect to recognize revenues for the full conttacthies over the contract renewal periods.

(2 Represents the effects of fair value adjustmentair inventories acquired from Sun that were soldustomers in fiscal 2010. Business combinagiczounting rules require us to
account for inventories assumed from our acquisitiat their fair values. The $29 million includediie hardware systems products expenses lineitatite above for fiscal 2010, is
intended to adjust these expenses to the hardwsienss products expenses that would have beennsigerecorded by Sun as an independent entity thposale of these inventories.
If we acquire inventories in future acquisitiong will be required to assess their fair values,clvihay result in fair value adjustments to thoseimories

() Represents the amortization of intangible assistantially all of which were acquired in coni@ewith our acquisitions. As of May 31, 2012, esited future amortization expenses
related to intangible assets were as follows (ittions):

Fiscal 201: $ 2,31:
Fiscal 2014 1,93¢
Fiscal 201¢ 1,48¢
Fiscal 201¢€ 941
Fiscal 2017 384
Thereaftel 824

Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 7,88¢
In-process research and developn 11

Total intangible assets, r $ 7,89!

(4)  Acquisition related and other expenses primailgsist of personnel related costs for transitiamal certain other employees, stock-based compensatpenses, integration related
professional services, certain business combinatijstments including certain adjustments aftemtfeasurement period has ended and changes walfiaér of contingent
consideration payable (see Note 2 of Notes to Qmleded Financial Statements included elsewhetkimAnnual Report) and certain other operatingeeses, ne

56



Table of Contents

®)

(6)

©)

The significant majority of restructuring expenslesing fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 relate to empkgeverance, facility exit costs and contractiteation costs in connection with o
Sun Restructuring Plan. Restructuring expensesddiscal 2010 primarily relate to costs incurregguant to our Sun Restructuring Plan and our F2@@9 Oracle Restructuring
Plan. Additional information regarding certain afrgestructuring plans is provided in Note 9 of &oto Consolidated Financial Statements includsemdiere in this Annual Repo

Stocl-based compensation was included in the followingrapng expense line items of our consolidatedstants of operations (in millions

Year Ended May 31,

2012 2011 2010

Sales and marketing $ 12 $ 8 $ 8
Software license updates and product sug 18 14 17
Hardware systems produc 1 2 3
Hardware systems suppt 5 5 2
Services 23 16 14
Research and developme 29t 231 17z
General and administratiy 162 14F 132

Subtotal 62€ 50C 421
Acquisition related and oth 33 10 15

Total stocl-based compensatic $ 65¢ $ 51C $ 43€

Stock-based compensation included in acquisititated and other expenses resulted from unvestel efttions and restricted stock-based awards asbénom acquisitions whose
vesting was accelerated upon termination of theleyeps pursuant to the terms of those stock optodsrestricted stock-based awards.

The income tax effects presented were calculasdtithe above described charges were not inclidedr results of operations for each of the retipe periods presented. Income tax
effects were calculated based on the applicabigdiigtional tax rates applied to the items withie table above and resulted in an effective tax@t24.0% for fiscal 2012 instead of
23.0%, which represented our effective tax ratdeasved per our consolidated statement of operstidae to the disproportionate rate impact of éigcitems, income tax effects
related to acquired tax exposures, and differeircgsisdictional tax rates and related tax bemsdditributable to our restructuring expenses irpméod. Income tax effects were
calculated reflecting an effective tax rate of 25.for fiscal 2011 instead of 25.1%, which represdrdur effective tax rate as derived per our cadated statement of operations,
primarily due to differences in jurisdictional teates and the related tax benefits attributablutarestructuring expenses in the period and tbene tax effects related to our acquired
tax exposures. Income tax effects were calculafidating an effective tax rate of 27.1% for fisga@ll0 instead of 25.6%, which represented our ¥fetax rate as derived per our
consolidated statement of operations, due to simelasons as those noted for the fiscal 2011 diffezs

Software Business

Our software business consists of our new softlieeases segment and software license updatesraddgi support segment.
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New Software License: New software license revenues substantiallygsgt fees earned from granting customers licensgse our
database and middleware and our application sodtveard also include fees earned from cloud softsabscription contracts. We continue to
place significant emphasis, both domestically anternationally, on direct sales through our owrsdbrce. We also continue to market our
products through indirect channels. Expenses assacith our new software license revenues aessald marketing expenses, which are
largely personnel related and include commissi@msexl by our sales force for the sale of our sofvpoducts, marketing program costs, and
amortization of intangible assets.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
New Software License Revenue
Americas $5,107 10% 11% $4,66: 26% 24%  $3,70¢
EMEA 2,88¢ 1% 4% 2,861 16% 13% 2,46:
Asia Pacific 1,91¢ 12% 11% 1,712 25% 16% 1,36¢€
Total revenue: 9,90¢ 7% 8% 9,23t 23% 19% 7,53:
Expenses
Sales and marketir@® 5,89¢ 8% 8% 5,45¢ 17% 16% 4,654
Stoclk-based compensatic 12C 43% 43% 84 5% 5% 79
Amortization of intangible asse® 822 1% 1% 811 0% 0% 81€
Total expense 6,841 8% 8% 6,35( 14% 13% 5,54¢
Total Margin $ 3,06¢ 6% 104 $2,88¢ 45% 37%  $1,98¢
Total Margin % 31% 31% 26%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 52% 50% 49%
EMEA 29% 31% 33%
Asia Pacific 19% 19% 18%
Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewa $6,97] 5% 6% $6,62¢ 23% 19%  $5,40¢
Applications 2,93¢ 13% 14% 2,60¢ 23% 20% 2,127
Total new software license revent $ 9,90¢ 7% 8%  $9,23¢ 23% 19% $7,53¢
% Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewa 70% 72% 72%
Applications 30% 28% 28%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensati
(3 Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of foreign currency rdtgcfuations, total new software license revenues
increased by 8% in fiscal 2012 due to growth acadismajor regions and product types and due tcemental revenues from our acquisitions.
On a constant currency basis, the Americas con&ih63%, EMEA contributed 13% and Asia Pacific cidmited 24% to our new software
license revenues growth during fiscal 2012.

In constant currency, database and middleware tegeand applications revenues increased by 6% 4¥id respectively, in fiscal 2012
primarily due to growth resulting from improved tarser demand for our products, our sales forceézetion and incremental revenues from
our acquisitions. The growth rates of our new safeMicense revenues for fiscal 2012 were affebiethe high growth rates that we
experienced in fiscal 2011 against which our fi€2 revenues were compared. In reported currgmogicts from our recent acquisitions
contributed $63 million to the growth in our databand middleware revenues and $254 million tgtbevth in our applications revenues
during fiscal 2012.
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As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjpesits to reduce assumed cloud software subscripkibgations to their estimated fair values
at the acquisition dates. Due to our applicatiobuginess combination accounting rules, cloud sofveubscription revenues in the amount of
$22 million that would have been otherwise recordgaur acquired businesses as independent emtiéies not recognized in fiscal 2012. To
the extent underlying cloud software subscriptionttacts are renewed with us following an acqusitiwe will recognize the revenues for the
full value of the cloud software subscription camts over the contract periods.

In reported currency, new software license reveraesed from transactions of $3 million or gre@tereased by 4% in fiscal 2012 and
represented 27% of our new software license revemuiscal 2012 in comparison to 28% in fiscal 201

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosr total new software license expenses incressiscal 2012 primarily due to higher
employee related expenses from increased headcount.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable foreign currgmate fluctuations, new software license margoréased due to the increase in revenues,
and new software license margin as a percentagevehues was flat as our revenues increased atithe rate as our operating expenses.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: Excluding the effect of favorable foreign cuncg rate fluctuations, total new software license
revenues increased by 19% in fiscal 2011 due tevitracross all major regions and product typesiacigmental revenues from our
acquisitions. On a constant currency basis, therfag contributed 63%, EMEA contributed 21% anda®acific contributed 16% to our new
software license revenues growth during fiscal 2011

In constant currency, database and middleware tegeand applications revenues increased by 1992@¥c respectively, in fiscal 2011
primarily due to similar reasons as those noted/@blm reported currency, Sun contributed $398iamilin growth to our database and
middleware revenues through the third quartersafdi 2011 (the one year anniversary of our acduisdf Sun) and our other recent
acquisitions contributed $40 million during fis@dl11. In reported currency, our recent acquisitcorgributed $191 million to the growth in
our applications revenues during fiscal 2011.

In reported currency, new software license reveraesed from transactions of $3 million or greatereased by 47% in fiscal 2011 and
represented 28% of our new software license revemuiiscal 2011 in comparison to 23% in fiscal @01

Excluding the effect of unfavorable foreign currgmate fluctuations, total software sales and mamgeexpenses increased in fiscal 2011
primarily due to higher employee related and otperating expenses resulting from a full year gfesse contributions from Sun to our fiscal
2011 operating results and higher variable comp@msaxpenses resulting from higher revenues.

Excluding the effect of favorable foreign curremaye fluctuations, new software license margin @radgin as a percentage of revenues
increased as our revenues increased at a fastetheat our expenses.
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Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers righisispecified software product upgrades
and maintenance releases issued during the sypgraotl. Product support includes internet accessdonical content as well as internet and
telephone access to technical support personmelriglobal support centers. Expenses associatédowitsoftware license updates and product
support line of business include the cost of primgidhe support services, largely personnel relatgeenses, and the amortization of our
intangible assets associated with software sugomtracts and customer relationships obtained &oquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Software License Updates and Product Support Reven
Americas $ 8,67 9% 9% $ 7,968 12% 11% ¢ 7,10C
EMEA 5,19/ 8% 8% 4,80z 12% 13% 4,304
Asia Pacific 2,344 15% 12% 2,031 20% 12% 1,68¢
Total revenue 16,21( 10% 9% 14,79¢ 13% 12% 13,09:
Expenses
Software license updates and product sug® 1,20¢ -3% -3% 1,25( 20% 18% 1,04¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 18 27% 27% 14  -20% -20% 17
Amortization of intangible asse® 863 4% 4% 827 -1% -1% 83¢
Total expense 2,08¢ 0% 0% 2,091 10% 9% 1,902
Total Margin $14,12: 11% 11%  $12,70¢ 14% 12%  $11,19(
Total Margin % 87% 86% 85%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 54% 54% 54%
EMEA 32% 32% 33%
Asia Pacific 14% 14% 13%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensati
(@ Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiosgftware license updates and product support
revenues increased in fiscal 2012 as a resultwfsudtware licenses sold with substantially alltousers electing to purchase support contracts
during the trailing 4-quarter period, the renewfagubstantially all of the customer base eligilwerenewal in the current fiscal year and
incremental revenues from recent acquisitions. likoly the effect of currency rate fluctuations, Araericas contributed 53%, EMEA
contributed 29% and Asia Pacific contributed 18%hmincrease in software license updates and ptadyport revenues.

In reported currency, software license updatespraduct support revenues in fiscal 2012 includedamental revenues of $83 million from

our recently acquired companies. As a result ofamguisitions, we recorded adjustments to redusenasd support obligations to their
estimated fair values at the acquisition dates. tOwmir application of business combination accimgntules, software license updates and
product support revenues related to support castiache amounts of $48 million, $80 million an@6$million that would have been otherw
recorded by our acquired businesses as indepeadtties were not recognized in fiscal 2012, 204d 2010, respectively. Historically,
substantially all of our customers, including cuséos from acquired companies, renew their softwapport contracts when such contracts are
eligible for renewal. To the extent these undedysnpport contracts are renewed, we will recogtiizerevenues for the full value of these
contracts over the support periods, the substamtgdrity of which are one year in duration.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, total software license updates and prosiygport expenses were flat in fiscal 2012 as
an increase in intangible asset amortization alatisa expenses from increased headcount weret dffseductions in variable compensation
expenses, bad debt expenses and certain othetingerapenses.
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Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal software license updates and product suppargin and margin as a percentage of total
revenues increased as our total revenues incredstdour total expenses remained flat.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support
revenues increased in fiscal 2011 for similar reasts those noted above.

In reported currency, software license updatespaaduct support revenues in fiscal 2011 includedeémental revenues of $240 million from
Sun through the third quarter of fiscal 2011 (the gear anniversary of our acquisition) and $80ionilfrom our other recently acquired
companies. As described above, the amounts of aodtlicense updates and product support revenaesvéhrecognized in fiscal 2011 and
fiscal 2010 were affected by business combinat@moanting rules.

On a constant currency basis, total software lieenslates and product support expenses increasdt dn increase in salaries, variable
compensation and benefits expenses that were pifmelated to a full year’s contribution from Sand certain other headcount increases.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotatal software license updates and product suppargin and margin as a percentage of total
revenues increased as our total revenues incredsefhster rate than our total expenses.

Hardware Systems Business
Our hardware systems business consists of our laaedsystems products segment and hardware systgparssegment.

Hardware Systems Product Hardware systems products revenues are pringgilerated from the sales of our computer semgistorage
products. We market and sell our hardware systeotupts through our direct sales force and indicketnnels such as independent distribi
and value added resellers. Operating expensesiatgsbwith our hardware systems products incluéectist of hardware systems products,
which consists of expenses for materials and labed to produce these products by our internal faatwring operations or by third party
manufacturers, warranty expenses and the impamraddic changes in inventory valuation, includthg impact of inventory determined to be
excess and obsolete. Operating expenses assowittieolir hardware systems products also includessahd marketing expenses, which are
largely personnel related and include variable camsption earned by our sales force for the salesrdfiardware products, and amortizatio
intangible assets.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Hardware Systems Products Revenu
Americas $ 1,88( -16% -16%  $ 2,24¢ 201% 199% $§ 747
EMEA 1,14(C -15% -16% 1,33 176% 165% 48t
Asia Pacific 807 1% -3% 797 191% 173% 274
Total revenue 3,82 -13% -14% 4,382 191% 184% 1,50¢
Expenses
Hardware systems produ«® 1,84: -10% -10% 2,05¢ 134% 126% 877
Sales and marketir® 1,10€ 7% 6% 1,03 203% 194% 34z
Stoclk-based compensatic 3 -57% -57% 5 4% 4% 5
Amortization of intangible asse® 393 -8% -8% 42€ 164% 164% 162
Total expense 3,34 -5% -5% 3,52 154% 146% 1,38¢
Total Margin $ 48%  -44% -46% $ 85¢  634% 732% $ 12C
Total Margin % 13% 20% 8%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 49% 51% 50%
EMEA 30% 31% 32%
Asia Pacific 21% 18% 18%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@) Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati
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Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuationardware systems products revenues decreased ir
fiscal 2012 due to reductions in sales volumeseofain of our legacy product lines, including loweargin products, and due to the recent
introduction of new SPARC processor-based serhatswe believe slowed purchases of predecessaergamoducts. These hardware revenue
decreases were partially offset by increases idvisaire revenues attributable to our Oracle Engimke8gestems during fiscal 2012.

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuatiotodal hardware systems products operating exgethesglined in fiscal 2012 primarily due to
reductions in hardware systems products costs iassdavith lower revenues, lower intangible assebdization, and decreases in bad debt
expenses, which were partially offset by increasmgloyee related expenses due to additional sekdcount.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal hardware systems products margin and totagm as a percentage of revenues
decreased in fiscal 2012 primarily due to decreasbardware systems products revenues and ingéabardware sales and marketing
expenses.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: The increases in hardware systems products reveexgsnses and total margin for fiscal 2011 were
primarily attributable to the impact of Sun’s cdbtritions to our operating results for the full 62011 year as compared to fiscal 2010, which
included Sun’s contribution to our operating res@itr only a portion of the fiscal year. In fis@4l10, our hardware systems products expenses
and total margin were unfavorably impacted by $2fion of fair value adjustments made pursuanttsibess combination accounting rules
for inventories we assumed from Sun and sold teoousrs in the post-combination periods. Excludimg éffect of currency rate fluctuations,
total hardware systems products margin and magga@ercentage of total revenues increased asw@ilirévenues increased at a faster rate
than our total expenses.

Hardware Systems Suppot  Our hardware systems support offerings proeiggomers with software updates for the softwarepmments
that are essential to the functionality of our leace systems and can include product repairs, sxanice services and technical support
services. Expenses associated with our hardwatersgssupport operating segment include the costatérials used to repair customer
products, the cost of providing support servicagyely personnel related expenses, and the amtartizaf our intangible assets associated with
hardware systems support contracts and custonaiorethips obtained from our acquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Hardware Systems Support Revenu
Americas $ 1,157 5% 5% $ 1,10¢ 267% 263%  $ 301
EMEA 87C -13% -14% 1,00¢ 195% 186% 34C
Asia Pacific 44¢ -2% -5% 45F 217% 196% 143
Total revenue 2,47¢ -3% -4% 2,56z 227% 218% 784
Expenses
Hardware systems supp«® 1,041 -17% -18% 1,25¢ 198% 189% 421
Stoclk-based compensatic 5 1% 1% 5 124% 124% 2
Amortization of intangible asse® 30E 2% 2% 29€ 202% 202% 98
Total expense 1,351 -13% -14% 1,557 199% 191% 521
Total Margin $ 1,12/ 12% 10% $ 1,00¢ 283% 274%  $ 265
Total Margin % 45% 39% 34%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 47% 43% 38%
EMEA 35% 39% 43%
Asia Pacific 18% 18% 19%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@) Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati
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Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiohardware systems support revenues decreased in
fiscal 2012 due to revenue decreases in the EMEAAm® Pacific regions, partially offset by highrewenues in the Americas.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjpesits to reduce assumed hardware systems supfigettimns to their estimated fair values
the acquisition dates. Due to our application dfibess combination accounting rules, hardware sysgipport revenues related to hardware
systems support contracts in the amounts of $3omil$148 million and $128 million that would hakeen otherwise reported by our acqu
businesses as independent entities were not rexayimi fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivelytheoextent these underlying support
contracts are renewed, we will recognize the regsriar the full values of these contracts overftigre support periods.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal hardware systems support expenses decraafiedal 2012 primarily due to the
reduction of service delivery costs during fisc@l2 resulting from our integration initiatives asisded with our acquisition of Sun.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal hardware systems support margin and maga @ercentage of total revenues increased
as a result of our expense reductions.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: The increases in hardware systems support vegesnd expenses in fiscal 2011 were primarily
attributable to the impact of Sun’s contributioatir operating results for the full fiscal 201%ipd as compared to fiscal 2010. As a result of
our acquisition of Sun, we recorded adjustmentedoice assumed hardware systems support obligatidghsir estimated fair values at the
acquisition date as prescribed by business combinatcounting rules that, as described abovectaifiethe amounts of hardware systems
support revenues that we recognized in fiscal 201dLfiscal 2010.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotatal hardware systems support margin and maga @ercentage of total revenues increased
as our total revenues increased at a faster ratedtr total expenses.
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Services Business

Our services business consists of consulting, methatpud services and education services. Conguiéivenues are earned by providing
services to customers in business and IT stratiégynaent, enterprise architecture planning andgteshitial product implementation and
integration and ongoing product enhancements agchdps. Managed cloud services revenues are ebynaaviding services for
comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services for customers hosted at mol®©data center facilities, select
partner data centers or physically on-premise stiocner facilities. Additionally, we provide suppssrvices, both on-premise and remote, to
customers to enable increased performance andrhaghéability of their products and services. Ealiien revenues are earned by providing
instructor-led, media-based and internet-baseditrgiin the use of our software and hardware prtsdiidhe cost of providing our services
consists primarily of personnel related expensairtology infrastructure expenditures, facilitiegpenses and external contractor expenses.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constani 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Services Revenue
Americas $ 2,42( 2% 2% $ 2,37¢ 21% 20% % 1,967
EMEA 1,47: -1% -1% 1,49: 11% 10% 1,34¢
Asia Pacific 81C 4% 3% 77¢ 32% 23% 592
Total revenue 4,70 1% 1% 4,64 19% 17% 3,90t
Expenses
Services® 3,72( -2% -2% 3,80z 12% 11% 3,38¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 23 39% 39% 16 17% 17% 14
Amortization of intangible asse® 47 -27% -27% 66 12% 12% 58
Total expense 3,79( 2% -2% 3,88¢ 12% 11% 3,45¢
Total Margin $ 91: 20% 19% $ 763  70% 63% $ 44¢
Total Margin % 19% 16% 11%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 52% 51% 50%
EMEA 31% 32% 35%
Asia Pacific 17% 17% 15%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@ Included as a component*Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoats, our services revenues increased modestlgdalfi

2012 due to increased consulting and managed slewces revenues including incremental contrilmgtifvom our recently acquired
companies, which were partially offset by decreasesir education revenues.

On a constant currency basis, our services expalesesased during fiscal 2012 due to lower thirdypeontractor expenses associated with
our managed cloud services offerings, lower inthleghsset amortization and certain other net experductions.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotttal services margin and total margin as a peacgnof revenues increased during fiscal 2
as our total services revenues increased whileéobalrservices expenses decreased.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoas, the increase in our services revenues inl f23H
was due to increases in our managed cloud semavesues resulting from the full fiscal year impattevenue contributions from our
acquisition of Sun.
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On a constant currency basis, our services expémsesgised during fiscal 2011 primarily due to #éiddial employee related expenses
associated with a full fiscal year of expense dbations from Sun and higher third-party contrac®penses that supported our increase in
revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottgal services margin and total margin as a peacgnof revenues increased during fiscal 2
as our total services revenues increased at a fas¢ethan our total services expenses.

Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consistrifyilmiapersonnel related expenditures. We intemd t
continue to invest significantly in our researchl @evelopment efforts because, in our judgmeny;, #ie essential to maintaining our
competitive position.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constani 2011 Actual Constani 2010
Research and developm«® $ 4,22 -1% 1% $ 4,280 39% 38% $ 3,08
Stock-based compensatic 29t 28% 28% 231 35% 35% 172
Total expense $ 4,52: 0% 1% $ 451¢ 39% 38% $ 3,25¢
% of Total Revenue 12% 13% 12%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, total researdidamelopment expenses increased slightly durswafi
2012 primarily as a result of an increase in emgdorelated expenses such as salaries, benefit@idbased compensation from increased
headcount, which was partially offset by a decréasmriable compensation expenses and a decne&@setain legal costs.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: On a constant currency basis, total researdidamelopment expenses increased during fiscal 2011
primarily due to the impact of Sumtontributions to our expenses for the full fisgaédr, including additional employee related expsrsich &
salaries, variable compensation, benefits and dbaslked compensation from increased headcount.

General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses primadhsest of personnel related expenditures for
information technology, finance, legal and humasoteces support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
General and administratiy® $ 96¢ 17% 7% $ 82t 6% 4% $ T77¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 162 12% 12% 14E 10% 10% 132
Total expense $1,12¢ 16% 6% $ 97C 6% 5 $ 911
% of Total Revenue 3% 3% 3%

() Excluding stoc-based compensati

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, total generabalntinistrative expenses increased in fiscal 2012
primarily as a result of a fiscal 2011 $120 millibaenefit from the recovery of certain legal costhich reduced our expenses in fiscal 2011.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: On a constant currency basis, total generabanainistrative expenses increased during fiscall20
due to the impact of Sun’s contributions to ourenges for the full fiscal year, primarily additibeanployee related expenses, which were
partially offset by the recovery of legal costsetbabove.
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Amortization of Intangible Assets
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2012  Actual Constani 2011  Actual Constani 2010
Software support agreements and related relatips $ 58t 3% 3% $ 57C -1% 1% $ 574
Hardware systems support agreements and relatgebredhips 11¢ 1% 1% 118 300% 300% 29
Developed technolog 923 7% -T% 992 22% 22% 811
Core technolog' 337 9% 9% 30¢ 11% 11% 277
Customer relationships and contract bact 37C 2% 2% 362 55% 55% 234
Cloud software subscriptions and related relatigrs 33  267% 267% 9 * * —
Trademark: 63 -7% 1% 68 41% 41% 48

Total amortization of intangible ass: $ 2,43( 0% 0% $ 2,42¢ 23% 23% $ 1,97

* Not meaningfu

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Amortization of intangible assets in fiscal 20h comparison to fiscal 2011 was flat as adddion
amortization from intangible assets that we acgluirem our acquisitions of RightNow and Taleo iscl 2012 and from our acquisitions of
ATG and Phase Forward in fiscal 2011, amongst ethveere offset by a reduction in expenses assaciaith certain of our intangible assets
that became fully amortized. Note 7 of Notes to €iidated Financial Statements included elsewhetki$ Annual Report has additional
information regarding our intangible assets andtesl amortization.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: Amortization of intangible assets increasefiscal 2011 in comparison to fiscal 2010 due to
additional amortization from intangible assets thatacquired including our acquisitions of ATG dftthse Forward in fiscal 2011 and our
acquisition of Sun in fiscal 2010. These increagere partially offset by a reduction in expensesamted with certain of our intangible assets
that became fully amortized.

Acquisition Related and Other Expense Acquisition related and other expenses cows$ipersonnel related costs for transitional andaie
other employees, stock-based compensation expensagation related professional services, ceiaisiness combination adjustments
including certain adjustments after the measuremperibd has ended and changes in fair value ofragenit consideration payable (see Note 2
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ohefluielsewhere in this Annual Report) and certdiemboperating expenses, net. Stock-based
compensation expenses included in acquisitiongelahd other expenses resulted from unvested sfiitkns and restricted stock-based
awards assumed from acquisitions whereby vestirgageelerated upon termination of the employeesuaimt to the original terms of those
stock options and restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Transitional and other employee related c $ 25 -81% -81% $ 12¢ 94% 86% $ 66
Stocl-based compensatic 33 254% 254% 10 -37% -37% 15
Professional fees and other, 13 -81% -83% 66 2% -4% 68
Business combination adjustments, 1s) -499% -515% 3 -28% -78% 5
Total acquisition related and other exper $ 5! -73% -74% $ 20! 35% 27% $ 15.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, the decreaseginsation related and other expenses during fig6ap
was primarily due to lower transitional employekated costs and professional services expenseasniparison to those that were incurred in
fiscal 2011 (primarily related to our acquisitiohSun), and was also due to a benefit from a bgsicembination related legal settlement,
which reduced our fiscal 2012 expenses. These sgpealuctions were partially offset by an increasstock-based compensation expenses
associated with our recent acquisitions and expeassociated with the change in fair value of cay@int consideration payable (see Note 2 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements inclisewhere in this Annual Repot
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Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: On a constant currency basis, acquisitionedland other expenses increased primarily duestéutt
fiscal year impact of Sun’s expense contributionsluding higher transitional employee related enges.

Restructuring expenses Restructuring expenses consist of employeeraage costs and may also include charges for datplfacilities ant
other contract termination costs to improve out stisicture prospectively. For additional infornoatiregarding our restructuring plans, see
Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesiartluded elsewhere in this Annual Rep

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Restructuring expens: $ 29t -40% -40%  $ 480 -22% 23% $ 62

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2012 primaehated to our Sun Restructuring Plan, which our
management approved, committed to and initiateatder to better align our cost structure as a tegwur acquisition of Sun. To a lesser
extent, we also incurred expenses associated witdr @racle-based plans, which our management apgreommitted to and initiated in
order to restructure and further improve efficiescin our Oracle-based operations. The decreasstiucturing expenses in fiscal 2012 in
comparison to those that were incurred in fiscdll2frimarily related to the decrease in expensasiad in connection with our Sun
Restructuring Plan.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: During fiscal 2011, we incurred restructuringpenses primarily in connection with our Sun
Restructuring Plan and to a lesser extent, weiatsored expenses associated with other Oracledhgla@s. During fiscal 2010, we recorded
restructuring expenses primarily in connection vaitin Sun Restructuring Plan and our Fiscal 200€@Mestructuring Plan.
Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Interest expens $ 76¢ -5% -5% $ 80¢ 7% 7% $ 75¢

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Interest expense decreased in fiscal 2012 aimver average borrowings as compared to fiscal 20
primarily due to the maturity and repayment of $2allion of senior notes in January 2011.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: Interest expense increased in fiscal 2011 dingher average borrowings resulting primarilyniro
our issuance of $3.25 billion of senior notes ity 2010. This interest expense increase was plgroéfset by a reduction in interest expense
associated with the maturities and repayments @3Rillion of senior notes, as noted above, an@ $ilion of floating rate senior notes and
related variable to fixed interest rate swap agexgmin May 2010.

Non-Operating Income (Expense), net: Non-operating income (expense), net consistsgrily of interest income, net foreign currency
exchange gains (losses), the noncontrolling inteieshe net profits of our majority-owned subaiiks (Oracle Financial Services Software
Limited and Oracle Japan) and net other incomeégsincluding net realized gains and losses kktatall of our investments and net
unrealized gains and losses related to the smelbpmf our investment portfolio that we classify trading.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constani 2010
Interest incom $ 231 42% 45% $ 162 34% 32% $ 122
Foreign currency gains (losses), (105 -1,041%  -1,112% 11 108% 112% (14¢)
Noncontrolling interests in incorn (119 23% 25% 97) -2% -1% (95)
Other income, ne 15 -86% -86% 10¢ 92% 89% 56
Total nor-operating income (expense), | $ 22 -88% -83% $ 186  388% 372% $ (65
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Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: On a constant currency basis, our non-operatingnieg net decreased in fiscal 2012 primarily as a
result of net foreign currency transaction lossesitired in fiscal 2012 in comparison to net foredginrency transaction gains incurred in fiscal
2011. In addition, we incurred a decrease in ateyme, net, which was attributable to net gainereéed in fiscal 2011 due to favorable
changes in the values of our marketable secuthiswe classify as trading that are held to suppar deferred compensation plan obligations.
These unfavorable variations to non-operating ineomet were partially offset by increases in idehrecome during fiscal 2012 due to larger
average cash, cash equivalents and marketabletf@escbalances in comparison to fiscal 2011.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: We recorded non-operating income, net during fi2€dll in comparison to non-operating expense,
net in fiscal 2010 primarily due to net foreign mcy transaction losses incurred in fiscal 201ictvincluded a foreign currency
remeasurement loss of $81 million resulting from designation of our Venezuelan subsidiary as 1gigtflationary” in accordance with the
FASB’s ASC 830Foreign Currency Mattersand the subsequent devaluation of the Venezwelaency by the Venezuelan government. In
addition, our interest income increased in fiscAl 2 due to larger average cash, cash equivaledtsarketable securities balances and other
income, net increased in fiscal 2011 as a resudaofs recognized on the sale of certain equitgstments.

Provision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rate in all periods is theuk of the mix of income earned in various taxgdictions that
apply a broad range of income tax rates. The pi@mvi®r income taxes differs from the tax compus¢dhe U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate due primarily to earnings considered as imitefy reinvested in foreign operations, state satlkee U.S. research and development tax
credit and the U.S. domestic production activitdwietion. Future effective tax rates could be adslgraffected if earnings are lower than
anticipated in countries where we have lower stayutax rates, by unfavorable changes in tax lawgsragulations or by adverse rulings in tax
related litigation.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Actual Constant 2011 Actual Constant 2010
Provision for income taxe $ 2,98 4% 4% $ 2,86« 36% 32% $ 2,10¢
Effective tax rate 23.0% 25.1% 25.6%

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011: Provision for income taxes increased during fi&fdl2 due substantially to higher income before
provision for income taxes, partially offset by tlagorable effects of an increase in the numbdoign subsidiaries in countries with lower
statutory rates than the United States, the easrohgvhich we consider to be indefinitely reinvestaitside the United States. If these
subsidiaries generate sufficient earnings in theré&) our provision for income taxes may contimuéé favorably affected to a meaningful
extent, although any such favorable effects coelgignificantly reduced under a variety of circuamstes.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010: Provision for income taxes increased during fi&fdl1 due substantially to higher income before
provision for income taxes and a reduction in thpact of favorable judicial decisions and settletaavith worldwide taxing authorities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2012 Change 2011 Change 2010
Working capital $ 24,63! -1% $ 24,98. 103% $ 12,31
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $ 30,67t 6% $ 28,84 56% $ 18,46¢

Working capital:  The decrease in working capital as of May 3L, 2in comparison to May 31, 2011 was primarily ttuan increase in our
stock repurchases during fiscal 2012 in comparisdiscal 2011 (we used $5.9 billion of cash facét repurchases during fiscal 2012 in
comparison to $1.2 billion used for stock repurésaduring fiscal 2011), the reclassification of2ZBlbillion of our senior notes due April 2013
asa
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current liability, cash used for acquisitions amadlt used to pay dividends to our stockholders. & Hdesreases to working capital were almost
entirely offset by the favorable impact to our cetrent assets resulting from our net income duifisgal 2012. Our working capital may be
impacted by some of the aforementioned factorsitiré periods, certain amounts and timing of whsigh variable.

The increase in working capital as of May 31, 26i.éomparison to May 31, 2010 was primarily du¢hie favorable impact to our net current
assets resulting from our net income during figfdl1 and our issuance of $3.25 billion of long-tesemnior notes in July 2010. These increases
were partially offset by cash used for our acqigisg, repurchases of our common stock and cashtagead dividends to our stockholders.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesCash and cash equivalents primarily consistepiosits held at major banks, money
market funds, Tier-1 commercial paper, U.S. Treasbitigations, U.S. government agency and governrsigonsored enterprise obligations
and other securities with original maturities of ®s or less. Marketable securities primarily cstraf time deposits held at major banks, Tier-
1 commercial paper, corporate notes, U.S. Treasbligations, U.S. government agency and governmeonsored enterprise obligations and
certain other securities. The increase in casli egaivalents and marketable securities at May 812 in comparison to May 31, 2011 was
primarily due to an increase in cash generated fsanoperating activities and our short-term botirmnof $1.7 billion made pursuant to a
revolving credit agreement. These increases in, casth equivalents and marketable securities wat@lby offset by our June 2011 repaym

of $1.15 billion of short-term borrowings pursuambur expired revolving credit facilities, $255Ioin of cash used to repay RightNow’s
legacy convertible notes after the closing of tbguasition, the use of $4.7 billion of net cash &oquisitions, the repurchases of our common
stock (see discussion above) and the payment bfdisglends to our stockholders. Cash, cash eqgiivsland marketable securities included
$26.8 billion held by our foreign subsidiaries &diay 31, 2012, $20.9 billion of which we considedefinitely reinvested earnings outside the
United States. These undistributed earnings woeldubject to U.S. income tax if repatriated toltimited States. Assuming a full utilization of
the foreign tax credits, the potential deferredliability associated with these undistributed éags would be approximately $6.3 billion as of
May 31, 2012. The amount of cash, cash equivalmdsnarketable securities that we report in U.Slabofor a significant portion of the cash
held by our foreign subsidiaries is subject to ¢fation adjustments caused by changes in foreigemey exchange rates as of the end of each
respective reporting period (the offset to whicheisorded to accumulated other comprehensive inéorer consolidated balance sheet). As
the U.S. Dollar generally strengthened against majernational currencies during fiscal 2012, #meount of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities that we reported in U.S. @slfor these subsidiaries decreased as of Ma@P, relative to what we would have
reported using constant currency rates as of MapyG11.

The increase in cash, cash equivalents and mat&etaburities at May 31, 2011 in comparison to Nay2010 was primarily due to cash
generated from our operating activities, our isseast $3.25 billion of senior notes in July 201@&1.15 billion of short-term borrowings
made pursuant to certain of our revolving credieagnents. Additionally, cash, cash equivalentsraatketable securities balances increased
due to the weakening of the U.S. Dollar in comgarito certain major international currencies duffisgal 2011. These increases in our cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities balameespartially offset by the repayment of $2.28dy of our senior notes which matured in
January 2011, the repayment of $881 million of caruial paper notes, the usage of $1.9 billion afaash for acquisitions, repurchases of
common stock and the payments of cash dividendsitstockholders.

Days sales outstanding, which is calculated byditigj period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the quarter, was 53 days at
May 31, 2012 compared with 55 days at May 31, 20he. days sales outstanding calculation excludesebenue adjustments that primarily
reduce our acquired cloud software subscriptiofinswe license updates and product support obtigatand hardware systems support
obligations to fair value.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2012 Change 2011 Change 2010

Net cash provided by operating activit $13,74: 23% $11,21¢ 29% $ 8,681
Net cash used for investing activiti $(8,38)) 38% $(6,087) -41% $ (10,319
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actiw $(6,099 1,282% $ b51€ 81% $ 2,664
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Cash flows from operating activities: Our largest source of operating cash flowsghacollections from our customers following the
purchase and renewal of their software license t@gdand product support agreements. Payments fuistoroers for these support agreements
are generally received near the beginning of thigraots’ terms, which are generally one year igtenWe also generate significant cash from
new software license sales, sales of hardwareraggpeoducts and hardware systems support arrangeiah, to a lesser extent, services. Our
primary uses of cash from operating activitiesfareemployee related expenditures, material andufaturing costs related to the production
of our hardware systems products, taxes and |dasgities.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by operating activities iasex in fiscal 2012 primarily due to increased net
income adjusted for amortization of intangible éssstock-based compensation and depreciatiomcaease in cash from the collection of
trade receivables, an increase in cash receivedelaes to our deferred revenue balances, a@seia cash used to pay income tax obliga
and certain other net cash favorable working chpitavements, in each case compared to fiscal ZDlidse cash favorable movements were
partially offset by an increase in cash used toquaypensation liabilities in fiscal 2012 such amaotssions and bonuses in comparison to
fiscal 2011.

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010:Net cash provided by operating activities incredadiscal 2011 primarily due to higher net income
adjusted for amortization of intangible assets;lstoased compensation and depreciation. Thesd 86@&4 increases were partially offset by
certain unfavorable changes in working capitalnarily increases in net trade receivables resuftiogy increases in revenues during our fiscal
fourth quarter of 2011 in comparison to fiscal 2010

Cash flows from investing activities: The changes in cash flows from investing atiigiprimarily relate to acquisitions and the tigif
purchases, maturities and sales of our investniemtsarketable debt securities. We also use casivést in capital and other assets to support
our growth.

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for investing activities increiaisefiscal 2012 due to an increase in cash used fo
acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and an incrigasapital expenditures, partially offset by amese in net cash used to purchase marketable
securities (net of proceeds received from saleswatdrities).

Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for investing activities decréasdiscal 2011 due to a decrease in cash used for
acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and a deciieasesh used to purchase marketable securitieo{mebceeds received from sales and
maturities), partially offset by an increase in capital expenditures.

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing atiigi primarily relate to borrowings and paymentdam
debt facilities as well as stock repurchases, divitipayments and proceeds from stock option exe.cis

Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 201 We used net cash for financing activities gtéil 2012 of $6.1 billion in comparison to net cash
provided by financing activities in fiscal 2011$616 million primarily due to our increase in conmgiock repurchases in fiscal 2012 (see
discussion in “Working Capital” above and Note INotes to Consolidated Financial Statements iretelsewhere in this Annual Report for
additional information), a reduction in the amoahtlebt that we issued in fiscal 2012 ($1.7 billmfrshort-term borrowings pursuant to a
revolving credit facility in May 2012 in comparisém $3.25 billion of long-term senior notes in J@Y10 and $1.15 billion of borrowings
pursuant to revolving credit facilities in May 2Q1and a decrease in proceeds from stock optiorces during fiscal 2012, in each case in
comparison to fiscal 2011. These unfavorable imp#axour financing cash flows during fiscal 2012evpartially offset by a decrease in cash
used for debt related repayments during fiscal 281215 billion of short-term borrowings pursuamour revolving credit facilities and $255
million of RightNow’s legacy convertible notes waspaid in February 2012 in comparison to fiscdlR@epayments of $2.25 billion of senior
notes and $881 million of commercial paper notes).
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Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by financing activities isctl 2011 decreased due to a reduction in the anedun
debt that we issued in fiscal 2011 ($1.15 billimmrbwed pursuant to our revolving credit faciliteasd $3.25 billion of long-term senior notes
issued) in comparison to fiscal 2010 ($4.5 billafriong-term senior notes and $2.8 billion of connoied paper notes issued). This unfavorable
impact to our financing cash flows was partialljset by a cash favorable reduction in debt repayséuring fiscal 2011 (repayments of $2
billion of senior notes in January 2011 and $88llioni of commercial paper notes) in comparisonisedl 2010 (repayments of $1.9 billion of
commercial paper notes, $1.0 billion of floatingeraenior notes and $700 million of Ssitégacy convertible notes) and an increase inger
from stock option exercises during fiscal 2011.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flowsaptesl on a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measureastrf flows on a
trailing 4-quarter basis to analyze cash flows gateel from our operations. We believe free cash floalso useful as one of the bases for
comparing our performance with our competitors. phesentation of non-GAAP free cash flow is not mida be considered in isolation or as
an alternative to net income as an indicator ofpmrformance, or as an alternative to cash floamhfoperating activities as a measure of
liquidity. We calculate free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2012 Change 2011 Change 2010

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 13,74 23% $ 11,21« 29% $ 8,68
Capital expenditure® (64¢) 44% (450 96% (230
Free cash flov $ 13,09 22% $ 10,76¢ 27% $ 8,451
Net income $ 9,981 $ 8,54 39% $ 6,13¢
Free cash flow as percent of net incc 131% 126% 138%

(1) Represents capital expenditures as reportedsim ftaws from investing activities in our consolied statements of cash flows presented in accoedaith U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles
Long-Term Customer Financing: We offer certain of our customers the option touseour software products, hardware systems pitsduc
and services offerings through separate long-teaym@nt contracts. We generally sell these contthatsve have financed on a non-recourse
basis to financial institutions within 90 days bétcontracts’ dates of execution. We record thesfeas of amounts due from customers to
financial institutions as sales of financial assesause we are considered to have surrenderemlcoithese financial assets. We financed
$1.6 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.2 billion, respeely, or approximately 16% of our new softwareelse revenues in each of fiscal 2012, 2011
and 2010, and $134 million and $117 million, resjppety, or approximately 3% of our hardware systgrsducts revenues in each of fiscal
2012 and 2011.

Recent Financing Activities

Revolving Credit Agreement On May 29, 2012, we borrowed $1.7 billion puast to a revolving credit agreement with JPMorGaiase
Bank, N.A., as initial lender and administrativeagj and J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC, as sole &aahger and sole bookrunner (the 2012
Credit Agreement). Interest for the 2012 Creditéamnent is based on either (x) a “base rate” caklas the highest of (i) JPMorgan’s prime
rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus@s and (iii) the LIBOR for deposits in U.S. Dolgslus 1%, or (y) LIBOR for deposits made in
U.S. Dollars plus 0.35%, depending on the typeasfdwings made by us. This borrowing is due on RJl12012, which is the termination date
of the 2012 Credit Agreement. Additional detailgarding the 2012 Credit Agreement are includedateN8 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport.

On June 30, 2011, our revolving credit agreemeiitts BNP Paribas, as initial lender and administeatfigent, and BNP Paribas Securities
Corp., as sole lead arranger and sole bookruniner2@11 Credit Agreements), to borrow $1.15 bilkegre repaid in full and the 2011 Credit
Agreements expired pursuant to their terms.

RightNow Convertible Notes Subsequent to the closing of our acquisitibRightNow, we repaid, in full, $255 million of RigNow’s
legacy convertible notes during the third quarfdiszal 2012.
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Senior Notes As of May 31, 2012 and May 31, 2011, we had.8Dillion of senior notes outstanding of which3hillion matures and is
payable in fiscal 2013. In accordance with ourgdtiions under a registration rights agreement edtito in July 2010 in connection with the
original issuance of our $3.25 billion of fixedeatenior notes consisting of $1.0 billion of 3.8786tes due July 2020 (2020 Notes) and $2.25
billion of 5.375% notes due July 2040 (2040 Noteg] together with the 2020 Notes, the Original &eNiotes), on December 16, 2011 we
completed a registered offer to exchange the Qaldghenior Notes for new freely tradable notes hgtétms substantially identical to the
Original Senior Notes. An aggregate of $994 millgsincipal amount of the 2020 Notes and an aggeegb$2.24 billion principal amount of
the 2040 Notes were tendered and exchanged irffigre Additional details regarding these seniorasoand all other borrowings are include
Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesigrdiuded elsewhere in this Annual Rep

Common Stock Repurchases Our Board of Directors has approved a progi@nus to repurchase shares of our common stock. On
December 20, 2011, we announced that our Boardretfors approved an expansion of our stock re@selprogram by an additional $5.0
billion. On June 18, 2012, we announced that owarB@f Directors approved a further expansion bypdditional $10.0 billion. As of May 31,
2012, approximately $3.1 billion remained availafolestock repurchases under the stock repurchasggm prior to the June 2012 additional
amount authorized. We repurchased 207.3 milliomeshfor $6.0 billion, 40.4 million shares for $hilion and 43.3 million shares for $1.0
billion in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivédyr stock repurchase authorization does not hawexpiration date and the pace of our
repurchase activity will depend on factors sucbuwsworking capital needs, our cash requirementadquisitions and dividend repayments,
our debt repayment obligations (described furtiedow), our stock price and economic and market itimmg. Our stock repurchases may be
effected from time to time through open market pases or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stqmkrchase program may be accelerated,
suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

Cash Dividends In fiscal 2012, we declared and paid cashdgintds of $0.24 per share that totaled $1.2 billiodune 2012, our Board of
Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend 006(er share of outstanding common stock payabkugust 3, 2012 to stockholders of
record as of the close of business on July 13, 2bd®ire declarations of dividends and the estaiient of future record and payment date:
subject to the final determination of our Boardafectors.
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Contractual Obligations: The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymendgufixed
contractual obligations and commitments. Changesiirbusiness needs, cancellation provisions, dhgrigterest rates and other factors may
result in actual payments differing from thesereates. We cannot provide certainty regarding tinnt§ and amounts of payments. We have
presented below a summary of the most significastiaptions used in preparing this information waittie context of our consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cmlvs. The following is a summary of certain of axmtractual obligations as of May 31, 2012:

Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Principal payments on borrowin@ $ 16,45( $ 295 $ — $150C $200 $ — $10,00(
Interest payments on borrowin® 10,06: 73€ 67€ 665 65E 55C 6,77¢
Operating lease® 1,53¢ 40€ 307 227 172 12¢ 294
Purchase obligations and ott® 57¢ 523 49 4 3 — —

Total contractual obligatior $ 28627 $4617 $103. $239% $283 $ 67¢ $17,07:

() Our total borrowings consisted of the followingaddviay 31, 2012 (dollars in millions

Amount

Short-term borrowings (effective interest rate &4%) $ 1,70C
4.95% senior notes due April 20 1,25(
3.75% senior notes due July 2014, including falue@adjustment of $6 1,56¢
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disafis# 1,99¢
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafril 2,49¢
5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discofiib 1,74%
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discotii2 99¢
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discafr$i2 1,24¢
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discotii8 1,242
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discofii4 2,22¢
Total borrowings $16,47¢

We have entered into certain interest ratgpsagaeements related to our July 2014 senior nibtgshave the economic effect of modifying the éeterest obligations associated with
these senior notes so that the interest obligag€fiestively became variable pursuant to a LIBORdzhindex. Interest payments on the July 2014 seoies presented in the
contractual obligations table above have been agtidnusing an interest rate of 1.39%, which repteskeour effective interest rate as of May 31, 28ft@r consideration of these fixed
to variable interest rate swap agreements, ansgiudnject to change in future periods. The changésinivalue of our debt associated with the interate risk that we are hedging
pursuant to these agreements are included in pategble and other n-current borrowings in our consolidated balance sheé have been included in the above table obbongs.

(@ Primarily represents leases of facilities anduides future minimum rent payments for facilitibattwe have vacated pursuant to our restructuridgnaerger integration activities. We
have approximately $249 million in facility obligans, net of estimated sublease income, for ceviatated locations in accrued restructuring inammsolidated balance sheet at
May 31, 2012

() Primarily represents amounts associated with ageatsthat are enforceable, legally binding and i§peerms, including: fixed or minimum quantities be purchased:; fixed, minimt
or variable price provisions; and the approximatertg of the payment. We utilize several externahmfacturers to manufacture sub-assemblies fohaxgware products and to
perform final assembly and testing of finished etk products. We also obtain individual hardwamegonents for our products from a variety of indial suppliers based on
projected demand information. Such purchase comemitsnare based on our forecasted component andas&uming requirements and typically provide folfiftment within agreed
upon lead-times and/or commercially standard léaés for the particular part or product and havenbiecluded in the amount presented in the abomgactual obligations table.
Routine arrangements for other materials and gtwdsare not related to our external manufactuaadscertain other suppliers and that are entettednrthe ordinary course of
business are not included in this amount as thegenerally entered into in order to secure pricingther negotiated terms and are difficult tortfifg in a meaningful way

As of May 31, 2012, we had $4.0 billion of grossegaognized tax benefits, including related intesest penalties, recorded on our
consolidated balance sheet and all such obligatiame been excluded from the table above due tortbertainty as to when they might be
settled. We have reached certain settlement agréeméth relevant taxing authorities to pay appnaxiely $47.5 million of these liabilities.
Although it remains unclear as to when paymentsymumt to these agreements will be made, some pragllbe made in fiscal 2013.
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We cannot make a reasonably reliable estimateegpdniod in which the remainder of our unrecognizedbenefits will be settled or released
with the relevant tax authorities, although we ®@di it is reasonably possible that certain of thiefdities could be settled or released during
fiscal 2013.

As described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidatedfaial Statements included elsewhere in this AnRegilort, we have contingent
consideration payable as a result of our acqursiioPillar Data Systems, Inc. that will settlefiscal 2015.

Subsequent to fiscal 2012, we agreed to acquitainerompanies for amounts that are not materialtdousiness. We expect to close such
acquisitions within the next twelve months.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivakamismarketable securities and cash generated fpenations will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, capital expenditures and contrakctbligation requirements. In addition, we beliewe could fund any future acquisitions,
dividend payments and repurchases of common stodkld with our internally available cash, cashiegjents and marketable securities, cash
generated from operations, additional borrowingBam the issuance of additional securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements: We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangentieat have or are reasonably likely to have sectiror
future effect on our financial condition, changedinancial condition, revenues or expenses, resilbperations, liquidity, capital expenditu
or capital resources that are material to investors

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly revenues, expenses and operating incawe tistorically been affected by a variety of seas factors, including sales force
incentive compensation plans. In addition, our peen operations generally provide lower revenueslirfirst fiscal quarter because of the
reduced economic activity in Europe during the semrihese seasonal factors are common in the a@imoblogy industry. These factors hi
caused a decrease in our first quarter revenuesragared to revenues in the immediately precedingti quarter, which historically has been
our highest revenue quarter within a particulacdig/ear. Similarly, the operating income of ousinmess is affected by seasonal factors in a
consistent manner as our revenues (in particularew software licenses segment) as certain eggemishin our cost structure are relatively
fixed in the short-term. We expect these trendstttinue in fiscal 2013.

The following tables set forth selected unauditedrterly information for our last eight fiscal gtexs. We believe that all necessary
adjustments, which consisted only of normal reogradjustments, have been included in the amotatisdsbelow to present fairly the results
of such periods when read in conjunction with thesolidated financial statements and related rintdsded elsewhere in this Annual Report.
The sum of the quarterly financial information meayry from the annual data due to rounding.

Fiscal 2012 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 3( February 29 May 31

Revenue! $ 8,37« $ 8,79 $ 9,03¢ $ 10,91¢
Gross profil $ 6,33¢ $ 6,792 $ 7,08t $ 8,85:
Operating incomt $ 2,68: $ 3,111 $ 3,31% $ 4,59¢
Net income $ 1,84( $ 2,19 $ 2,49¢ $ 3,451
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.3¢€ $ 0.42 $ 0.5 $ 0.7¢C
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.3¢€ $ 0.42 $ 04¢ $ 0.6¢

Fiscal 2011 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue:! $ 7,502 $ 8,582 $ 8,76¢ $ 10,77
Gross profil $ 5,401 $ 6,38 $ 6,70% $ 8,54«
Operating incom: $ 1,917 $ 2,77C $ 2,98i $ 4,35¢
Net income $ 1,352 $ 1,87(C $ 2,11¢ $ 3,20¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.27 $ 0.37 $ 042 $ 0.6
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.27 $ 0.317 $ 041 $ 0.6z
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Stock Options and Restricted Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is a key coermmf the compensation package we provide tacitémd retain certain of our talented
employees and align their interests with the irgtiref existing stockholders. We historically hgvanted only stock options to our employees
and any restricted stock-based awards outstandéng assumed as a result of our acquisitions.

We recognize that options and restricted stockdbaseards dilute existing stockholders and have Isptegcontrol the number of options and
restricted stock-based awards granted while progidbmpetitive compensation packages. Consistehtthise dual goals, our cumulative
potential dilution since June 1, 2009 has beenighted average annualized rate of 1.7% per year.pbhential dilution percentage is
calculated as the average annualized new optioresticted stock-based awards granted and assuraedf options and restricted stolo&sec
awards forfeited by employees leaving the compdiwded by the weighted average outstanding shdwesg the calculation period. This
maximum potential dilution will only result if atiptions are exercised and restricted stock-basaddswest. Some of the outstanding options,
which generally have a 10 year exercise periode fexercise prices higher than the current markeé @f our common stock. At May 31,
2012, 28.0% of our outstanding stock options hata@se prices in excess of the current market phiceecent years, our stock repurchase
program has more than offset the dilutive effeauf stock-based compensation program; howevemaereduce the level of our stock
repurchases in the future as we may use our al@italsh for acquisitions, to pay dividends, to yeparepurchase indebtedness or for other
purposes. At May 31, 2012, the maximum potentilaitidin from all outstanding and unexercised stopkians and restricted stock-based
awards, regardless of when granted and regardiegsather vested or unvested and including optighsre the strike price is higher than the
current market price, was 8.7%.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeriews and approves the organization-wide stqtion grants to selected employees,
all stock option grants to executive officers angt andividual stock option grants in excess of D00, shares. A separate Plan Committee,
which is an executive officer committee, approvetividual stock option grants of up to 100,000 ssap non-executive officers and
employees. Stock option and restricted stock-basextd activity from June 1, 2009 through May 31128 summarized as follows (shares in
millions):

Options and restricted stc-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 35¢
Options grante: 294
Options and restricted stc-based awards assum 43
Options exercised and restricted s--based awards vest (189)
Forfeitures, cancellations and other, (88)

Options and restricted stc-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 42t

Weighted average annualized options and restrittezl-based awards granted and assumed, net of forfeitune cancellation 83

Weighted average annualized stock repurch 97)

Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 4,90t

Basic weighted average shares outstanding from Ju2@09 through May 31, 20: 5,02¢

Options and restricted stc-based awards outstanding as a percent of shargamding at May 31, 201 8.7%

In the money options and total restricted stockedamswvards outstanding (based on the closing pfioarocommon stock on the last trading day of esedl period presented) as a

percent of shares outstanding at May 31, z 6.2%

Weighted average annualized options and restrittezk-based awards granted and assumed, net eittoels and cancellations and before stock repeeshas a percent of

weighted average shares outstanding from June0B, 20ough May 31, 201 1.7%
Weighted average annualized options and restrittszk-based awards granted and assumed, net eitfioels and cancellations and after stock repueshas a percent of
weighted average shares outstanding from June0B, 2Gough May 31, 201 -0.3%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuahizgi#on-wide option grants to certain employedsese annual option grants are made
during the ten business day period following theosel trading day after the announcement of ouafiaurth quarter earnings report.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncementur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 of Notes to ConsolidateahEial Statements included elsewhere in this AnRegort.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Marketable Securities anchterest Income Risk

Our bank deposits and money market investmentgererally held with a number of large, diversefiicial institutions worldwide, which we
believe mitigates certain risks. In addition, weghase high quality debt security investmentspfihich have maturity dates, if any, within
two years from the date of purchase (see a demeript our debt securities held in Notes 3 and #lofes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report and “Létityi and Capital Resources” above). Thereforer@sierate movements generally do not
materially affect the valuation of our debt seguiitvestments. Substantially all of our marketag®deurities are designated as availablestde.
We generally do not use our investments for tragingposes.

Changes in the overall level of interest ratescffiee interest income that is generated from ashgccash equivalents and marketable
securities. For fiscal 2012, total interest incomeges $231 million with our investments yielding areeage 0.72% on a worldwide basis. The
table below presents the fair values of our caabh @quivalent and marketable securities and tatedeweighted average interest rates for our
investment portfolio at May 31, 2012 and 2011.

May 31,
2012 2011

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Interest Interest

(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Rate Fair Value Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $14,95¢ 0.61% $16,16: 0.61%
Marketable securitie 15,72: 0.80% 12,68¢ 0.68%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable ses $30,67¢ 0.71% $28,84¢ 0.64%

Interest Expense Risk

Our total borrowings were $16.5 billion as of Maly, 2012, all of which were fixed rate borrowingsitlire changes in interest rates and
resulting changes in estimated fair values of ardwings other than our senior notes due July 28044 Notes) and short-term borrowings
pursuant to our 2012 Credit Agreement would notdotghe interest expense we recognize in our cimtaet statements of operations. We
have entered into certain fixed to variable interate swap agreements to manage the interesimdteelated fair value of our 2014 Notes so
that the interest payable on the 2014 Notes effelgtibecame variable based on LIBOR. We do notlusge interest rate swap arrangements ol
our fixed rate borrowings for trading purposes. Nége designated these swap agreements as qualifgdging instruments and are accour
for them as fair value hedges pursuant to ASC BEsivatives and HedgingThese transactions are characterized as faievadges for
financial accounting purposes because they pragagainst changes in the fair value of our fixaeé borrowings due to benchmark interest
rate movements. The changes in fair values of thteeest rate swap agreements are recognizedeasshexpense in our consolidated
statements of operations with the correspondinguartsancluded in other assets or other non-cutialpiities in our consolidated balance
sheets. The amount of net gain (loss) attributebtae risk being hedged is recognized as intengs¢nse in our consolidated statements of
operations with the corresponding amount inclugedates payable and other non-current borrowings. eriodic interest settlements for the
swap agreements, which occur at the same intesvificsse per the 2014 Notes, are recorded as ihtqgsnse.

By entering into these interest rate swap arrangésnee have assumed risks associated with variatgeest rates based upon LIBOR. Our
2014 Notes had an effective interest rate of 1.38%f May 31, 2012, after considering the effeéthe aforementioned interest rate swap
arrangements. Changes in the overall level of
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interest rates affect the interest expense thaea@gnize in our statements of operations. An @derate risk sensitivity analysis is used to
measure interest rate risk by computing estimalteaiges in cash flows as a result of assumed chamgesrket interest rates. As of May 31,
2012, if LIBOR-based interest rates increased iy H4sis points, the change would increase ourdstexxpense annually by approximately
$15 million as it relates to our fixed to variabiéerest rate swap agreements.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We transact business in various foreign curreremeshave established a program that primarilyzetdliforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofagerforeign currency exposures. Under this prograun strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases aredaes in our foreign currency exposures are dffsghins or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the riskd aplatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposungsdally arise from intercompany sublicense feptgricompany loans and other
intercompany transactions that are expected t@ble settled in the near term. Our foreign currdooyard contracts are generally short-term
in duration.

We neither use these foreign currency forward easrfor trading purposes nor do we designate toes@ard contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we record the Yailues of these contracts as of the end of quortiang period to our consolidated balance
sheet with changes in fair values recorded to ousaclidated statement of operations. The balaneetsitassification for the fair values of th
forward contracts is prepaid expenses and otheeruassets for a net unrealized gain positionadher current liabilities for a net unrealized
loss position. The statement of operations clasgifin for changes in fair values of these forwardtracts is non-operating income (expense),
net for both realized and unrealized gains ancelass

We expect that we will continue to realize gainsosses with respect to our foreign currency expeswnet of gains or losses from our foreign
currency forward contracts. Our ultimate realizathgor loss with respect to foreign currency expeswvill generally depend on the size and
type of crosszurrency transactions that we enter into, the cugreexchange rates associated with these exposndeshanges in those rates,
net realized gain or loss on our foreign currermyvard contracts and other factors. As of May 3, 2and 2011, the notional amounts of the
forward contracts we held to purchase U.S. Doilaexchange for other major international curresei@re $3.0 billion and $2.5 billion,
respectively, and the notional amounts of forwardtracts we held to sell U.S. Dollars in excharareother major international currencies
were $873 million and $1.6 billion, respectivehheTfair values of our outstanding foreign currefaryvard contracts were nominal at May 31,
2012 and 2011. Net foreign exchange transactiomsgédsses) included in non-operating income (egpgmet in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations were $(105pm $11 million and $(149) million in fiscal 22, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Included
in the net foreign exchange transaction lossefifoal 2010 were foreign currency losses relatmgur Venezuelan subsidiary’s operations,
which are more thoroughly described under “Non-@pirg Income (Expense), net” in Management’s Dismrsand Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations above. Asgelgiortion of our consolidated operations are irggonal, we could experience additional
foreign currency volatility in the future, the anmis and timing of which may vary.

Foreign Currency Translation Risk

Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the antairiotal assets and liabilities that we reportdar foreign subsidiaries upon the translation
of these amounts into U.S. Dollars. In particulae, amount of cash, cash equivalents and marketablgrities that we report in U.S. Dollars
for a significant portion of the cash held by theabsidiaries is subject to translation varianagesed by changes in foreign currency exchange
rates as of the end of each respective reportiriggpéhe offset to which is recorded to accumuatther comprehensive income on our
consolidated balance sheet). Periodically, we neadgh net assets of certain international subsedidrom foreign currency exposure.

As the U.S. Dollar fluctuated against certain inggional currencies as of the end of fiscal 20t ,a@mount of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities that we reported in U.S. @slfor these subsidiaries as of May 31, 2012 dsectrelative to what we would have
reported using a constant currency rate as of May@311. As reported in our consolidated statemeintash flows, the estimated effect of
exchange rate changes on
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our reported cash and cash equivalents balandgssirDollars for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 wadex(fease) increase of $(471) million, $t
million and $(107) million, respectively. The folling table includes estimates of the U.S. Dollasieglent of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities denominated in certain nfajaign currencies as of May 31, 2012:

U.S. Dollar

Equivalent at

(in millions) May 31, 201Z
Euro $ 1,30:
Chinese Renmint 93C
Indian Rupet 814
Japanese Ye 76C
Australian Dollar 712
South African Rant 32¢
Canadian Dolla 25¢
British Pounc 25¢€
Other foreign currencie 2,002
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $ 7,36¢

If overall foreign currency exchange rates in corigma to the U.S. Dollar uniformly weakened by 1G#& amount of cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities we would report in U.8lldbs would decrease by approximately $737 milliassuming constant foreign currency
cash, cash equivalent and marketable securitiembas.

Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The response to this item is submitted as a sepsaeation of this Annual Report. See Part 1V, ItEn

Iltem 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accotemts on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatiodar the supervision and with the
participation of our Disclosure Committee and o@nagement, including the Chief Executive Officed #ime Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of osgldsure controls and procedures pursuant to ExghAct Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e).
Disclosure controls are procedures that are degigmensure that information required to be disatbi® our reports filed under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, sucthiasAnnual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, pssesl, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified by the U.S. Securities Bxchange Commission. Disclosure controls a@ @dgsigned to ensure that such
information is accumulated and communicated toroanagement, including our Chief Executive Officed &hief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of discire controls includes an evaluation of
some components of our internal control over fimaneporting. We also perform a separate annualuation of internal control over financial
reporting for the purpose of providing the manageineport below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls includagview of their objectives and design, our impeatation of the controls and the effect of
the controls on the information generated for nskhis Annual Report on Form 10-In the course of the controls evaluation, weeaxed dat:
errors or control problems identified and soughtdafirm that appropriate corrective actions, inlbhg process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation is performeagauarterly basis so that the conclusions of mamaat, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concerning tffectiveness of the disclosure controls can perted in our periodic reports on Form 10-Q
and Form 10-K. Many of the components of our discfe
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controls are also evaluated on an ongoing basbyour internal audit and finance organizatidriee overall goals of these various
evaluation activities are to monitor our discloscoatrols and to modify them as necessary. We thtermaintain our disclosure controls as
dynamic processes and procedures that we adjesttasnstances merit.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with thégiaation of our Chief Executive Officer and ouri€hFinancial Officer), as of the end of
the period covered by this report, our Chief ExeeuOfficer and our Chief Financial Officer havenctuded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.

Managemen’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Underdupervision and with the participation of oumagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, wentucted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofii@rnal control over financial reporting as
of May 31, 2012 based on the guidelines establighédernal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.i@ernal control over financial reporting incliedpolicies and procedures that provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafiicial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accouptimgiples.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéconcluded that our internal control over finahreporting was effective as of May 31,
2012. We reviewed the results of management’s sissad with our Finance and Audit Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of May 31, 2012 has been auditeHrnst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtteport which is included in Part IV, Item 15this Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportin

There were no changes in our internal control diwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurteithg our last fiscal quarter that have materiaffgcted, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaacreporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, believes that oisctbsure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting are desd to provide reasonable assurance of achievaigdbjectives and are effective at the
reasonable assurance level. However, our managaetoestnot expect that our disclosure controls andgalures or our internal control over
financial reporting will prevent all errors and fthud. A control system, no matter how well comeeli and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the igigct the control system are met. Further, theégieof a control system must reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints and the bsrméfdontrols must be considered relative to tbegts. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can jg®wabsolute assurance that all control issuesrestances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include tladities that judgments in decision making can hdtyeand that breakdowns can occur because
of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, cons@an be circumvented by the individual acts ofs@@rsons, by collusion of two or more
people or by management override of the contrdig design of any system of controls also is basgeit upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events and there can be naii@see that any design will succeed in achieviagtited goals under all potential future
conditions; over time, controls may become inadégbacause of changes in conditions, or the degfreempliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inhénaitditions in a cost effective control systemssiatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprmate Governance

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10aH€, information required by this item relating tar @xecutive officers is included under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” iarPl of this Annual Report.

The other information required by this Item 10risarporated by reference from the information cioetd in our Proxy Statement to be filed
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissiaroimection with the solicitation of proxies forr@012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(the “2012 Proxy Statement”) under the sectiongledt“Board of Directors—Nominees for DirectorsBoard of Directors—Committees,
Membership and Meetings—Committee Memberships @uFiscal 2012,” “Board of Directors—Committees, Mamnship and Meetings—
The Finance and Audit Committee,” “Corporate Goagiee—Employee Matters—Code of Conduct” and “Secti®fa) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance”.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorgted by reference from the information to be cioet@d in our 2012 Proxy Statement under
the sections entitled “Board of Directors—Commigtelembership and Meetings—The Compensation ComeriCompensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Board ofrB¢tors—Director Compensation” and “Executive Congagion”.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficibOwners and Management and Related Stockholder M&trs

The information required by this Item 12 is incorged herein by reference from the informationeacbntained in our 2012 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Security Ownershigeftain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Btge Compensation—Equity
Compensation Plan Information”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incarqted herein by reference from the information@acbntained in our 2012 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Corporate Governancear of Directors and Director Independence” andifiBactions with Related Persons”.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorgted herein by reference from the informationeacbntained in our 2012 Proxy Statement
under the section entitled “Ratification of Selentof Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedes

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegistéPablic Accounting Firm 82
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2012 and - 84
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag@i12, 2011 and 201 85
Statements of Equity for the years ended May 31220011 and 201 86
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag@®i12, 2011 and 201 87
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 88
2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is filsla part of this repol
Page
Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 13C

All other schedules are omitted because they areegaired or the required information is shownha financial statements or notes thereto.
(b) Exhibits
The information required by this Item is set fartthe Index of Exhibits that follows the signatyr@ge of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 2012011, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stateméeguity, and cash flows for each of the three géathe period ended May 31, 2012. Our
audits also included the financial statement scleelikied in the Index at Item 15(a) 2. These fiahstatements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaesibility is to express an opinion on these friahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBigUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@love present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Oracle
Corporation at May 31, 2012 and 2011, and the dateged results of its operations and its cash $iéar each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. genlkgratcepted accounting principles. Also, in oumig, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasimcial statements taken as a whole, presenty faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Oracle
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of May 31, 2012, based on criteria estabtisn Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imations of the Treadway Commission and our ttegiied June 26, 2012 expresse
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Jose, California
June 26, 2012
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s internal adrgver financial reporting as of May 31, 2012, dxaen criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (the COSO criteria).
Oracle Corporation’s management is responsibleni@intaining effective internal control over finaalkieporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying ManagemeRg&port on Internal Control Over Financ
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the Company’s internal control over finahc&porting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightfg&@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwar financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiagutne design and operating effectiveness oftiratecontrol based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with gelyesaktepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftaipeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteaffainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, limaaterial respects, effective internal controkofinancial reporting as of May 31, 2012,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@inited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Oracle Corporation as of May812 and 2011, and the related consolidated statsméoperations, equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended 8132012 of Oracle Corporation and our reportdidtene 26, 2012 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Jose, California
June 26, 2012
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2012 and 2011

(in millions, except per share data

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie

Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtfebants of $323 and $372 as of May 31, 2012 ¢

2011, respectivel

Inventories

Deferred tax asse

Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse

Non-current assett

Property, plant and equipment, |

Intangible assets, n

Goodwill

Deferred tax asse

Other asset
Total nor-current assel

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensation and related benu
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilitie:
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing:
Income taxes payab
Other nor-current liabilities
Total nor-current liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par ve—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpita—authorized: 11,000 share
outstanding: 4,905 shares and 5,068 shares asy81&012 and 2011, respectiv:

Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive inca

Total Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity
Noncontrolling interest

Total equity
Total liabilities and equit

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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May 31,

2012

$ 2,95(

2,00z
7,03¢
2,96:
15,38¢

13,52«
3,75¢
1,56¢

18,85

2011

$16,16:
12,68¢

w
o
A ()

$ 1,15(

2,32(
6,80-
3,42¢
14,19:

14,77
3,16¢
1,15;

19,09¢
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2012 2011 2010
Revenues
New software license $ 9,90¢ $ 9,23t $ 7,53
Software license updates and product sug 16,21( 14,79¢ 13,09:
Software revenue 26,11¢ 24,03 20,62¢
Hardware systems produt 3,82 4,382 1,50¢
Hardware systems suppt 2,47¢ 2,562 784
Hardware systems revent 6,30z 6,944 2,29(
Services 4,703 4,64 3,90¢
Total revenue 37,12: 35,62: 26,82(
Operating expense
Sales and marketir@® 7,123 6,57¢ 5,08(
Software license updates and product sug® 1,22¢ 1,26¢ 1,06:
Hardware systems produ«® 1,84: 2,057 88C
Hardware systems supp«® 1,04¢ 1,25¢ 427
Services® 3,74 3,81¢ 3,39¢
Research and developm 4,52 4,51¢ 3,25¢
General and administrati\ 1,12¢ 97C 911
Amortization of intangible asse 2,43( 2,42¢ 1,97:
Acquisition related and othi 56 20¢ 154
Restructuring 29t 487 622
Total operating expens 23,41°¢ 23,58¢ 17,75¢
Operating incomi 13,70¢ 12,03: 9,06:
Interest expens (76€) (80¢) (754)
Non-operating income (expense), | 22 18€ (65)
Income before provision for income tay 12,96: 11,41 8,24:
Provision for income taxe 2,981 2,86¢ 2,10¢
Net income $ 9,981 $ 8,541 $ 6,13¢
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 1.9¢ $ 1.6 $ 1.27
Diluted $ 1.9¢€ $ 1.67 $ 121
Weighted average common shares outstant
Basic 5,01t 5,04¢ 5,014
Diluted 5,09t 5,12¢ 5,07:
Dividends declared per common sh $ 0.24 $ 0.21 $ 0.2C

(1) Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, athis shown separatel

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
For the Years Ended May 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Common Stock and Total
Additional Paid in Accumulated Oracle
Capital Other Corporation
Comprehensive  Number of Retainec  Comprehensive  Stockholders’ Noncontrolling

(in millions) Income Shares Amount  Earnings Income Equity Interests Total Equity
Balances as of May 31, 20i 500t $1298( $ 1189: $ 21€  $ 25,09 $ 3BE $ 25,44%
Common stock issued under stock-based compensation

plans — 60 81z — — 81z — 81z
Common stock issued under stock purchase | — 3 62 — — 62 — 62
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awards

in connection with acquisitior — — 10C — — 10C — 10C
Stocl-based compensatic — — 44C — — 44C — 44C
Repurchase of common sta — (43) (112) (880) — (992) — (992)
Cash dividends declared ($0.20 per sh — — — (1,009 — (1,009 — (1,009
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 26¢ — — 26¢ — 26¢
Other, ne — 1 98 1 — 99 10C
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — — (59) (59)
Net unrealized loss on defined benefit plans, figdxa (35) — — — (35) (35) — (3%)
Foreign currency translation, net of 1 171 — — — 17)) a7y 9 (162)
Net unrealized losses on derivative finan

instruments, net of te (6) — — — (6) (6) — (6)
Net income 6,13t — — 6,13t — 6,13t 95 6,23(
Comprehensive incorr 5,92
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,02¢ 14,64¢ 16,14¢ 4 30,79¢ 401 31,19¢
Common stock issued under stock-based compens

plans — 78 1,281 — — 1,281 — 1,281
Common stock issued under stock purchase | — 4 95 — — 95 — 95
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan aw:

in connection with acquisitior — — 17 — — 17 — 17
Stocl-based compensatic — — 51C — — 51C — 51C
Repurchase of common sta — (40) (121) (1,057) — (1,172 — (2,172)
Cash dividends declared ($0.21 per sh — — — (1,06)) — (1,06)) — (1,067)
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 222 — — 22z — 222
Other, ne — — 1 — — 1 1 2
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — — (65) (65)
Net unrealized gain on defined benefit plans, hédo 32 — — — 32 32 — 32
Foreign currency translation, net of 1 48( — — — 48( 48C 35 51t
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities, hetx 26 — — — 26 26 — 26
Net income 8,541 — — 8,541 — 8,541 97 8,64¢
Comprehensive incor 9,08¢
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,06¢ 16,65: 22,58 542 39,77¢ 46¢S 40,24
Common stock issued under stock-based compensation

plans — 40 622 — — 622 — 622
Common stock issued under stock purchase | — 4 111 — — 111 — 111
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awards

in connection with acquisitior — — 29 — — 29 — 29
Stocl-based compensatic — — 65¢ — — 65¢ — 65¢
Repurchase of common sta — (207) (69€) (5,270 — (5,96¢) — (5,96¢)
Cash dividends declared ($0.24 per sh — — (1,20%) — (1,20%) — (1,20%)
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 113 — — 113 — 11z
Other, ne — — — — — — 2 2
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — — (163) (169)
Net unrealized loss on defined benefit plans, figdxa (102) — — — (102) (102) — (102)
Foreign currency translation, net of 1 (39¢) — — — (39¢) (39¢) (28) (42€)
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities, hetx 7C — — — 7C 70 — 7C
Net income 9,981 — — 9,981 — 9,981 11¢ 10,10(
Comprehensive incorr 9,551
Balances as of May 31, 20 490t $ 17,48¢ $ 26,08 $ 11z $ 4368¢ $ 39¢ $ 44,08°

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended May 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $ 9,981 $ 8,541
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie!
Depreciatior 48€ 36¢
Amortization of intangible asse 2,43( 2,42¢
Allowances for doubtful accounts receiva 92 164
Deferred income taxe 9 (253)
Stoclk-based compensatic 65¢ 51C
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock options axting of restricted sto-basec
awards 182 32t
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optaoml vesting of restricted st
based award (97) (215
Other, ne 84 68
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts from acquisition:
Increase in trade receivabl (8) (729)
Decrease (increase) in inventor 15C (28)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and Gtbetx (52) 14
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabi (720 (220
Increase (decrease) in income taxes pay 54 (96)
Increase in deferred revent 492 231
Net cash provided by operating activit 13,74 11,21«
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securities and other imezgt (38,625 (31,009
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketaloiergies and other investmer 35,59« 27,12(
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (4,702) (1,847
Capital expenditure (64¢) (450
Proceeds from sale of prope — 10t
Net cash used for investing activiti (8,38)) (6,08))
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchases of common s (5,85¢) (1,160
Proceeds from issuances of common s 73z 1,37¢
Payments of dividends to stockhold (1,205 (1,067)
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance ¢ 1,70( 4,35¢
Repayments of borrowing (1,405 (3,149
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optaoml vesting of restricted st-basec
awards 97 21t
Distributions to noncontrolling interes (163) (65)
Other, ne — —
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actig (6,099 51€
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvaénts (477) 60C
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (1,208 6,24¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 16,16: 9,914
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 14,95¢ $ 16,16:
Non-cash investing and financing transactic
Fair value of stock options and restricted stockelbawards assumed in connection with
acquisitions $ 29 $ 17
Fair value of contingent consideration payablednrection with acquisitio $ 34¢€ $ —
Increase in unsettled repurchases of common ¢ $ 11z $ 12
Supplemental schedule of cash flow d:
Cash paid for income tax $ 2,731 $ 2,931
Cash paid for intere: $ 737 $ 77C

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
May 31, 2012

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We develop, manufacture, market, distribute, hodtsupport database and middleware software; atiglits software; and hardware systems,
with the latter consisting primarily of computenser and storage products. Our businesses provatkipts and services that are built upon
industry standards, are engineered to work togethi#rdependently within existing customer inforioattechnology (IT) environments, and
run securely on a wide range of customer IT envirents, including cloud computing environments.

Database and middleware software is generally faettie secure storage, retrieval and manipulatdfosl forms of software-based data and
for developing and deploying applications on thterinet and on corporate intranets. Application$wgfe is generally used to manage and
automate business processes and to provide busmeligence. We also offer software license updand product support contracts that
provide our customers with rights to unspecifieddurct upgrades and maintenance releases issued) dioei support period, as well as
technical support assistance.

On January 26, 2010, we completed our acquisitiddua Microsystems, Inc. (Sun), a provider of haadsvsystems, software and services, by
means of a merger of one of our wholly owned suasg&s with and into Sun such that Sun became dlyvbaned subsidiary of Oracle. As a
result of our acquisition of Sun, we entered intteav hardware systems business. Our hardware syftesiness consists of two operating
segments: (1) hardware systems products, whichistermimarily of computer server and storage pobvadferings and (2) hardware systems
support, which provides customers with unspecifieffware updates for the software components teaessential to the functionality of our
hardware systems and storage products and caméploduct repairs, maintenance services and tealsupport services. In addition, we
enhanced our existing software and services busesesith additional offerings from Sun. Our acdiosi of Sun added a significant amoun
revenues and expenses to our results of operatiamamparison to our historical operating results.

Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements includeda@gounts and the accounts of our wholly- and mgjanivned subsidiaries. Noncontrolling
interest positions of certain of our consolidatatties are reported as a separate component sblidated equity from the equity attributable
to Oracle’s stockholders for all periods presenfdge noncontrolling interests in our net incomeeaveot significant to our consolidated results
for the periods presented and therefore have etindied as a component of non-operating incomeefgsg), net in our consolidated
statements of operations. Intercompany transactiodsalances have been eliminated. Certain otigryear balances have been reclassified
to conform to the current year presentation. Sechassifications did not affect total revenues,rafyieg income or net income. General and
administrative expenses as presented in our caoladed statements of operations for fiscal 201 uihedl a benefit of $120 million related to
recovery of legal costs that reduced our expenmstsat period.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmiiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aatting Standards Codification (ASC) and considentaigous staff accounting bulletins
and other applicable guidance issued by the U.&ur8ies and Exchange Commission (SEC). These atic@uprinciples require us to make
certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. \i&vbehat the estimates, judgments and assumptipos which we rely are reasonable
based upon information available to us at the tina¢ these estimates, judgments and assumptiomsaate. These estimates, judgments and
assumptions can affect the reported amounts ofsaaed liabilities as of the date of the finansi@tements as well as the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the periods pres@ittéde extent there are differences between thstimates, judgments or assumptions and
actual results, our consolidated financial statemsesill be affected. In many cases, the
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2012

accounting treatment of a particular transactiospiscifically dictated by GAAP and does not requir@nagement’ judgment in its applicatio
There are also areas in which management’s judgmeaiecting among available alternatives woultproduce a materially different result.

Revenue Recognition

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software, iticludes new software license revenues earned granting licenses to use our software
products and fees from cloud software subscriptiderings, and software license updates and proslygport revenues; (2) hardware systems,
which includes the sale of hardware systems predactuding computer servers and storage prodaotshardware systems support revenues;
and (3) services, which includes software and hardwelated services including consulting, manadeadd services and education revenues.
Revenue generally is recognized net of any taxksated from customers and subsequently remittegbt@rnmental authorities.

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and SafitevRelated Services (Software Elemer

New software license revenues primarily represees arned from granting customers licenses towseéatabase, middleware a
applications software and exclude revenues defficed software license updates, which are inclugesbiftware license updates and product
support revenues. The basis for our new softwaemsie revenue recognition is substantially govehyetthe accounting guidance contained in
ASC 985-605Software-Revenue Recognitiowe exercise judgment and use estimates in coonesith the determination of the amount of
software and services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not reaignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software license revenues when: (1) we enter inégally binding arrangement with a customer fa libense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undattas; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eflsadause the foregoing conditions are not metea@nized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetselo not include acceptance provisions. Howefagceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are exdjby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theeoiagreement and are short-term in nature, wergty recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the acceptance terms are perfunctory tiothe&r revenue recognition criteria have been. tietcceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions @@ long-term in nature or are not included aaddrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

The vast majority of our software license arrangetmiéclude software license updates and prodymat contracts, which are entered into at
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teehnantent, as well as internet and telephone adoet®chnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsarerglly priced as a percentage of the net newaodtlicense fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updatepesdlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsSoftware Products and Software Related ServicebwW&e@ Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customersphichase both software related products and softwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another gektd to as software related
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multiple-element arrangements). Such softwareedlatultipleelement arrangements include the sale of our softwenducts, software licer
updates and product support contracts and othevaef related services whereby software licensieelglis followed by the subsequent or
contemporaneous delivery of the other elementsthase software related multipdement arrangements, we have applied the residetoc
to determine the amount of software license revehaide recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Uriderdsidual method, if fair value exists
for undelivered elements in a multiple-elementgement, such fair value of the undelivered elementleferred with the remaining portion
of the arrangement consideration recognized upbtwedy of the software license or services arrangeinWe allocate the fair value of each
element of a software related multiple-elementregesanent based upon its fair value as determinexlbyendor specific objective evidence
(VSOE—described further below), with any remainargount allocated to the software license.

Revenue Recognition for Hardware Systems ProduEtardware Systems Related Services and Cloud Sofw&ubscription Offerings
(Nonsoftware Elements)

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejmtssent amounts earned primarily from the sd®mputer servers and storage
products. Our revenue recognition policy for thesasoftware deliverables and other nonsoftwarereedbles including hardware systems
related services and cloud software subscriptiferioys is based upon the accounting guidance twdan ASC 605Revenue Recognitign
and we exercise judgment and use estimates in cbanavith the determination of the amount of haadevsystems products, hardware
systems related services revenues and cloud seftsudascription revenues to be recognized in eambuating period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenagatsecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence aframgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsg€8) the sale price is fixed or determinable] é4) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftsstause the foregoing conditions are not metegegnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce reagefor estimated returns or certain other incerghograms where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iaié an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiarited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions @@ long-term in nature or are not included anddrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the smitwcomponents that are essential to the
functionality of our server and storage product$ @an also include product repairs, maintenancgcgsr and technical support services.
Hardware systems support contracts are generatlggpas a percentage of the net hardware systesdsgs fees. Hardware systems support
contracts are entered into at the customer’s ogtighare recognized ratably over the contractual tf the arrangements, which are typically
one year.

Our cloud software subscription offerings generpligvide customers access to certain of our soéwathin a cloud-based IT environment
that we manage and offer to customers on a suliseripasis. Revenues for our cloud software supson offerings are recognized ratably
over the contract term commencing with the dateseuvice is made available to customers and aflrattvenue recognition criteria have been
satisfied.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsHardware Systems Products and Hardware SystemteR&8arvices (Nonsoftware
Arrangements)
We enter into arrangements with customers thathase both nonsoftware related products and serfricesus at the same time, or within

close proximity of one another (referred to as wéimgare multiple-element arrangements). Each eléméhin a nonsoftware multipletlemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate
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unit of accounting provided the following critedae met: the delivered products or services halteevta the customer on a standalone basis;
and for an arrangement that includes a general oifgteturn relative to the delivered products envices, delivery or performance of the
undelivered product or service is considered prigbabd is substantially controlled by us. We coesal deliverable to have standalone value if
the product or service is sold separately by umather vendor or could be resold by the custofather, our revenue arrangements gene

do not include a general right of return relativatte delivered products. Where the aforementianieria for a separate unit of accounting are
not met, the deliverable is combined with the uiveéeéd element(s) and treated as a single unitodunting for the purposes of allocation of
the arrangement consideration and revenue recognfior those units of accounting that include ntbes one deliverable but are treated as a
single unit of accounting, we generally recognizeenues over the delivery period. For the purpo$esvenue classification of the elements
that are accounted for as a single unit of accagntive allocate revenue to the respective revenadtems within our consolidated statements
of operations based on a rational and consistetitadelogy utilizing our best estimate of relativalisg prices of such elements.

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememésallocate revenue to each element based onitagsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdohupon the following selling price hierarchy: S®available, third party evidence (TPE)

if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling pr{ESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available (@cdption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanssystems product includes software, we determieher the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheelivet the product’s essential functionality arfdsd, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit ofacting for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling pricesadheunit based on the aforementioned selling prieearchy. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amountishabt contingent upon future delivery of additproducts or services or meeting of any
specified performance conditions.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in nonsoftware multiple-elemenaagements using the price charged for a
deliverable when sold separately and for softwi@enke updates and product support and hardwatensysupport, based on the renewal rates
offered to customers. TPE is established by evialgaimilar and interchangeable competitor prodoctservices in standalone arrangements
with similarly situated customers. If we are unableletermine the selling price because VSOE or @Ii&¥s not exist, we determine ESP for
purposes of allocating the arrangement by reviewistprical transactions, including transactionsvaby the deliverable was sold on a
standalone basis and considering several othemaktand internal factors including, but not lindit®, pricing practices including discounting,
margin objectives, competition, the geographiestiich we offer our products and services, the typeustomer (i.e. distributor, value added
reseller, government agency and direct end usaesngrathers) and the stage of the product lifecytdfe determination of ESP is made thro
consultation with and approval by our managemaking into consideration our pricing model and gea¥tarket strategy. As our, or our
competitors’, pricing and go-to-market strategieshee, we may modify our pricing practices in theture, which could result in changes to our
determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. As a resultfuture revenue recognition for multiple-elememtagements could differ materially
from our results in the current period. Sellingcps are analyzed on an annual basis or more fridgulmwe experience significant changes in
our selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to both 8a@fre and Nonsoftware Elemen

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsArrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemergsitiay include a combination of our various sofeveslated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including hardvegstems products, hardware systems
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support, new software licenses, software licenskatgs and product support, cloud software subgmniptonsulting, managed cloud services
and education. In such arrangements, we first afothe total arrangement consideration basedeorethtive selling prices of the software
group of elements as a whole and to the nonsoftelaraents. We then further allocate consideratihimthe software group to the respec
elements within that group following the guidaneediSC 985605 and our policies as described above. Afteath@ngement consideration t
been allocated to the elements, we account for egsgiective element in the arrangement as descaibevke.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable téivare and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include congylitimplementation services sold separately undeswting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Congukvenues from these arrangements are genatyunted for separately from new
software license revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in A88-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmiaccounted for separately include the natiisexvices (i.e. consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalittheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantaiarbn the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthétkre is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for the
consulting services, revenues are deferred urilticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimidwe proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isadilizing hours incurred to date as a percentafgetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcaswee progress towards completion, revenues angmeed when we receive final acceptance
from the customer that the services have been aiathlWhen total cost estimates exceed revenueacavae for the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based ap@verage fully burdened daily rate applicablédhé consulting organization delivering
the services. The complexity of the estimation pascand factors relating to the assumptions, a@sklsuncertainties inherent with the
application of the proportional performance metbbdccounting affects the amounts of revenues aladed expenses reported in our
consolidated financial statements. A humber ofrimdband external factors can affect our estimatet)ding labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testeguirement changes.

Our managed cloud services are offered as stanglaldangements or as a part of arrangements tonsass buying new software licenses or
hardware systems products and services. Oraclegedr@oud services are designed to provide compedhe software and hardware
management and maintenance services for custorostachat our Oracle data center facilities, sqlactner data centers or physically on-
premise at customer facilities. Additionally, weypide support services, both on-premise and renim#®racle customers to enable increased
performance and higher availability of their protduand services. Depending upon the nature ofrla@gement, revenues from managed ¢
services are recognized as services are performedadbly over the term of the service period, Whiggenerally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigs®ess and include instructor-led, media-basedraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveareesecognized as the classes or other educafieringfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements ares amt qualify for separate accounting for the podb@nd service transactions, then new
software license revenues and/or hardware systemalsigts revenues, including the costs of hardwgstems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based onmacrdccounting using either the percentage-of-detimm or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safewhardware systems and services arrangementhafinclude milestones or customer
specific acceptance criteria that may affect cdibecof the software license or hardware systems
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product fees; (2) where consulting services inclsidaificant modification or customization of theftsvare or hardware systems product or are
of a specialized nature and generally performeg bynlOracle; (3) where significant consulting sees are provided for in the software license
contract or hardware systems product contract witadditional charge or are substantially discodnee (4) where the software license or
hardware systems product payment is tied to thiapeance of consulting services. For the purpo$eswenue classification of the elements
that are accounted for as a single unit of accogntive allocate revenues to software and nonsaoftei@ments based on a rational and
consistent methodology utilizing our best estinddtehe relative selling price of such elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentalesn¢ontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorf convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential’ uf the software or hardware systems productstlaaglanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye idetermine upon execution of these arrangentleatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suaiterahination cannot be made, revenues are
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@ggrof the applicable funding provision by the govmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalihe éitme of sale and recognize revenues if akiotevenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 daysettr, payment terms may vary based on the coimtmhich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gelgetaémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoccessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requireérizifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within lousinesses include short-term payment terms, we aatandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers thgbhwur financing division. Since fiscal 1989, wrarr financing division was formed, we
have established a history of collection, withcoh@essions, on these receivables with payment tirahgenerally extend up to five years fi
the contract date. Provided all other revenue neitiog criteria have been met, we recognize newnsnk license revenues and hardware
systems products revenues for these arrangemeonsdgtivery, net of any payment discounts fromiiciag transactions. We have generally
sold receivables financed through our financingsiin on a non-recourse basis to third party fimaginstitutions within 90 days of the
contracts’ dates of execution and we classify tioegeds from these sales as cash flows from opgratitivities in our consolidated statements
of cash flows. We account for the sales of theseivables as “true sales” as defined in ASC 8g@nsfers and Servicingas we are

considered to have surrendered control of thesaniimg receivables. During fiscal 2012 and fis€@ P, $1.6 billion and $1.5 billion of our
financing receivables were sold to financial ingtdns, respectively.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with leggiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeodugts. These leasing companies, in turn,
lease our products to end-users. The leasing caegpganerally have no recourse to us in the evieaiefault by the end-user and we recognize
revenue upon delivery, if all the other revenuegsition criteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliersauasionally, we have purchased goods or serviresuf operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptsdadhese same companies (Concurrent Transacti®oware license agreements or sales
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@ath time period from the date we have purchasedg or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment dad@asure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsonsider to be at arm’s length, and settle thel@age in cash. We recognize new software
license revenues or hardware systems product regdnom Concurrent Transactions if all of our raxemnecognition criteria are met and the
goods and services acquired are necessary foruoamt operations.
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Business Combinations

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It reggiius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased, at their acquisition date fair values. Gatdés of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred and thefrthe acquisition date fair values of the asaetpiired and the liabilities assumed. While we
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvalak assets acquired and liabilities assum@éeadcquisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimatesrdwerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets acquirktiahilities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conabmsof the measurement period or final determinatibtine values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, anysagjuent adjustments are recorded to our consdlidéa¢ements of operations.

Costs to exit or restructure certain activitiesofacquired company or our internal operationsaceunted for as ornténe termination and ex
costs pursuant to ASC 42Bxit or Disposal Cost Obligationsand are accounted for separately from the busio@sbination. A liability for
costs associated with an exit or disposal actigitgcognized and measured at its fair value inconsolidated statement of operations in the
period in which the liability is incurred. When iestting the fair value of facility restructuringtadties, assumptions are applied regarding
estimated sub-lease payments to be received, whitldiffer materially from actual results. This nraguire us to revise our initial estimates
which may materially affect our results of operai@nd financial position in the period the rewvisi® made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4acquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiate and may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafficient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of tmev&dile estimates of assets acquired and lialsilaissumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.

If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteglaby the end of the measurement
period, which is generally the case given the matidirsuch matters, we will recognize an assetliabdity for such pre-acquisition contingency
if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed omahility had been incurred at the acquisition datd (i) the amount of the asset or liability can b
reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurgerod, changes in our estimates of such conticigewill affect earnings and could have
a material effect on our results of operations famahcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax redataluation allowances assumed in connection whibhsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhate items quarterly based upon facts and cinaumoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary esteésdeing recorded to goodwill provided that wewitlin the measurement period.
Subsequent to the measurement period or our fetakrehination of the tax allowance’s or contingesagstimated value, whichever comes 1
changes to these uncertain tax positions and tatetevaluation allowances will affect our provisifor income taxes in our consolidated
statement of operations and could have a matenjgh¢t on our results of operations and financialtgm.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities

In accordance with ASC 32hvestments— Debt and Equity Securitieand based on our intentions regarding these instntenwe classify
substantially all of our debt and marketable eqségurities as available-for-sale. Debt and mabtetaquity securities are reported at fair
value, with all unrealized gains (losses) reflegtetiof tax in stockholders’ equity. If we determitihat an investment has an other than
temporary decline in fair value, we recognize tineestment loss in non-operating income (expensg)inrthe accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. We periodically evaloateinvestments to determine if impairment chaesrequired.
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We hold investments in certain non-marketable ggéturities in which we do not have a controllimgrest or significant influence. These
equity securities are recorded at cost and includ@ther assets in the accompanying consolidaé¢ghbe sheets. If based on the terms of our
ownership of these non-marketable securities werghehe that we exercise significant influence omehtity to which these non-marketable
securities relate, we apply the requirements of 838, Investments— Equity Method and Joint Venture$o account for such investments
Our non-marketable securities are subject to p&riotgpbairment reviews.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply the provisions of ASC 82Bair Value Measurements and Disclosurés our assets and liabilities that we are reguicemeasure at
fair value pursuant to other accounting standand$iding our investments in debt and marketablgtggecurities and our derivative financial
instruments.

The additional disclosures regarding our fair vaheasurements are included in Note 4.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We record allowances for doubtful accounts basexh @pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided iditeding rates, based upon the age of the recedyabk collection history associated with the
geographic region that the receivable was recoird@dd current economic trends. We write-off a neigle and charge it against its recorded
allowance when we have exhausted our collectioorsfivithout success.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subfeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primadgfcash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Our cash andezpghialents are generally held with a number afdadiverse financial institutions
worldwide to reduce the amount of exposure to émgls financial institution. Investment policiesveabeen implemented that limit purchases
of debt securities to investment grade securités.generally do not require collateral to secuants receivable. The risk with respect to
trade receivables is mitigated by credit evaluatioe perform on our customers, the short duratfa@uopayment terms for the significant
majority of our customer contracts and by the diifexation of our customer base. No single custoaseounted for 10% or more of our total
revenues in fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or miavklue. Cost is computed using standard costwdgpproximates actual cost, on a first-in,
first-out basis. We evaluate our ending inventofiesestimated excess quantities and obsolesc@ihég evaluation includes analysis of sales
levels by product and projections of future demaiittiin specific time horizons (generally six monthrsless). Inventories in excess of future
demand are written down and charged to hardwatersgsproducts expenses. In addition, we assessiffeet of changing technology to our
inventories and we write down inventories that@mesidered obsolete. At the point of loss recognijta new, lower-cost basis for that
inventory is established, and subsequent chandest®and circumstances do not result in the rastm or increase in that newly established
cost basis.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax aed &l receivables associated with the sale opmgucts and services to third parties. Other
receivables are included in prepaid expenses drat otirrent assets in our consolidated balancdashad totaled $812 million and $876
million at May 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at the l@iveost or realizable value, net of accumulategrdciation. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method based on estimated u$ieéd of the assets, which range from one to fiftars. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of estimated useful lordsase terms, as appropriate. Property, plasheaunipment is periodically reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circuraetimdicate that the carrying amount of an assgtmot be recoverable. We did not
recognize any significant property impairment clegran fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessnms

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueatftangible and intangible assets acquired.
Intangible assets that are not considered to hawedefinite useful life are amortized over thesetul lives, which generally range from one to
ten years. Each period we evaluate the estimatedingng useful lives of purchased intangible asaatbwhether events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision to the remainiripps of amortization.

The carrying amounts of these assets are periddiealiewed for impairment (at least annually faogwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets) and whenever events or changes in circooestéindicate that the carrying value of thesetassay not be recoverable. Effective fiscal
2012, we opted to perform a qualitative assesstodest a reporting unit’'s goodwill for impairmeBased on our qualitative assessment, if we
determine that the fair value of a reporting usitriore likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of mdhan 50 percent) to be less than its carrying
amount, the two step impairment test will be perfed. In the first step, we compare the fair valtieach reporting unit to its carrying value. If
the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds theyiag value of the net assets assigned to that goodwill is not considered impaired and we
are not required to perform further testing. If ttaerying value of the net assets assigned toegherting unit exceeds the fair value of the
reporting unit, then we must perform the secongd sfe¢he impairment test in order to determineithplied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting usigoodwill exceeds its implied fair value, thenweuld record an impairment loss equal to
difference. Recoverability of finite lived intandgbassets is measured by comparison of the cargyimgunt of the asset to the future
undiscounted cash flows the asset is expectediergte. Recoverability of indefinite lived intanigitassets is measured by comparison of the
carrying amount of the asset to its fair valueh# asset is considered to be impaired, the anaflarty impairment is measured as the
difference between the carrying value and thevalue of the impaired asset. We did not recognigegoodwill or intangible asset impairment
charges in fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, we used denrrediinancial instruments to manage foreign curresnay interest rate risks. We account for
these instruments in accordance with ASC &lérjvatives and Hedgingwhich requires that every derivative instrumeatécorded on the
balance sheet as either an asset or liability miedsat its fair value as of the reporting date. ARG also requires that changes in our
derivatives’ fair values be recognized in earningdess specific hedge accounting and documentatiteria are met (i.e. the instruments are
accounted for as hedges). The offset to gain ardosderivative financial instruments that wereiglested as fair value hedges were record
the item for which the risk was being hedged. Amgfiective or excluded portion of a designated dbshk hedge or net investment hedge and
gains or losses on our fair value hedges are rézedim earnings.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusash significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. For legal and othmrtingencies that are not a part
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of a business combination or related to incomesaxe accrue a liability for an estimated los$i@ potential loss from any claim or legal
proceeding is considered probable and the amouwribeaeasonably estimated. A description of ouoawting policies associated with
contingencies assumed as a part of a business eatiuni is provided under “Business Combinationgi\eh

Shipping and Handling Costs

Our shipping and handling costs for hardware systpraducts sales are included in hardware systeoakipts expenses for all periods
presented.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currentiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigreration is the local country’s currency.
Consequently, revenues and expenses of operatitsisl® the United States are translated into UdlaBs using weighted average exchange
rates while assets and liabilities of operationside the United States are translated into U.3aBousing exchange rates at the balance sheef
date. The effects of foreign currency translatidjustments are included in stockholders’ equita @mponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income in the accompanying conselilbalance sheets. Net foreign exchange transagdios (losses) included in non-
operating income (expense), net in the accompargongolidated statements of operations were $@0i6pn, $11 million and $(149) million

in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments, includingtg@remployee stock options, restricted stock-ta@seards and purchases under employee
stock purchase plans, in accordance with ASC Tb8pensation-Stock Compensatiahjch requires that share-based payments (to ttemex
they are compensatory) be recognized in our cafe@ldl statements of operations based on theivdhies and the estimated number of shares
we ultimately expect will vest. We recognize stdidsed compensation expense on a straight-line dasighe service period of the award,
which is generally four years.

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based aosagien plan awards that result in deductions arirmome tax returns based on the amount
of stock-based compensation recognized and th&t@tattax rate in the jurisdiction in which we wiiceive a tax deduction.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.eftiting expenses, which are included within sate marketing expenses, were $79 mill
$88 million and $75 million in fiscal 2012, 2011chR010, respectively.

Research and Development

All research and development costs are expensett@ased. Costs eligible for capitalization unde8@ 985-20Software— Costs of Software

to be Sold, Leased or Marketediere not material to our consolidated financiatements in fiscal 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses consisea$gnnel related costs for transitional and cex#tier employees, stock-based compensation
expenses, integration related professional servetain business combination adjustments inclydijustments after the measurement pi
has ended and changes in fair value of contingamtideration payable (further discussed in Notel2w) and certain other operating
expenses, net.
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Stock-based compensation included in acquisititated and other expenses resulted from unvestédnspnd restricted stock-based awards
assumed from acquisitions whereby vesting was arteld upon termination of the employees pursuettite original terms of those options
and restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Transitional and other employee related ¢ $ 25 $12¢ $ 66
Stock-based compensatic 33 1C 15
Professional fees and other, 13 66 68
Business combination adjustments, 15 3 5

Total acquisition related and other exper $ 56 $ 20¢ $ 154

Non-Operating Income (Expense), net

Non-operating income (expense), net consists primafiipterest income, net foreign currency exchagajes (losses), the noncontrolling
interests in the net profits of our majority-owrmdsidiaries (Oracle Financial Services Softwareiledd and Oracle Japan) and net other
income (losses), including net realized gains asdds related to all of our investments and netalized gains and losses related to the small
portion of our investment portfolio that we clagsifs trading.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Interest incom: $ 231 $ 162 $ 122
Foreign currency gains (losses), (10%) 11 (14¢)
Noncontrolling interests in incorn (119 97) (95
Other income, ne 15 10¢ 56
Total nor-operating income (expense), | $ 22 18€ $ (65

Included in our non-operating expense, net forafi@d10 was a foreign currency remeasurement io88Iomillion resulting from the
designation of our Venezuelan subsidiary as “highfiationary” in accordance with ASC 83Boreign Currency Mattersand the subsequent
devaluation of the Venezuelan currency by the Veakmn government.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with A8Q, Income TaxesDeferred income taxes are recorded for the erpeeix
consequences of temporary differences betweeraihleatses of assets and liabilities for financipbréng purposes and amounts recognize
income tax purposes. We record a valuation allo@waaceduce our deferred tax assets to the amddutuwe tax benefit that is more likely
than not to be realized.

A two-step approach is applied pursuant to ASC 740 imebegnition and measurement of uncertain tax jpositaken or expected to be tal

in a tax return. The first step is to determinthéd weight of available evidence indicates thét ihore likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained in an audit, including resolutionrof eelated appeals or litigation processes. Thermkstep is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmdized upon ultimate settlement. We recognizedsteand penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in our provision for income taxes linecof consolidated statements of operations.

A description of our accounting policies associatéth tax related contingencies and valuation aioees assumed as a part of a business
combination is provided under “Business Combinatiabove.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Presentation of Comprehensive Income:In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standdpttate No. 2011-08;omprehensive Income
(Topic 220)— Presentation of Comprehensive IncofA&U 2011-05), to require an entity to presentttital of comprehensive income, the
components of net income and the components of otmaprehensive income either in a single contisugiatement of comprehensive income
or in two separate but consecutive statements. 2&11-05 eliminates the option to present the coraptenof other comprehensive income as
part of the statement of equity. In December 2@id FASB issued Accounting Standards Update Nol 2@ Comprehensive Income (Topic
220)— Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments oRhesentation of Reclassifications of ltems OWafumulated Other
Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Updat€011-05ASU 2011-12), which defers the requirement to @néseclassification
adjustments for each component of other compreherscome on the face of the financial statemek®J 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 are
effective for us in our first quarter of fiscal 20&nd should be applied retrospectively. We areeatly evaluating the impact of our pending
adoption of ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 on our otidated financial statements.

2. ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Taleo Corporatior

On April 5, 2012, we completed our acquisition @fdo Corporation (Taleo), a provider of cloud-batdent management solutions. We have
included the financial results of Taleo in our adigated financial statements from the date of &itjon. These results were not individually
material to our consolidated financial statemefbe total preliminary purchase price for Taleo wpproximately $2.0 billion, which consist
of approximately $2.0 billion in cash and $10 roiflifor the fair value of stock options and resticstock-based awards assumed. We have
preliminarily recorded $1.1 billion of identifiablatangible assets and $282 million of net tangitalkilities related primarily to deferred tax
liabilities and customer performance obligatioret tivere assumed as a part of this acquisition baisddeir estimated fair values and $1.2
billion of residual goodwill.

Acquisition of RightNow Technologies, In

On January 25, 2012, we completed our acquisitfdRightNow Technologies, Inc. (RightNow), a provid# cloud-based customer service.
We have included the financial results of RightNiaveur consolidated financial statements from tagedf acquisition. These results were not
individually material to our consolidated financshtements. The total preliminary purchase pocdRightNow was approximately $1.5

billion, which consisted of approximately $1.5 faifi in cash and $14 million for the fair value tdck options and restricted stock-based
awards assumed. We have preliminarily recorded $@8ion of identifiable intangible assets and $288lion of net tangible liabilities related
primarily to customer performance obligations, cenible debt and deferred tax liabilities that wassumed as a part of this acquisition based
on their estimated fair values, and $1.1 billioredidual goodwill.

Acquisition of Pillar Data Systems, Inc

On July 18, 2011, we acquired Pillar Data Systdnts,(Pillar Data), a provider of enterprise st@aystems solutions. Prior to the acquisition,
Pillar Data was directly and indirectly majority-ned and controlled by Lawrence J. Ellison, our €hkieecutive Officer, director and largest
stockholder. Pursuant to the agreement and plameofer dated as of June 29, 2011 (Merger Agreemeatacquired all of the issued and
outstanding equity interests of Pillar Data frora #tockholders in exchange for rights to receiv@ingent cash consideration (Earn-Out), if
any, pursuant to an Earn-Out calculation. An &fdiof Mr. Ellison’s has a
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preference right to receive the first approxima&#p5 million of the Earn-Out, if any, and rights35% of any amount of the Earn-Out that
exceeds $565 million.

The Earn-Out will be calculated with respect thi@é-year period that commenced with our secondejuaf fiscal 2012 and will conclude
with our first quarter of fiscal 2015 (Earn-Out Pel). The Earn-Out will be an amount (if positiva)culated based on the product of (i) the
difference between (x) future revenues generatad the sale of certain Pillar Data products dufrgcle’s last four full fiscal quarters during
the Earn-Out Period minus (y) certain losses aasstiwith certain Pillar Data products incurredrabe entire Earn-Out Period, multiplied by
(i) three. Our obligation to pay the Earn-Out vii# subject to reduction as a result of our righgdt-off the amount of any indemnification
claims we may have under the Merger Agreement. @ieod expect the amount of the Earn-Out or its midéimpact will be material to our
results of operations or financial position.

We have included the financial results of Pillat®& our consolidated financial statements fromdhte of acquisition. These results were not
material to our consolidated financial statemefite estimated fair value of the liability for cardient consideration, representing the
preliminary purchase price payable for our acquisiof Pillar Data, was approximately $346 milliand was included in other non-current
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. Traliminary purchase price payable may differ fritv@ amount that is ultimately payable via
the Earn-Out calculation (described above) with emgnges in the liability recorded as acquisitielated and other in our consolidated
statements of operations until the liability istkegt. We have preliminarily recorded $142 millichidentifiable intangible assets and $11

million of net tangible liabilities, based on thestimated fair values, and $215 million of residy@odwill. The fair value of contingent
consideration payable was estimated using a digedwash flow technique with significant inputsttage not observable in the market and
thus represents a Level 3 fair value measuremeti¢fazed in the ASC 820. The significant inputdhie Level 3 measurement not supported by
market activity included our probability assessmaitexpected future cash flows related to our &itipn of Pillar Data during the Earn-Out
Period, appropriately discounted considering theedrinties associated with the obligation, anduated in accordance with the terms of the
Merger Agreement. Subsequent to the date of atiquisthe estimated fair value of the Earn-Outiligbincreased to $387 million as of

May 31, 2012 primarily as a result of the passdgere and the corresponding impact of discounting.

Other Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2012, we acquired certain other conmigsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticere not individually significant. We have inclubiéhe financial results of these companies
in our consolidated financial statements from tiegpective acquisition dates and the results faoh of these companies were not
individually material to our consolidated financ&étements. In the aggregate, the total prelirgiparchase price for these acquisitions was
approximately $1.6 billion, which consisted of apgmately $1.6 billion in cash and $5 million fdret fair value of stock options assumed. We
have preliminarily recorded $540 million of iderdifle intangible assets and $29 million of net thiegliabilities related primarily to deferred
tax liabilities, based on their estimated fair wespand $1.1 billion of residual goodwill.

In aggregate, companies acquired during fiscal 2@l2ctively contributed $231 million to our towdftware revenues during fiscal 2012.
Other collective revenue and earnings contributisase not significant or were not separately idetile due to the integration of these
acquired entities into our existing operations.

The preliminary fair value estimates for the assetpuired and liabilities assumed for all acquosii completed during fiscal 2012 were based
upon preliminary calculations and valuations andestimates and assumptions for each of thesesitiqns are subject to change as we ok
additional information for our estimates during thepective measurement periods (up to one yearthe respective acquisition dates). The
primary areas of
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those preliminary estimates that are not yet fesalirelated to certain tangible assets and lisdsilicquired, identifiable intangible assets,
certain legal matters and income and non-incomedtxes.

Subsequent to May 31, 2012, we agreed to acquitaic®ther companies for amounts that are not nahte our business. We expect to close
such acquisitions within the next twelve months.

Fiscal 2011 Acquisitions

On January 5, 2011, we completed our acquisitiorbechnology Group, Inc. (ATG), a provider of @@merce software and related on
demand commerce optimization applications. We liasleded the financial results of ATG in our condated financial statements from the
date of acquisition. The total purchase price foiGAwas approximately $1.0 billion, which consistéapproximately $990 million in cash a
$16 million for the fair value of stock options arebtricted stock-based awards assumed. We haoelest$404 million of identifiable
intangible assets and $111 million of net tangdssets, based on their estimated fair values, 494 &iillion of residual goodwiill.

On August 11, 2010, we completed our acquisitioRledise Forward Incorporated (Phase Forward), admouf applications for life sciences
companies and healthcare providers. We have indltigefinancial results of Phase Forward in oursotidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition. The total purchase price foag® Forward was approximately $736 million, whiohsisted of approximately $735 million
in cash and $1 million for the fair value of resteid stock-based awards assumed. We recorded $8it® mof identifiable intangible assets,
$20 million of in-process research and developraedt$17 million of net tangible assets, based e &stimated fair values, and $329 million
of residual goodwill.

During fiscal 2011, we acquired certain other conmigsand purchased certain technology and developassets to expand our products and
services offerings. These acquisitions were natigant individually or in the aggregate. We hameluded the financial results of these
companies in our consolidated results from theipeetive acquisition dates, which were not indigitiusignificant.

In aggregate, companies acquired during fiscal 2@llectively contributed $231 million to our towdftware revenues in fiscal 2011. Other
collective revenue and earnings contributions wertesignificant or were not separately identifiablee to the integration of these acquired
entities into our existing operations.

Fiscal 2010 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Sun Microsystems, In¢

On January 26, 2010 we completed our acquisitiddusf, a provider of hardware systems, softwaresandces, by means of a merger of one
of our wholly owned subsidiaries with and into Swch that Sun became a wholly owned subsidiaryra€l®. We acquired Sun to, among
other things, expand our product offerings by addun’s existing hardware systems business andlénirzg our software and services
offerings. We have included the financial resuftSon in our consolidated financial statements ftbendate of acquisition. For fiscal 2010,
estimated that Sun’s contribution to our total rexes was $2.8 billion, which included allocatiofisevenues from our software and services
businesses that were not separately identifiabdetdwur integration activities. For fiscal 201 estimated that Sun reduced our operating
income by $620 million, which included managemeatlsecations and estimates of revenues and expénatewere not separately identifiable
due to our integration activities, intangible ass@brtization, restructuring expenses and stockdasmpensation expenses.

The total purchase price for Sun was $7.3 billidrich consisted of $7.2 billion in cash paid to dogjthe outstanding common stock of Sun
and $99 million for the fair value of stock opticaisd restricted-stock based awards assumed. keaéifig the purchase price based on
estimated fair values, we recorded approximately $illion of goodwill, $3.3 billion of identifiald intangible assets, $415 million of in-
process research and development and $2.2 bilfioertdangible assets.
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Other Fiscal 2010 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2010, we acquired certain other conmigsand purchased certain technology and developassets to expand our product and
services offerings. These acquisitions were natiigant individually or in the aggregate. We hawmeluded the financial results of these
companies in our consolidated results from theipeetive acquisition dates.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information ie tiable below summarizes the combined results efatipns for Oracle, Taleo, RightNow,
Pillar Data, ATG, Phase Forward and certain otloenganies that we acquired since the beginningso&fi2011 (which were considered
significant for the purposes of unaudited pro fofinancial information disclosure) as though thenpanies were combined as of the begin

of fiscal 2011. The pro forma financial informatifor all periods presented also included the bssim®mbination accounting effects resulting
from these acquisitions including our amortizatibrarges from acquired intangible assets (certamha¢h were preliminary), stock-based
compensation charges for unvested stock optionsestdcted stock-based awards assumed, if anythencelated tax effects as though the
aforementioned companies were combined as of thimtiag of fiscal 2011. The pro forma financialonfation as presented below is for
informational purposes only and is not indicatifeéhe results of operations that would have bedmeaed if the acquisitions had taken place at
the beginning of fiscal 2011.

The unaudited pro forma financial information fachl 2012 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2012, the historical results of
Taleo for the twelve months ended December 31, 2adjlisted due to differences in reporting periadd considering the date we acquired
Taleo), the historical results of RightNow for thiee months ended September 30, 2011 (adjustetbdiiferences in reporting periods and
considering the date we acquired RightNow), théohisal results of Pillar Data for the three mongmsled June 30, 2011 (adjusted due to
differences in reporting periods and consideriregdhte we acquired Pillar Data), the historicalitef certain other companies that we
acquired since the beginning of fiscal 2012 bagmmhutheir respective previous reporting periods theddates these companies were acquired
by us and the effects of the pro forma adjustmisttsd above.

The unaudited pro forma financial information faachl 2011 combined the historical results of Qedol fiscal 2011, the historical results of
Taleo for the twelve months ended June 30, 201& (dulifferences in reporting periods), the histarresults of RightNow for the twelve
months ended June 30, 2011 (due to differencespiorting periods), the historical results of Pillata for the twelve months ended June 30,
2011 (due to differences in reporting periods),historical results of ATG for the nine months esn@&eptember 30, 2010 (adjusted due to
differences in reporting periods and considerirgdhte we acquired ATG), the historical resultPlose Forward for the three months ended
June 30, 2010 (adjusted due to differences in teypperiods and considering the date we acquitexs® Forward), the historical results of
certain other companies that we acquired sincéégénning of fiscal 2011 based upon their respeqtievious reporting periods and the dates
these companies were acquired by us and the efiettie pro forma adjustments listed above. Thauditad pro forma financial information
was as follows for fiscal 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2012 2011

Total revenue: 37,61 $ 36,50
Net income 9,76: $ 8,15/
Basic earnings per she 1.9¢ $ 1.62
Diluted earnings per sha 1.92 $ 1.5¢
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3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of diegpbeld at major banks, money market funds, Tieommercial paper, U.S. Treasury
obligations, U.S. government agency and governmsigonsored enterprise obligations and other seesinitith original maturities of 90 days or
less. Marketable securities primarily consist ofdideposits held at major banks, Tier-1 commepagkr, corporate notes, U.S. Treasury
obligations and U.S. government agency and govemhsponsored enterprise debt obligations and ceothier securities.

The amortized principal amounts of our cash, caglivalents and marketable securities approximdten fair values at May 31, 2012 and
2011. We use the specific identification methoddétermine any realized gains or losses from the afabur marketable securities classified as
available-for-sale. Such realized gains and losg#s insignificant for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 20Ife following table summarizes the
components of our cash equivalents and marketablegriies held, substantially all of which weresd#ied as available-for-sale:

May 31,
(in millions) 2012 2011
Money market fund $ 25 $ 3,362
U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and U.S. govern@mgemncy debt securiti¢ 10C 1,15(
Commercial paper, corporate debt securities aner 16,16¢ 13,87¢
Total investment $ 16,290 $ 18,38
Investments classified as cash equival: $§ 57C $ 5,702
Investments classified as marketable secut $ 15,72 $ 12,68t

Substantially all of our marketable security invesnts held as of May 31, 2012 mature within tworge@ur investment portfolio is subject to
market risk due to changes in interest rates. Asriteed above, we place our investments with higit quality issuers and, by policy, limit
the amount of credit exposure to any one issuestéted in our investment policy, we are avergarittccipal loss and seek to preserve our
invested funds by limiting default risk, marketkrisnd reinvestment risk.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We perform fair value measurements in accordante thé guidance provided by ASC 820. ASC 820 dsffiaé value as the price that would
be received from selling an asset or paid to teresfiability in an orderly transaction betweenrked participants at the measurement date.
When determining the fair value measurements feetasand liabilities required to be recorded ait flag values, we consider the principal or
most advantageous market in which we would trarsadtconsider assumptions that market participaotdd use when pricing the assets or
liabilities, such as inherent risk, transfer retions and risk of nonperformance.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy thatireg an entity to maximize the use of observafpeiis and minimize the use of unobserv.
inputs when measuring fair value. An asset’s diility’'s categorization within the fair value hiethy is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurem&8C 820 establishes three levels of inputs that beaysed to measure fair value:

» Level 1: quoted prices in active markets fomiileal assets or liabilitie:

» Level 2: inputs other than Level 1 that are obelle, either directly or indirectly, such as qprices in active markets for
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices fagntical or similar assets or liabilities in mark#tat are not active, or other inputs that
are observable or can be corroborated by observadket data for substantially the full term of Hesets or liabilities; ¢

» Level 3: unobservable inputs that are suppdtelittle or no market activity and that are sigeaft to the fair values of the ass
or liabilities.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on &ecurring Basis

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair valua cecurring basis, excluding accrued interestpmmants, consisted of the following (Level 1,
2 and 3 inputs are defined above):

May 31, 2012 May 31, 2011
Fair Value Fair Value
Measurements Measurements
Using Input Types Using Input Types

(in millions) Levell Level2 Level3 Total Levell Level 2 Total
Assets:

Money market fund $ 25 $ — % — 3 25 $ 3362 $ — $ 3,362

U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and U.S. governmagency debt securiti¢ 10C — — 10C 1,15(C — 1,15(C

Commercial paper debt securit — 13,95« — 13,95¢ — 11,88¢ 11,88¢

Corporate debt securities and ot 22¢ 1,98¢ — 2,21z 10¢€ 1,88t 1,991

Derivative financial instrumen — 69 — 69 — 69 69

Total asset $ 35« $16,00¢ $ — $16,36( $ 4,61f $ 13,83t $18,45¢

Liabilities:

Contingent consideration payal $ — $ — $ 387 $ 387 % — 3 = =

Our valuation techniques used to measure the &tireg of our money market funds, U.S. Treasury, goS8ernment and U.S. government
agency debt securities and certain other marketaderities that were classified as Level 1 intéie above were derived from quoted market
prices as substantially all of these instrumentehmaturity dates, if any, within two years fronr diate of purchase and active markets for
these instruments exist. Our valuation techniquesl to measure the fair values of Level 2 instrumbsted in the table above, all of which
mature within two years and the counterpartiesh@hvhave high credit ratings, were derived from fibllowing: non-binding market
consensus prices that are corroborated by obsermadrket data, quoted market prices for similarimsents, or pricing models, such as
discounted cash flow techniques, with all significenputs derived from or corroborated by obsergabhrket data including LIBOR-based
yield curves, among others. Our valuation techrscared Level 3 inputs used to estimate the fairevafucontingent consideration payable
connection with our acquisition of Pillar Data aescribed in Note 2.

Based on the trading prices of our $16.5 billiod &45.9 billion of borrowings, which consisted ehsr notes and certain other borrowings
that were outstanding at May 31, 2012 and 201peetsvely, the estimated fair values of our bormoys using Level 2 inputs at May 31, 2012
and May 31, 2011 were $19.3 hillion and $17.4 duillirespectively.

5.  INVENTORIES
Inventories consisted of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2012 2011
Raw material $ 4t $ 9:
Work-in-process 20 17
Finished good 93 192
Total $ 15€ $ 30:
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted ofdahewing:
Estimated May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Useful Life 2012 2011
Computer, network, machinery and equiprr 1-5 year: $ 1,761 $ 1,60¢
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 2,351 2,24
Furniture, fixtures and othi 3-10 year 492 49t
Land — 702 692
Construction in progres — 112 60

Total property, plant and equipme 1-50 year 5,41¢ 5,09t
Accumulated depreciatic (2,399) (2,23%)

Total property, plant and equipment, $ 3,021 $ 2,857

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 2012the net book value of intangible assets at May2812 and 2011 were as follows:

Accumulated Weighted
Intangible Assets, Gros: Amortization Intangible Assets, Nef
May 31, May 31, May 31, Average
May 31, May 31, May 31, Useful
(Dollars in millions) 2011  Additions 2012 2011 Expense 2012 2011 2012 Life (1)
Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 5177 $ 117 $ 529¢ $(2,74) $ (58F) $ (3,33() $ 2432 $ 1,96 8 year:
Hardware systems support agreements and relagbrethips 76C 8 76¢€ (147) (119 (26€) 612 50z 8 year:
Developed technolog 6,03 874 6,90¢ (3,72¢) (929) (4,65)) 2,30¢ 2,251 7 year:
Core technolog' 2,29t 254 2,54¢ (1,272) (337) (1,609) 1,02¢ 94C 6 year:
Customer relationships and contract bact 1,93t 825 2,26( 917) 370 (1,287%) 1,01¢ 972 3 year:
Cloud software subscriptions and related relatigs 12¢ 861 98¢ 9) (33) (42) 11¢ 947 10 year
Trademark: 52¢ 69 597 (229) (63) (292 29¢ 30t 9 year:
Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 16,857 2,50¢ 19,36¢ (9,047 (2,430 (11,47 7,81( 7,88¢ 8 year:
In-process research and developn 50 (39) 11 — — — 5C 11 N.A.
Total intangible assets, r $16,900 $ 2,46¢ $19,37¢ $(9,04) $ (2,430 $(1147) $ 7.86( $  7,89¢

(1) Represents weighted average useful lives of intd@gissets acquired in fiscal 20

Total amortization expense related to our intaregidsets was $2.4 billion in each of fiscal 20122011 and $2.0 billion in fiscal 2010. As
May 31, 2012, estimated future amortization expemskated to intangible assets were as followsn{llions):

Fiscal 201z $ 2,31
Fiscal 201« 1,93¢
Fiscal 201¢ 1,48¢
Fiscal 201¢ 941
Fiscal 2017 384
Thereaftel 824

Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 7,88¢
In-process research and developn 11

Total intangible assets, n $ 7,89¢
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The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwillicllis generally not deductible for tax purposes,dur operating segments for fiscal 2012
and 2011 were as follows:

Software
License
New Updates Hardware
Software and
Product Systems Other
(Dollars in millions) Licenses Support Support () Total
Balances as of May 31, 20 $5,99¢ $11,80: $ 928 $1,70¢ $20,42¢
Goodwill from acquisition: 797 24C 23 2 1,06
Goodwill adjustment@ () 10 63 — 66
Balances as of May 31, 20 6,78¢ 12,05: 1,00¢ 1,707 21,55:
Goodwill from acquisition: 65€ 461 184 2,37¢ 3,681
Goodwill adjustment® (76) (34 — (5) (115
Balances as of May 31, 20 $7,36i $12,47¢ $ 1,198 $4,08( $25,11¢

(1) Pursuant to our business combinations accouptifigy, we recorded goodwill adjustments for thizef on goodwill of changes to net assets acquiteihg the measurement period
(up to one year from the date of an acquisitiofie dther goodwill adjustments presented in thestabbve were not significant to our previously rége operating results or financial
position.

@ Represents goodwill allocated to our other opegasiegments and approximately $2.3 billion of godidiat certain of our acquisitions that will be atiated based upon the finalization
of valuations

8. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Notes payable and other borrowings consisted ofdl@wing:

May 31, May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2012 2011
Shor-term borrowings $ 1,70C $ 1,15C
4.95% senior notes due April 20 1,25( 1,25(
3.75% senior notes due July 2014, net of fair valdjastment of $69 each as of May 31, 2012 and @ 1,56¢ 1,56¢
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disaf$# and $5 as of May 31, 2012 and 2011, respsgt 1,99¢ 1,99¢
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discmfril each as of May 31, 2012 and 2( 2,49¢ 2,49¢
5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discotiib@ach as of May 31, 2012 and 2( 1,74% 1,74%
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discotii2 each as of May 31, 2012 and 2! 99¢ 99¢
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discafr$i2 each as of May 31, 2012 and 2! 1,24¢ 1,24¢
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discotii8 each as of May 31, 2012 and 2! 1,242 1,242
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discoftifif4 and $25 as of May 31, 2012 and 2011, resede! 2,22¢ 2,22¢
Capital lease 1 1
Total borrowings $16,47¢ $15,92:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 2,95( $ 1,15(
Notes payable, ni-current and other n-current borrowing: $13,52¢ $14,77.

(1) Refer to Note 11 for a description of our accounpfior fair value hedge:
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Senior Notes and Other

In July 2010, we issued $3.25 billion of fixed ratnior notes comprised of $1.0 billion of 3.875étes due July 2020 (2020 Notes) and $2.25
billion of 5.375% notes due July 2040 (2040 Nogeg] together with the 2020 Notes, the Original &eNtes). We issued the Original Senior
Notes in order to repay indebtedness, including¢payment of $2.25 billion of 5.00% senior notest tmatured and were repaid in Jant

2011, for general corporate purposes, for futurpesitions and in order to replenish cash use@pay $1.0 billion of floating rate senior notes
that matured in May 2010. As part of the offeririghe Original Senior Notes, we entered into ase&gtion rights agreement with the initial
purchasers for the benefit of the holders of thigi@al Senior Notes in which we agreed to file witle SEC a registration statement with
respect to senior notes identical in all matemajpects to the Original Senior Notes within founteeonths after the issue date of the Original
Senior Notes and on December 16, 2011 we compéetedistered offer to exchange the Original SeNiates for new freely tradable notes
having terms substantially identical to the OrigiBanior Notes. An aggregate of $994 million prpadiamount of the 2020 Notes and an
aggregate of $2.24 billion principal amount of #8210 Notes were tendered and exchanged in the offer

In July 2009, we issued $4.5 billion of fixed raemnior notes comprised of $1.5 billion of 3.75%asodue July 2014 (2014 Notes), $1.75 bil
of 5.00% notes due July 2019 (2019 Notes) and $ilkén of 6.125% notes due July 2039 (2039 Nat#gg issued these senior notes for
general corporate purposes and for our acquisitid@un and acquisition related expenses.

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed ragenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes is due April 2013 (2013 Notes),
$2.5 billion of 5.75% senior notes is due April 8302018 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 6.50% senidiesas due April 2038 (2038 Notes). We
issued these senior notes for general corporafgopas and for acquisitions and acquisition relatguenses.

In May 2007, we issued $2.0 billion of floatingeatenior notes, of which $1.0 billion was due aaid jin May 2009 and $1.0 billion was due
and paid in May 2010. We had also entered intaoexariable to fixed interest rate swap agreemeziéded to these senior notes, which
settled as of the same dates the notes were régzsdNote 11).

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes, of which $2.25 billion of 5.00% senior notess due and paid in January 2011 and
$2.0 billion of 5.25% senior notes due 2016 (20bée¥) remained outstanding as of May 31, 2012.

The effective interest yields of the 2013 Notesl20lotes, 2016 Notes, 2018 Notes, 2019 Notes, R@28s, 2038 Notes, 2039 Notes and 2
Notes (collectively, the Senior Notes) at May 3012 were 4.96%, 3.75%, 5.32%, 5.76%, 5.05%, 3.9%2%, 6.19% and 5.45¢

respectively. Interest is payable semi-annuallytifier Senior Notes. In September 2009, we entetedriterest rate swap agreements that have
the economic effect of modifying the fixed interebligations associated with the 2014 Notes sottiainterest payable on these notes
effectively became variable (1.39% at May 31, 26k Note 11 for additional information). All okti$enior Notes may be redeemed at any
time, subject to payment of make-whole premiumsefirh series.

The Original Senior Notes and Senior Notes rankassu with any other notes we may issue in theduypursuant to our commercial paper
program (see additional discussion regarding onrrmercial paper program below) and all existing futdre senior indebtedness of Oracle
Corporation. All existing and future liabilities tfe subsidiaries of Oracle Corporation are eféetyi senior to the Original Senior Notes,
Senior Notes and any of our commercial paper notes.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2012, shortly aftke closing of our acquisition of RightNow, we rahan full, $255 million of RightNows legac
convertible notes.
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In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, shortly aftee closing of our acquisition of Sun we repaidfuth $700 million of Sun’s legacy convertible
notes.

Future principal payments for all of our borrowirggdMay 31, 2012 were as follows (in millions):

Fiscal 201z $ 2,95(
Fiscal 201¢ —
Fiscal 201¢ 1,50(
Fiscal 201¢ 2,00(
Fiscal 2017 —
Thereaftel 10,00(

Total $ 16,45(

Commercial Paper Program & Commercial Paper Notes

We entered into a commercial paper program in Flgra006 (amended in May 2008) via dealer agreesngitih Banc of America Securities
LLC and JP Morgan Securities, Inc. and an IssuimdjRaying Agency Agreement entered into in Febra@86 with JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association (CP Program). On May 11, 2046 reduced the overall capacity of our CP Prodiram $5.0 billion to $3.0 billion. Ou
ability to issue commercial paper notes in thereiig highly dependent upon our ability to provad&ack-stop’by means of a revolving cret
facility or other debt facility for amounts equaldr greater than the amounts of commercial papsnwve intend to issue. While presently we
have no such facilities in place that may providmek-stop to such commercial paper notes (sedi@aali discussion under “Revolving Credit
Agreements” below), we currently believe that,eéfeded, we could put in place one or more additicmallving credit facilities or other debt
facility in a timely manner and on commercially seaable terms.

During fiscal 2010, we issued $2.8 billion of unse short-term commercial paper notes pursuathiet€P Program (none issued in fiscal
2012 and 2011). As of May 31, 2012 and 2011, werttadommercial paper notes outstanding.

Revolving Credit Agreements

On May 29, 2012, we borrowed $1.7 billion pursuara revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Chzesek, N.A., as initial lender and
administrative agent; and J.P. Morgan Securitie§;,las sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner2@ti@ Credit Agreement). Interest for the
2012 Credit Agreement is based on either (x) a¢lvage” calculated as the highest of (i) JPMorganisie rate, (ii) the federal funds effective
rate plus 0.50% and (iii) the LIBOR for depositddrs. Dollars plus 1%, or (y) LIBOR for depositsaean U.S. Dollars plus 0.35%, depenc
on the type of borrowings made by us. The effedtiterest rate of our borrowing under the 2012 @radgreement is 0.24% at May 31, 2012.
This borrowing is due on July 2, 2012, which is tdemination date of the 2012 Credit Agreement.

The 2012 Credit Agreement contains certain custgmegresentations, warranties and guarantees, eagitlization covenant. Events of
default result in the requirement to pay additiantrest. If any of the events of default occud ane not cured, any unpaid amounts under the
2012 Credit Agreement may be declared immediatetyahd payable and the 2012 Credit Agreement magrivenated. We were in
compliance with the 2012 Credit Agreement’s covénas of May 31, 2012.

On May 27, 2011, we entered into two revolving dragreements with BNP Paribas, as initial lendet administrative agent, and BNP
Paribas Securities Corp., as sole lead arrangesa@adookrunner (the 2011 Credit Agreements),tardowed $1.15 billion pursuant to these
agreements. During fiscal 2012, we repaid the $hillibn and the 2011 Credit Agreements expiredspant to their terms.
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9. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Sun Restructuring Plan

During the third quarter of fiscal 2010, our managet approved, committed to and initiated a plarestructure our operations due to our
acquisition of Sun (the Sun Restructuring Plamrigher to improve the cost efficiencies in our mergperations. Our management
subsequently amended the Sun Restructuring Plagfléxt additional actions that we expect to takertprove the cost efficiencies in our
merged operations. The total estimated restrugjurasts associated with the Sun Restructuring dasisted primarily of employee severance
expenses, abandoned facilities obligations andracintermination costs and were recorded to theugsiring expense line item within our
consolidated statements of operations as they reemgnized. We recorded $215 million, $439 millaord $342 million of net restructuring
expenses in connection with the Sun Restructuriag i fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivelye €Recution of the Sun Restructuring F

is substantially complete as of the end of fis€dl2 Any changes to the estimates of executingtireRestructuring Plan will be reflected in
our future results of operations.

Summary of All Plans
Fiscal 2012 Activity

Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201: Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2011 Costs®) Cost (4) Payments Others (5) 2012
Sun Restructuring Plan®@
New software license $ 14 $ 46 $ (8) $ (41 $ @ $ 9
Software license updates and product sug 19 31 2 (35) @ 12
Hardware systems busine 10 34 1 (33 — 12
Services 9 32 2 (25) 2 12
General and administrative and ot 10C 92 (9) (12€) (1) 53
Total Sun Restructurin $ 152 $ 23t $ (20 $ (269 $ (6 $ 98
Total other restructuring plai® $ 297 $ 65 $ 15 $ (122 $ (16 $ 23¢
Total restructuring plans $ 44c¢ $ 30C $ (5 $ (38F) $ (22 $ 337
Fiscal 2011 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201! Accrued
May 31, Initial Adj. to Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2010 Costs(®) Cost (4) Payments Others (5) 2011
Sun Restructuring Plan®
New software license $ 5 $ 67 $ 4 $ (595 $ 1 $ 14
Software license updates and product sug 3 52 Q) (39 @ 19
Hardware systems busine 42 53 3 (83) 1 10
Services 8 49 (4) (43) 1) 9
General and administrative and ot 29 22€ 4 (154) (5) 10C
Total Sun Restructurin $ 87 $ 447 $ (8 $ (369 $ B $ 152
Total other restructuring plai® $ 45¢ $ 57 $ (17 $ (229 $ 21 $ 297
Total restructuring plans $ 54€ $ 504 $ (25 $ (592 $ 16 $ 44¢
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Fiscal 2010 Activity
Accrued Year Ended May 31, 201( Accrued
Adj. to
May May
31, Initial Cost Cash 31,
(in millions) 2009 Costs®) @) Payments Others ) 2010
Sun Restructuring Plan@
New software license $ — $ 6 $ — $ @ $ — $ 5
Software license updates and product sug — 6 — 3 — 3
Hardware systems busine — 61 — (29 — 42
Services — 11 — 3 — 8
General and administrative and ot — 25€ — (222) (7 29
Total Sun Restructurin $ — $ 34z $ — $ (248 $ $ 87
Total other restructuring plai® $ 38¢ $ 292 $ (84) $ (399 $ 25¢ $ 45¢
Total restructuring plans $ 38¢ $ 634 $ (84) $ (645 $ 257 $ 54€

(1) Restructuring costs recorded for individual liteens presented related to employee severance@amgt for general and administrative and othéickvincluded $23 million, $97
million and $44 million recorded during fiscal 202011 and 2010, respectively, for facilities rethtestructuring and contract termination cc

() The balances at May 31, 2012 and 2011 includ&8 #dillion and $244 million recorded in other cunrdiabilities, respectively, and $159 million a#205 million recorded in other
nor-current liabilities, respectivel

()  Costs recorded for the respective restructuringsptiuring the current period present
(4 All plan adjustments were changes in estimates eldyeincreases and decreases in costs were geneedlyled to operating expenses in the period joadents

()  Represents foreign currency translation and ceathier adjustments. In addition, includes accrestructuring plan liabilities of $275 million thatre assumed from our acquisitior
Sun during fiscal 201(

(6)  Other restructuring plans presented in the tabve included condensed information for other @rhased plans and other plans associated with certainr acquisitions whereby \
continued to make cash outlays to settle obligatiomder these plans during the periods presentefdbwhich the current fiscal year impact to oonsolidated statements of
operations was not significal

10. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:

May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011
Software license updates and product sug $ 556! $ 5,38¢
Hardware systems suppt 694 687
Services 402 43¢
New software license 353 263
Hardware systems produtc 20 28
Deferred revenues, curre 7,03t 6,80z
Deferred revenues, n-current (in other nc-current liabilities) 29€ 31€
Total deferred revenue $ 7331 $ 7,11t

Deferred software license updates and product suppeenues and deferred hardware systems supp@mnues represent customer payments
made in advance for support contracts that areajlpibilled on a per annum basis in advance watltesponding revenues being recognized
ratably over the support periods. Deferred serviegenues include prepayments for our servicesibasiand revenues for these services are
generally recognized
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as the services are performed. Deferred new saftiigense revenues typically result from undelidgpeoducts or specified enhancements,
customer specific acceptance provisions, time-basehgements including cloud software subscriptiferings and software license
transactions that cannot be segmented from undetiveonsulting or other services. Deferred hardwgstems products revenues typically
result from sales to customers, including chanaeiners and resellers, where revenue recognititerierhave not been met and transactions
that cannot be segmented from undelivered conguttirother services.

In connection with our acquisitions, we have esteédahe fair values of the cloud software subsimiptsoftware license updates and product
support and hardware systems support obligatiosinasd from our acquired companies. We have estihthtefair values of the obligations
assumed using a cost build-up approach. The cdstinqn approach determines fair value by estimativgcosts relating to fulfilling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The sunitef costs and operating profit approximates, @éoth, the amount that we would be requ

to pay a third party to assume the acquired olitigat The aforementioned fair value adjustmentended for obligations assumed from our
acquisitions reduced the new software licensesyaoé license updates and product support and laedsystems support deferred revenue
balances that we recorded as liabilities from theespiisitions and also reduced the resulting reegmlat we recognized or will recognize over
the terms of the acquired obligations during thstfmmmbination periods.

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Interest Rate Swap Agreements
Fair Value Hedges

In September 2009, we entered into interest ratgpagreements that have the economic effect offgringithe fixed interest obligations
associated with our 3.75% 2014 Notes so that tleedst payable on these notes effectively becamabla based on LIBOR. The critical ter

of the interest rate swap agreements and the 201esNnatch, including the notional amounts and ritgitdates. Accordingly, we have
designated these swap agreements as qualifyingrttethgtruments and are accounting for them asvidire hedges pursuant to ASC 815.
These transactions are characterized as fair Veddges for financial accounting purposes becauwsepfotect us against changes in the fair
value of our fixed rate borrowings due to benchmatérest rate movements. The changes in fair gabfi¢hese interest rate swap agreements
are recognized as interest expense in our consetiddatements of operations with the corresponaingunts included in other assets or other
non-current liabilities in our consolidated balaisbeets. The amount of net gain (loss) attributabtle risk being hedged is recognized as
interest expense in our consolidated statemerdpearfations with the corresponding amount includedates payable and other non-current
borrowings. The periodic interest settlements, Whiccur at the same interval as the 2014 Notegeaweded as interest expense. The fair
values of these interest rate swap agreementsdextais other assets in our consolidated balanetssivere $69 million each as of May 31,
2012 and 2011.

We do not use any interest rate swap agreementsafting purposes.

Cash Flow Hedges

In relation to the variable interest obligations@sated with our floating rate senior notes thatexdue and repaid in May 2010 (Floating Rate
Notes), we had entered into certain variable tediinterest rate swap agreements to manage therataffects of the variable intere
obligations and designated these agreements a$yimgtash flow hedges. Upon repayment of the fitgpRate Notes in May 2010, we
settled the interest rate swap agreements assbeiitethe Floating Rate Notes and no other arrareggs were outstanding as of May 31,
2012 and 2011.
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Net Investment Hedges

Periodically, we hedge net assets of certain ofiernational subsidiaries using foreign currefayvard contracts to offset the translation i
economic exposures related to our foreign currdyased investments in these subsidiaries. Theseactsihave been designated as net
investment hedges pursuant to ASC 815. We entatedtiese net investment hedges for the majorifisoél 2010. We suspended this
program during our fourth quarter of fiscal 201@ aas of May 31, 2012 and 2011, we have no comtiEcthis nature outstanding. For fiscal
2010, a $37 million net loss was recognized to aedated other comprehensive income for the effegbiertion and a $1 million net gain was
recognized to non-operating expense, net for tiggmoof the hedges that was ineffective and exetliffom effectiveness testing related to
these contracts.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated a Hedges

We transact business in various foreign currermieshave established a program that primarilyzeiforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofaderforeign currency exposures. Under this prograum strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases oredses in our foreign currency exposures are dffsgains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the riskd aolatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposungsdally arise from intercompany sublicense feptgricompany loans and other
intercompany transactions that are expected t@ble settled in the near term. Our foreign currdooyard contracts are generally short-term
in duration. Our ultimate realized gain or losshaigéspect to currency fluctuations will generalgpdnd on the size and type of cross-currency
exposures that we enter into, the currency excheatgs associated with these exposures and chantese rates, the net realized and
unrealized gains or losses on foreign currency dédxcontracts to offset these exposures and odlotors.

We neither use these foreign currency forward eatsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tfoea@rd contracts as hedging instrume
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we recorded tiiealues of these contracts as of the end ofeporting period to our consolidated
balance sheet with changes in fair values recot@edr consolidated statement of operations. Thenloa sheet classification for the fair val

of these forward contracts is prepaid expenseotrat current assets for a net unrealized gairtipopsand other current liabilities for a net
unrealized loss position. The statement of opematdassification for changes in fair values oéhéorward contracts is non-operating income
(expense), net, for both realized and unrealizéasgand losses.

As of May 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, thearal amounts of the forward contracts we held teipase U.S. Dollars in exchange for
other major international currencies were $3.0dsilland $2.5 billion, respectively, and the noticem@ounts of forward contracts we held to
sell U.S. Dollars in exchange for other major intgional currencies were $873 million and $1.6dail] respectively. The fair values of our
outstanding foreign currency forward contracts wesminal at May 31, 2012 and 2011.

Included in our non-operating income (expense)west $43 million, $(39) million and $(35) milliaf net gains (losses) related to these
forward contracts for the years ended May 31, 22021 and 2010, respectively.
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12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities, furniture and equipmerder operating leases. As of May 31, 2012, &utunmimum annual operating lease
payments and future minimum payments to be recdioad non-cancelable subleases were as follows:

(in millions)
Fiscal 201z $ 40¢
Fiscal 201« 307
Fiscal 201¢ 227
Fiscal 201¢ 17z
Fiscal 2017 12¢
Thereaftel 294
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,53t
Less: minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas (129

Total future minimum operating lease payments, $ 1,41

Lease commitments included future minimum rent pawyts for facilities that we have vacated pursuarmiur restructuring and merger
integration activities, as discussed in Note 9.Mdee approximately $249 million in facility obligams, net of estimated sublease income and
other costs, in accrued restructuring for thesatloos in our consolidated balance sheet at May312.

Rent expense was $329 million, $406 million and8Biillion for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respeslyy net of sublease income of
approximately $89 million, $85 million and $73 riolh, respectively. Certain lease agreements congsiewal options providing for extensic
of the lease terms.

Unconditional Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettain unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, which are agreements that are
enforceable, legally binding and specify termsluding: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchaskded, minimum or variable price
provisions; and the approximate timing of the pagtn&/e utilize several external manufacturers toafacture sub-assemblies for our
hardware products and to perform final assemblytasting of finished hardware products. We als@iobindividual components for our
hardware systems products from a variety of indigldsuppliers based on projected demand informaBach purchase commitments are b
on our forecasted component and manufacturing reopgints and typically provide for fulfillment witheagreed upon lead-times and/or
commercially standard lead-times for the particplart or product and have been included in the artsdoelow. Routine arrangements for
other materials and goods that are not relatedit@xternal manufacturers and certain other suggptiad that are entered into in the ordinary
course of business are not included in the amdwgitav as they are generally entered into in ordeseture pricing or other negotiated terms
and are difficult to quantify in a meaningful way.

As of May 31, 2012, our unconditional purchase egrdain other obligations were as follows (in noitlg):

Fiscal 201z $ 522
Fiscal 201¢ 49
Fiscal 201¢ 4
Fiscal 201¢ 3

Total $ 57¢
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As described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidatedfaial Statements included elsewhere in this AnRegilort, we have contingent
consideration payable as a result of our acqursiioPillar Data that will settle in fiscal 2015.

As described in Note 2, we also have a commitreeattjuire certain companies for cash considerdtianwe expect to pay upon the closing
of these acquisitions. As described in Note 8, asemotes payable and other borrowings outstarai§d 6.5 billion that mature at various
future dates.

Guarantees

Our software and hardware systems product salesagmts generally include certain provisions fdemnifying customers against liabilities
if our products infringe a third party’s intelleeluproperty rights. To date, we have not incurneg material costs as a result of such
indemnifications and have not accrued any matéaiailities related to such obligations in our colidated financial statements. Certain of our
product sales agreements also include provisiatenimifying customers against liabilities in the mvwee breach confidentiality or service
level requirements. It is not possible to deterntimemaximum potential amount under these inderatifin agreements due to our limited and
infrequent history of prior indemnification claimasd the unique facts and circumstances involveghah particular agreement.

Our software license and hardware systems prodiggceements also generally include a warranty thapmducts will substantially operate as
described in the applicable program documentatiom fperiod of one year after delivery. We alsorasirthat services we perform will be
provided in a manner consistent with industry séadd for a period of 90 days from performance efgérvice.

We occasionally are required, for various reastmsnter into financial guarantees with third pestin the ordinary course of our
business including, among others, guarantees delatioreign exchange trades, taxes, import liceasel letters of credit on behalf of parties
with whom we conduct business. Such agreementshvead a material effect on our results of openat financial position or cash flows.

13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. Onrbleee20, 2011, we announced that
our Board of Directors approved an expansion ofsbock repurchase program by an additional $51@hilOn June 18, 2012, we announced
that our Board of Directors approved a further egian by an additional $10.0 billion. As of May 2012, approximately $3.1 billion
remained available for stock repurchases undesttitk repurchase program prior to the June 201Riexa amount authorized. We
repurchased 207.3 million shares for $6.0 billimel(ding 5.2 million shares for $136 million thaere repurchased but not settled),

40.4 million shares for $1.2 billion and 43.3 nahi shares for $1.0 billion in fiscal 2012, 2011 &840, respectively, under the stock
repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchasetgavill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquaétions and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchase of our debt,
our stock price and economic and market conditins. stock repurchases may be effected from timrte through open market purchase
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repuecpasgram may be accelerated, suspended, delaybsicontinued at any time.

Dividends on Common Stock

During fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, our Board ofeldiors declared cash dividends of $0.24, $0.2138r2D per share of our outstanding
common stock, respectively, which we paid during same period.
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In June 2012, our Board of Directors declared atgug cash dividend of $0.06 per share of our taungding common stock payable on
August 3, 2012 to stockholders of record as ofcthse of business on July 13, 2012. Future deatersbf dividends and the establishment of
future record and payment dates are subject tbrtakdetermination of our Board of Directors.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes, as of each balahe®t date, the components of our accumulated otimeprehensive income, net of income
taxes:

May 31,
(in millions) 2012 2011
Foreign currency translation gains, $ 251 $ 64¢
Unrealized losses on derivative financial instrutegnet (131) (131)
Unrealized gains on marketable securities, 10C 30
Unrealized losses on defined benefit plans, (108 (6
Total accumulated other comprehensive inci $ 112 $ 54z

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock-based Compensation Plans
Stock Option Plan:

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bglitentive Plan, which provides for the issuantean-qualified stock options and
incentive stock options, as well as stock purchiges, stock appreciation rights and long-ternfg@anance awards to our eligible employees,
officers and directors who are also employees nsglbants, independent consultants and advisemndthe second quarter of fiscal 2011,
stockholders, upon the recommendation of our Bo&fdirectors, approved the adoption of the Amenaed Restated 2000 Lorigerm Equity
Incentive Plan (the 2000 Plan). Upon approval ténmination date of the 2000 Plan was extendeebyears and the number of authorized
shares of stock that may be issued under the 2R®OWRS increased by 388,313,015 shares. Undeetims of the 2000 Plan, options to
purchase common stock are granted at not lesddiramarket value, become exercisable as estallibiighe Board (generally 25% annually
over four years under our current practice) ancegaly expire no more than ten years from the dagrant. As of May 31, 2012, options to
purchase 399 million shares of common stock wetstanding under the 2000 Plan, of which 177 milliegre vested. As of May 31, 2012,
approximately 398 million shares of common stockensvailable for future awards under the 2000 Plandate, we have not issued any stock
purchase rights, stock appreciation rights, restiictock-based awards or long-term performancedsamder the 2000 Plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DirextStock Option Plan (the Directors’ Plan), whiatoyides for the issuance of non-qualified
stock options to non-employee directors. The DaéstPlan has from time to time been amended astdted, most recently in fiscal 2010.
Under the terms of the Directors’ Plan, optionptiochase 8 million shares of common stock werervesifor issuance, options are granted at
not less than fair market value, become exercisade four years and expire no more than ten yieans the date of grant. The Directors’ Plan
provides for automatic grants of options to each-employee director upon first becoming a direetod thereafter on an annual basis, as well
as automatic nondiscretionary grants for chairiegain Board committees. The Board will determime particular terms of any such stock
awards at the time of grant, but the terms wiltbasistent with those of options granted undeitinectors’ Plan with respect to vesting or
forfeiture schedules and treatment on terminatiostatus as a director. At May 31, 2012, optionpucchase approximately 3 million shares of
common stock were outstanding under the 1993 RirscPlan, of which approximately 2 million werested. As of May 31, 2012,
approximately 1 million shares were available fgufe option awards under this plan.
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In connection with certain of our acquisitions, assumed certain outstanding stock options and otiseiicted stock-based awards of each
acquiree’s respective stock plans. These stockptind other restricted stock-based awards géneztdin all of the rights, terms and
conditions of the respective plans under which tlveye originally granted. As of May 31, 2012, opsdo purchase 20 million shares of
common stock and 3 million shares of restrictedlstmased awards were outstanding under these plans.

The following table summarizes stock option acyivdr our last three fiscal years ended May 31,201

Options Outstanding
Shares Undel

Weighted

Average
(in millions, except exercise price) Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 200 35¢ $ 18.3C
Granted 72 $ 21.2¢
Assumec 23 $ 55.7i
Exercisec (60) $ 14.0¢
Cancelec 4) $ 43.9¢
Balance, May 31, 201 352 $ 18.8¢
Granted 11C $ 22.5¢
Assumec 1 $ 16.3¢
Exercisec (78) $ 16.7¢
Cancelec (31) $ 29.17
Balance, May 31, 201 354 $ 19.5¢
Granted 112 $ 32.0¢
Assumec 8 $ 1217
Exercisec (39 $ 16.61
Cancelec (13 $ 2931
Balance, May 31, 201 422 $ 22.6¢€

Options outstanding that have vested and thatqrected to vest as of May 31, 2012 were as follows:
Weighted

Weighted Average In-the-Money Aggregate

Outstanding Average Remaining Options as of Intrinsic

Options Exercise Contract Term May 31, 201: Value (1)
(in millions) Price (in years) (in millions) (in millions)
Vested 194 $ 18.0C 4.84 18¢ $ 1,71¢
Expected to ves? 204 $ 26.4¢ 8.3C 10€ 55€
Total 39¢ $22.3: 6.61 294 $ 2,27¢

@ The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated basetie gross difference between our closing steickemn the last trading day of fiscal 2012 of $6and the exercise prices for all
“in-the-money” options outstanding, excluding tax effe

@ The unrecognized compensation expense calculatet time fair value method for shares expected $o (umvested shares net of expected forfeituresj By 31, 2012 was
approximately $1.1 billion and is expected to bepgmized over a weighted average period of 2.6&yégproximately 24 million shares outstandingadlay 31, 2012 were not
expected to ves
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StockBased Compensation Expense and Valuation of Statiois
Stock-based compensation is included in the folhgwoperating expense line items in our consolidatattments of operations:
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Sales and marketir $ 12z $ 87 $ 81
Software license updates and product sug 18 14 17
Hardware systems produtc 1 2 3
Hardware systems suppt 5 5 2
Services 23 16 14
Research and developmt 29t 231 172
General and administrati\ 162 14& 132
Acquisition related and othi 33 10 15
Total stocl-based compensatic 65¢ 51C 43¢
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (21€) (170) (14€)
Total stocl-based compensation, net of estimated income taefi: $ 44 $ 34( $ 29(

We estimate the fair values of our share-based patgising the Black-Scholes-Merton option-prigimgdel, which was developed for use in
estimating the fair values of stock options. Optiafuation models, including the Black-Scholes-Merbptionpricing model, require the inp

of assumptions, including stock price volatilitth&ges in the input assumptions can materiallyctaffee fair value estimates and ultimately
how much we recognize as stock-based compensatmanse. The fair values of our stock options wetermated at the date of grant or date of
acquisition for options and restricted stock-basedrds assumed in a business combination. The teeiglverage input assumptions used and
resulting fair values of our stock options werdaws for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Year Ended May 31,

2012 2011 2010
Expected life (in years) 5.1 5.1 4.7
Risk-free interest rat 1.6% 1.8% 2.1%
Volatility 30% 33% 31%
Dividend yield 0.8% 0.9% 0.9%
Weightec-average fair value per she $ 9.3 $ 6.6 $5.21

The expected life input is based on historical eiserpatterns and post-vesting termination behatherrisk-free interest rate input is based on
United States Treasury instruments, the annuatirédend yield input is based on the per shareddind declared by our Board of Directors
and the volatility input is calculated based onithplied volatility of our publicly traded options.

Tax Benefits from Exercise of Stock Options andtiresof Restricted StocBased Awards

Total cash received as a result of option exercisesapproximately $622 million, $1.3 billion an8l1® million for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 20:
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of apdiexercised and vesting of restricted stock-basedds was $587 million, $1.1 billion and
$647 million for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, regpety. In connection with these exercises andingsf restricted stock-based awards, the
tax benefits realized by us were $182 million, $8&@8ion and $203 million for fiscal 2012, 2011 aR610, respectively. Of the total tax
benefits received, we classified excess tax beniitn stock-based compensation of $97 million,3&1llion and $110 million as cash flows
from financing activities rather than cash flowsnfr operating activities for fiscal 2012, 2011 af®d @, respectively.
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Employee Stock Purchase Ple

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (PurchasgtRat allows employees to purchase sharesrofram stock at a price per share that
is 95% of the fair market value of Oracle stoclofthe end of the semi-annual option period. AMafy 31, 2012, 67 million shares were
reserved for future issuances under the Purchase Rle issued 4 million shares under the Purchiaseieach of fiscal 2012 and 2011 and
3 million shares in fiscal 2010.

Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans

We offer various defined contribution plans for &uS. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutigm plan expense was $344 million,
$312 million and $253 million for fiscal 2012, 20&hd 2010, respectively. The number of plan pauicis in our benefit plans has generally
increased in recent years primarily as a resudtdafitional eligible employees from our acquisitions

In the United States, regular employees can ppéieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings awvedtment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan).
Participants can generally contribute up to 40%heir eligible compensation on a per-pay-perioddas defined by the Oracle 401(k) Plan
document or by the section 402(g) limit as defibgdhe United States Internal Revenue Service (IR& match a portion of employee
contributions, currently 50% up to 6% of comperwatach pay period, subject to maximum aggregatehimg amounts. Our contributions to
the Oracle 401(k) Plan, net of forfeitures, wer@%nillion, $119 million and $90 million in fisc&012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiamgto certain key employees whereby they mayra@ef®rtion of their annual base and/or
variable compensation until retirement or a datzgjgd by the employee in accordance with the pl&referred compensation plan assets and
liabilities were each approximately $264 millionaisMay 31, 2012 and were each approximately $28@mas of May 31, 2011 and are
presented in other assets and other non-currdsilitiss in the accompanying consolidated balarresess.

We sponsor certain defined benefit pension plaatsate offered primarily by certain of our foreigmbsidiaries. Many of these plans were
assumed through our acquisitions or are requirdddsl regulatory requirements. We may deposit fufod these plans with insurance
companies, third party trustees, or into governameaihaged accounts consistent with local regulategyirements, as applicable. Our total
defined benefit plan pension expenses were $5%mil$76 million and $29 million for fiscal 2012021 and 2010, respectively. The aggre
projected benefit obligation and aggregate netlitalffunded status) of our defined benefit plamsre $691 million and $297 million as of
May 31, 2012, respectively, and $584 million an8%nillion as of May 31, 2011, respectively.

15. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incobegore the provision for income taxes:
Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010

Domestic $ 6,28« $ 6,37¢ $4,28:

Foreign 6,67¢ 5,03: 3,961
Income before provision for income ta $12,96: $11,41: $8,24:
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The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing:
Year Ended May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Current provision
Federal $1,611 $1,81i $ 1,301
State 257 262 29¢
Foreign 1,104 1,03 1,01
Total current provisiol 2,972 3,117 2,61¢
Deferred provision (benefit
Federal 267 179 (380)
State 14 14 (76)
Foreign (272 (88) (55
Total deferred provision (benef 9 (259 511
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,981 $ 2,86¢ $ 2,10¢
Effective income tax rat 23.0% 25.1% 25.6%

The provision for income taxes differed from thecamt computed by applying the federal statutorg tatour income before provision for
income taxes as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 4,53 $ 3,99¢ $ 2,88t
Foreign earnings at other than United States (1,479 (1,12%) (672)
State tax expense, net of federal ber 171 18¢€ 161
Settlements and releases from judicial decisionsséatute expirations, n (132) (53 (315
Domestic production activity deductit (17¢) (20¢) (95)
Other, ne 57 66 144
Total provision for income taxce $ 2,981 $ 2,86¢ $ 2,10¢
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The components of our deferred tax liabilities asdets were as follows:

May 31,
(in millions) 2012 2011
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Acquired intangible asse (1,979 (1,81¢)
Unremitted earning (329 (449
Total deferred tax liabilitie $(2,426 $(1,99¢(
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance $ 60¢ $ 54:
Employee compensation and bene 90t 742
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 19¢€ 30t
Depreciation and amortizatic 252 482
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 2,53 2,67¢
Other 50 11¢
Total deferred tax asse $ 4,55( $ 4,867
Valuation allowanct $ (728 $ (71729
Net deferred tax asse $ 1,39¢ $2,10¢
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 877 $1,18¢
Non-current deferred tax asst 59t 1,07¢
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdéiabilities) (28) (101)
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (in other r-current liabilities) (48 (59
Net deferred tax asse $ 1,39¢ $2,10¢

We provide for United States income taxes on théiatributed earnings and the other outside basipteary differences of foreign
subsidiaries unless they are considered indefinieshvested outside the United States. Duringhirel quarter of fiscal 2012, we increased the
number of foreign subsidiaries in countries withvéw statutory rates than the United States, theirmgs of which we consider to be indefinit
reinvested outside the United States. If theseidiabies generate sufficient earnings in the futerg provision for income taxes may continue
to be favorably affected to a meaningful exterth@lgh any such favorable effects could be sigaifity reduced under a variety of
circumstances. At May 31, 2012, the amount of tenagodifferences related to undistributed earniagg other outside basis temporary
differences of investments in foreign subsidiatipen which United States income taxes have not pemrided was approximately $20.9
billion and $4.3 billion, respectively. If thesedistributed earnings were repatriated to the Un8&ates, or if the other outside basis differel
were recognized in a taxable transaction, they dvgeherate foreign tax credits that would redueefélderal tax liability associated with the
foreign dividend or the otherwise taxable transactiAssuming a full utilization of the foreign taxedits, the potential net deferred tax liability
associated with these temporary differences ofatiniduted earnings and other outside basis tempdifferences would be approximately $
billion and $1.4 billion, respectively.

Our net deferred tax assets were $1.4 billion ghd Billion as of May 31, 2012 and May 31, 201Epextively. We believe it is more likely
than not that the net deferred tax assets wilklaéized in the foreseeable future. Realizationwfret deferred tax assets is dependent upon ou
generation of sufficient taxable income in futuesags in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtaindférfrom the reversal of temporary
differences, net operating loss carryforwards axcctedit carryforwards. The amount of net defeteedassets considered realizable is subject
to adjustment in future periods if estimates ofifattaxable income change.
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The valuation allowance was $728 million at May 3012 and $772 million at May 31, 2011. Substalytial of the valuation allowances as
May 31, 2012 and 2011 relate to tax assets edtabli;y purchase accounting. Any subsequent reduofithat portion of the valuation
allowance and the recognition of the associatedbéaefits associated with our acquisitions willlfeeorded to our provision for income taxes
subsequent to our final determination of the véduaallowance or the conclusion of the measuremeribd (as defined above), whichever
comes first.

At May 31, 2012, we had federal net operating tasyforwards of approximately $726 million. Théssses expire in various years between
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2031, and are subject taditions on their utilization. We had state netrmapieg loss carryforwards of approximately
$2.9 billion, which expire between fiscal 2013 disdal 2031, and are subject to limitations onitlulization. We had total foreign net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $dilBon, which are subject to limitations on theitilization. Approximately $1.5 billion of
these net operating losses are not currently sutgjexxpiration dates. The remainder, approximas@§2 million, expire between fiscal 2013
and fiscal 2032. We had tax credit carryforwardamdroximately $1.0 billion, which are subjectitaitations on their utilization.
Approximately $346 million of these tax credit gdarwards are not currently subject to expiratiates. The remainder, approximately $691
million, expire in various years between fiscal 2@hd fiscal 2029.

We classify our unrecognized tax benefits as eitherent or non-current income taxes payable iretttdmpanying consolidated balance
sheets. The aggregate changes in the balance gfass unrecognized tax benefits, including actiaiss, were as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ju $ 3,16( $ 2,527 $ 2,26
Increases related to tax positions from prior figears 99 12¢ 94
Decreases related to tax positions from prior figears (269) (202 (49))
Increases related to tax positions taken duringectifiscal yea 522 63¢ 81:
Settlements with tax authoritit (187) (23) (88)
Lapses of statutes of limitatic (84) (53 (48)
Other, ne (65) 44 (15)
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ma $ 3,27¢ $ 3,16( $2,52i

As of May 31, 2012, $3.3 billion of unrecognizedbéts would affect our effective tax rate if recdmpd. We recognized interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions in our provisionincome taxes line of our consolidated stateimehoperations of $46 million, $22 million
and $3 million during fiscal 2012, 2011 and 20H3pectively. Interest and penalties accrued asayf 84, 2012 and 2011 were $683 million
and $669 million, respectively.

During fiscal 2010, the provision for income taxess reduced due to judicial decisions, includingMarch 2010 U.S. Court of Appeals Ninth
Circuit ruling inXilinx v. Commissionerand settlements with various worldwide tax authes.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing auttesriare currently examining income tax return®wodcle and various acquired entities for
years through fiscal 2010. Many issues are at garaxbd stage in the examination process, the rigysfisant of which include thi

deductibility of certain royalty payments, issuekated to certain capital gains and losses, extitaéal income exemptions, domestic
production activity deductions, stewardship dedingj stock-based compensation and foreign taxteredien. Other issues are related to years
with expiring statutes of limitation. With all dfié¢se domestic audit issues considered in the agfgrege believe it was reasonably possible
that, as of May 31, 2012, the gross unrecognizethéaefits related to these audits could decreabetbier by payment, release, or a
combination of both) in the next 12 months by asimas $518 million ($423 million net of offsettitex benefits). Our U.S. federal and, with
some exceptions, our state income tax returns bage examined for all years prior to fiscal 2006 ae are no longer subject to audit for
those periods.
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Internationally, tax authorities for numerous norsljurisdictions are also examining returns affecbur unrecognized tax benefits. We
believe it was reasonably possible that, as of Bhy2012, the gross unrecognized tax benefits dedetrease (whether by payment, releas
a combination of both) by as much as $189 milli®h23 million net of offsetting tax benefits) in thext 12 months, related primarily to
transfer pricing. Other issues are related to yedéttsexpiring statutes of limitation. With someogyptions, we are generally no longer subje
tax examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for yeprior to fiscal 1998.

We believe that we have adequately provided forraagonably foreseeable outcomes related to owudits and that any settlement will not
have a material adverse effect on our consolidiitiedhcial position or results of operations. Howettkere can be no assurances as to the
possible outcomes.

We previously negotiated three successive unilbtetaance Pricing Agreements with the IRS that cawany of our intercompany transfer

pricing issues and preclude the IRS from makingasfer pricing adjustment within the scope of ¢hagreements. These agreements were
effective for fiscal years through May 31, 2006. Wave reached final agreement with the IRS forwehef this Advance Pricing Agreement
for the years ending May 31, 2007 through May 3,2 However, these agreements do not cover sulastalements of our transfer pricing
and do not bind tax authorities outside the UnBeates. We have finalized bilateral Advance Priddggeements, which are effective for the
years ending May 31, 2002 through May 31, 2006Mag 31, 2007 through May 31, 201

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280,Segment Reportingestablishes standards for reporting informatiooud operating segments. Operating segments aireededs
components of an enterprise about which separsadial information is available that is evaluatedularly by the chief operating decision
maker, or decision making group, in deciding howaltocate resources and in assessing performanoech@ef operating decision maker is our
Chief Executive Officer. We are organized geogreglhy and by line of business. While our Chief Bxtdee Officer evaluates results in a
number of different ways, the line of business ng@naent structure is the primary basis for whichatecation of resources and financial
results are assessed. We have three businessegrargofhardware systems and services— which areiudivided into certain operating
segments. Our software business is comprised obpveoating segments: (1) new software licenseq@nsbftware license updates and pro
support. Our hardware systems business is compofsteeb operating segments: (1) hardware systemdyats and (2) hardware systems
support. All other operating segments are combureter our services business.

The new software licenses line of business is eedjagthe licensing of our database and middlewafevare and our applications software
and our cloud software subscription offerings. Dat®e and middleware software generally includesbdasie and database management
software; application server and cloud applicatioftware; Service-Oriented Architecture and busirecess management software; business
intelligence software; identity and access manages@ftware; data integration software; web expeemanagement, portals, content
management and social network software; and deneaptools. Our database and middleware softwar@uat offerings also include Java,
which is a global software development platformdusea wide range of computers, networks and devideplications software generally
provides enterprise information that enables congsato manage their business cycles and provideligence and includes enterprise
resource planning software including human capii@hagement; customer relationship management;dialangovernance, risk and
compliance; procurement; supply chain managemaigrgrise portfolio project management; enterpgpsdormance management; business
intelligence analytic applications; web commercd Buaustry-specific applications. Our cloud softeraubscription offerings include Oracle
Cloud, which is a family of our cloud-based softesaubscription offerings that provides our custanard partners subscription-based, self-
service access to certain of our database and emdadé, and applications software. Our cloud sofveaibscription offerings also include
Oracle RightNow Customer Experience and Oracledraldent Management Cloud Service, among others.
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The software license updates and product supparoli business provides customers with rights gpeaified software product upgrades and
maintenance releases, internet access to tecluoiotnt, as well as internet and telephone acodasghnical support personnel during the
support period.

The hardware systems products line of businessstsrmimarily of computer server, storage and oeking product offerings and hardware-
related software, including the Oracle Solaris @prg System. As a part of this line of business offer our Oracle Engineered Systems,
including Oracle Exadata Database Machine, Orax#dgic Elastic Cloud, Oracle Exalytics In-Memonabkhine, SPARC SuperCluster,
Oracle Database Appliance, and Oracle Big Data iAppé, which are engineered to run certain of audware and software offerings to cre
performance and operational cost advantages foormess. Most of our computer servers are basedio8SBARC family of microprocessors
and on microprocessors from Intel Corporation. emvers range from high performance computing seteecost efficient, entry-level
servers, and run with Oracle Solaris, Oracle Liang certain other operating systems environmentssf@rage products are designed to
securely manage, protect, archive and restore mast) data assets and consist of tape, disk anebnkdhg solutions for open systems and
mainframe server environments. Our hardware sysgemgort line of business offers customers corgréztt provide software updates for the
software components that are essential to theifumadfty of our hardware systems and storage prisdaied may also include product repairs,
maintenance services and technical support services

Our services business is comprised of the remaioideur operating segments and offers consultirenaged cloud services and education
services. Our consulting line of business primapilgvides services to customers in business amstréifegy alignment, enterprise architecture
planning and design, initial product implementatiow integration and ongoing product enhancementsipgrades. Oracle managed cloud
services provide comprehensive software and haelwanagement and maintenance services for custdrogtesd at our Oracle data center
facilities, select partner data centers, or phylsica-premise at customer facilities. Additionallye provide support services, both on-premise
and remote, to Oracle customers to enable incrgzesddrmance and higher availability of their protiuand services. Education services
provide training to customers, partners and emp@syss a part of our mission to further the adopdiuth usage of our software and hardware
products by our customers and to create opporésniti grow our product revenues.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentsségjuently, it is not practical to show assetsfiisrating segment.

123



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2012

The following table presents summary results faheaf our three businesses and for the operatigpgeets of our software and hardware
systems businesses:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
New software license:
Revenue® $ 9,91( $ 9,22( $ 7,52¢
Sales and distribution expens 5,10i 4,692 3,98(
Margin @ $ 4,80: $ 4,52¢ $ 3,54t
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue® $16,25¢ $14,87¢ $13,17¢
Software license update and product support exgt 1,11¢ 1,14¢ 95¢
Margin @ $15,14: $13,73: $12,21%
Total software busines
Revenue® $26,16¢ $24,09¢ $20,70(
Expense: 6,228 5,83¢ 4,93¢
Margin @ $19,94¢ $18,26( $15,76:
Hardware systems produc
Revenue: $ 3,827 $ 4,38 $ 1,49
Hardware systems products exper 1,841 2,061 85C
Sales and distribution expens 1,05( 96( 307
Margin @ $ 93¢ $ 1,361 $ 33€
Hardware systems suppc
Revenue(® $ 2,50t $ 2,71( $ 912
Hardware systems support exper 1,00¢ 1,221 40¢€
Margin @ $ 1,49¢ $ 1,48¢ $ 504
Total hardware systems busine
Revenue® $ 6,33: $ 7,09: $ 2,40t
Expense: 3,89i 4,24: 1,56t
Margin @ $ 2,43¢ $ 2,85( $ 84C
Total services busines
Revenue® $ 4,721 $ 4,66: $ 3,92¢
Services expenst 3,66: 3,64: 3,24t
Margin @ $ 1,05¢ $ 1,01¢ $ 684
Totals:
Revenue® $37,22: $35,85( $27,03¢
Expense: 13,78: 13,72: 9,74¢
Margin @ $23,43¢ $22,12¢ $17,28¢

(1) Operating segment revenues generally differ fiaenexternal reporting classifications due to éersaftware license products that are classifiesemgice revenues for management
reporting purposes. New software licenses revefargranagement reporting included revenues relatetbud software subscription contracts that wddge otherwise been
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeextitigs but were not recognized in the accompangonsolidated statements of operations in the atfu$22 million for fiscal
2012. Software license updates and product supgeenues for management reporting included reveralated to software support contracts that woaldehotherwise been recorded
by the acquired businesses as independent erfttittegere not recognized in the accompanying codat#d statements of operations in the amounts&hdilion, $80 million and $86
million for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectvéh addition, we did not recognize hardware systsupport revenues related to hardware systenp@rugpntracts that would have
otherwise been recorded by the acquired businessiesiependent entities in the amounts of $30onill$148 million and $128 million for fiscal 2012)11 and 2010, respectively. ¢
Note 10 for an explanation of these adjustmentsth@dable below for a reconciliation of our tod@lerating segment revenues to our total rever
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() The margins reported reflect only the direct colfeble costs of each line of business and ddmutide allocations of product development, infotioratechnology, marketing and
partner programs and corporate and general anchairative expenses. Additionally, the margins doneflect inventory fair value adjustments, anmation of intangible assets,
acquisition related and other expenses, restrungf@kpenses or stc-based compensatic

The following table reconciles total operating segirevenues to total revenues as well as totabtipg segment margin to income before
provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Total revenues for operating segme $37,22: $35,85( $27,03¢
New software licenses revent® (22 — —
Software license updates and product support reg® (48) (80) (86)
Hardware systems support reven®) (30) (148 (128§)
Total revenue: $37,12: $35,62: $26,82(
Total margin for operating segmel $23,43¢ $22,12¢ $17,28¢
New software licenses revent® (22 — —
Software license updates and product support reg®) (48) (80) (86)
Hardware systems support reven®) (30 (14¢) (12¢)
Hardware systems products exper® — — (29
Product development and information technology aspe (4,630 (4,779 (3,479
Marketing and partner program expen (581) (601) (50%)
Corporate and general and administrative expe (945) (800) (755)
Amortization of intangible asse (2,430 (2,42¢) (1,979
Acquisition related and othi (56) (20¢) (154)
Restructuring (295) (487) (622)
Stock-based compensatic (62€) (500 (427)
Interest expens (76€) (80¢) (754)
Other, ne (48 12C (139
Income before provision for income ta» $12,96: $11,41° $ 8,24:

() New software licenses revenues for managementtiegancluded revenues related to cloud softwatesstiption contracts that would have otherwise beeorded by the acquire
businesses as independent entities but were nugmezed in the accompanying consolidated statensfrgperations in the amount of $22 million forclid 2012, Software license
updates and product support revenues for managegmoting included revenues related to softwappstt contracts that would have otherwise beenrderbby the acquired
businesses as independent entities but were nugmeed in the accompanying consolidated statenwdrgperations in the amounts of $48 million, $8llion and $86 million for
fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. In additive did not recognize hardware systems suppeenues related to hardware systems support cetret would have otherwise
been recorded by the acquired businesses as indapeentities in the amounts of $30 million, $14liam and $128 million for fiscal 2012, 2011 an@1D, respectively

(2 Represents the effects of fair value adjustmentsir inventories acquired from Sun that were $oldustomers in fiscal 2010. Business combinagicrounting rules require us to
account for inventories assumed from our acquisitiat their fair values. The amount included irdinaare systems products expenses above is inteadeljust these expenses to the
hardware systems products expenses that wouldbeereotherwise recorded by Sun as an independgityt goon the sale of these inventories. If we assinventories in future
acquisitions, we will be required to assess thaimfalues, which may result in fair value adjustitseto those inventorie
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Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoiiorafor each country that comprised greater thaeetipercent of our total revenues for fiscal
2012, 2011 or 2010.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31,

2012 2011 2010
Long Long Long
Lived Lived Lived
Assets Assets Assets
(in millions) Revenues (1) Revenues 1) Revenue: 1)
United State! $15,767 $2,46¢ $15,27- $2,35¢ $11,47: $2,141
United Kingdom 2,30z 171 2,20( 16¢ 1,68t 13€
Japar 1,86¢ 55C 1,731 551 1,34¢ 50t
Germany 1,48¢ 47 1,47¢ 29 1,112 20
Canade 1,23¢ 37 1,17¢ 16 88¢ 10
Australia 1,16: 38 1,041 34 687 28
France 1,162 16 1,14~ 15 96& 24
Other countrie: 12,14 741 11,582 661 8,667 632
Total $37,121 $4,06¢ $35,62: $3,83: $26,82( $3,49¢

() Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible assesijtg investments and deferred taxes, which arehotated to specific geographic locations as ilipracticable to do s

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingmo®mme for the period by the weighted average lmemof common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share impated by dividing net income for the period by tieighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, plus thdiddweffect of outstanding stock options, restricstock-based awards and shares issuable
under the employee stock purchase plan using ¢lasury stock method. The following table sets fthithcomputation of basic and diluted
earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2012 2011 2010
Net income $ 9,98! $ 8,541 $ 6,13t
Weighted average common shares outstan 5,01¢ 5,04¢ 5,014
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 80 80 59
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 5,09¢ 5,12¢ 5,07:
Basic earnings per she $ 1.9¢ $ 1.6¢ $ 1.2z
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.9¢ $ 1.67 $ 1.21
Shares subject to anti-dilutive stock options agdricted stock-based awards excluded from

calculation® 11C 57 141

(1) These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutivelstiptions and restricted stock-based awards aslasd using the treasury stock method (desciibede) and could be dilutive in the
future. See Note 14 for information regarding tkereise prices of our outstanding, unexercisecopt
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18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UBA&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely, Oracle) filed a complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern Distiof California against SAP AG, its wholly-ownedbsidiary, SAP America, Inc., and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc., (the BSubsidiary, and collectively, the SAP Defendaaligging that SAP unlawfully
accessed Oracle’s Customer Connection support teedosil improperly took and used Oracle’s intellatproperty, including software code
and knowledge management solutions. The claimgedién the final operative complaint, Oracle’s Rbhukmended Complaint, filed on
August 18, 2009, include infringement of the fedl€apyright Act, breach of contract, violationstbé Federal Computer Fraud and Abuse
and the California Computer Data Access and Fraetd divil conspiracy, trespass, violation of thdifdania Unfair Business Practices Act a
intentional and negligent interference with prospececonomic advantage. The SAP Defendants fitedr@gswer on August 26, 2009.

On September 13, 2010, the court approved a stipnlhy the parties whereby the SAP Subsidiaryusdited to all liability on all claims and
SAP AG and SAP America, Inc. stipulated to vicasidiability on the copyright claims against the S8&bsidiary, and the SAP Defendants
retained all defenses related to damages.

Trial commenced on November 1, 2010. On Novemb2020, the court approved a stipulation by theigsrpursuant to which SAP AG and
SAP America, Inc. stipulated to liability for itsvm contributory infringement of 120 of Oracle’s goights. Following trial on the sole issue of
the amount of damages the SAP Defendants shoultbp@yacle for the admitted infringement, the jawyarded Oracle the sum of $1.3 billi
The amount has not been received and has not beerded as a benefit to our results of operations.

On February 23, 2011, the SAP Defendants filed iandor judgment as a matter of law and for neiai tand on September 1, 2011, the ¢
granted the SAP Defendantabtion. The court vacated the $1.3 billion award held that the maximum amount of damages sustiaiigithe
proof presented at trial is $272 million. The cdurther held that Oracle may accept a remittifu®272 million or, alternatively, the court will
order a new trial as to the amount of actual damagéhe form of lost profits and infringer’s prisfi

On September 23, 2011, Oracle filed a motion fotifezation of the order for immediate appeal, white court denied on January 6, 2012. On
February 6, 2012, Oracle rejected the remittitut @guested a new trial. The new trial, which Wwélto determine the amount of damages, is
currently scheduled to commence on August 27, 2018s soon thereafter as the court is available.

On September 14, 2011, the SAP Subsidiary pledygilcriminal copyright infringement and unauttzed access to a protected computer
with intent to defraud. Under a plea agreementhredavith the U.S. Attorney’s office, the SAP Sulisig is required to pay a fine of $20
million to the United States, to pay restitutionQeacle in an amount to be determined through &melimg civil action and to remain on
probation for a term of three years.

Derivative Litigations and Related Action

On August 2, 2010, a stockholder derivative lawsias filed in the United States District Court fbe Northern District of California. On
August 19, 2010, a similar stockholder derivatieduit was filed in the Superior Court of the Stt€alifornia, County of San Mateo. The
derivative suits were brought by alleged stockhadaé Oracle, purportedly on our behalf, againshe®f our current officers and directors
one officer and director who has since left the pany. Plaintiffs allege that the officer and disgalefendants are responsible for certain
alleged conduct in a qui tam action that had béed &gainst Oracle in the United States Distriou@ for the Eastern District of Virginia. On
July 29, 2010, the United States government fil&beplaint in

127



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2012

Intervention in the qui tam action, alleging thaa€e made false and fraudulent statements to émef@l Services Administration (GSA) in
1997-98 regarding Oracle’s commercial pricing pad, discounts provided to Oracle’s commerciatamers and discounts provided to
government purchasers. On October 6, 2011, theepaigned a settlement agreement, which resohedui tam action without any admiss
of liability on the part of Oracle. Under the terpfsthe settlement, Oracle paid the United Stail&9% million and paid relator’'s counsel $2
million for attorneysfees in exchange for a release of claims as st iiothe agreement. The court dismissed the quigetion with prejudic
on October 11, 2011.

Although the qui tam action has been dismissedhtiffs in the derivative suits allege that theio#ir and director defendants have exposed
Oracle to reputational damage, potential monetarajes and costs relating to the investigatioreraef and remediation of the underlying
claims. Plaintiffs bring claims for breach of fidary duty, abuse of control and unjust enrichmentlowing consolidation of the actions and
plaintiffs’ filing of a consolidated complaint orebBruary 10, 2011, Oracle moved to dismiss the camplOn November 9, 2011, the court
granted Oracle’s motion to dismiss and grantechfifés leave to file an amended complaint. Theiparhave agreed to mediate all disputes
relating to this matter. Accordingly, the partiegezed into a stipulated stay of this action, whteh court signed on February 8, 2012.

On September 8, 2011, another stockholder deriwddinwsuit based on the qui tam action was filethéUnited States District Court for the
Northern District of California, alleging similanéories and seeking similar relief as the constditlaases mentioned above. This derive

suit was brought by an alleged stockholder of Grgalirportedly on our behalf, against some of aurent officers and directors. On

October 4, 2011, and again on April 9, 2012, thercapproved a stipulated stay of this action. pagies have agreed to mediate all disputes
relating to this matter. Oracle believes that tlaénts in the qui tam action were meritless, that¢hare additional defenses to plaintiff's
bringing this action on Oracle’s behalf and th&réhare additional defenses to plaintiffs’ in tb@solidated cases bringing that action on
Oracle’s behalf.

On September 12, 2011, two alleged stockholde@raéle filed a Verified Petition for Writ of Mandafor Inspection of Corporate Books and
Records in the Superior Court of the State of ©glifs, County of San Mateo. The petition namesapaondents Oracle and two of our offic
Citing the claims in a qui tam action (discussedva), the alleged stockholders claim that theyimrestigating alleged corporate
mismanagement and alleged improper and fraudutactipes relating to the pricing of Oracle’s progusupplied to the United States
government. The alleged stockholders request tigatcaurt issue a writ of mandate compelling theéasion of certain of the company’s
accounting books and records and minutes of meetihthe stockholders, the Board of Directors dreddommittees of the Board of Directors,
related to those allegations, plus expenses cdtldé and attorneys’ fees. On October 5, 2011atleged stockholders dismissed their claims
against the two company officers and filed an Agaion for a Writ of Mandate in support of theiepiously filed Verified Petition. At a
hearing on November 10, 2011, the court granteclirged stockholders’ Application, which was comiéd in a judgment on December 12,
2011. Oracle filed a notice of appeal on Februa30d2. The parties have agreed to mediate alutksprelating to this matter. Accordingly,
the parties entered into a stipulated stay of &rrgroceedings in the San Mateo Superior Courtgchvtiie court signed on February 6, 2012.
Oracle believes that the claims in the qui tamoactiere meritless.

On June 5, 2012, the parties in the derivativeoasttiscussed above and the Writ of Mandate aotietrwith a mediator and, at the end of the
mediation session, the parties agreed to contirsgrissing a potential resolution of these matters.

On September 30, 2011, a stockholder derivativeléwvas filed in the Court of Chancery of the 8tat Delaware and a second stockholder
was permitted to intervene as a plaintiff on Novembb, 2011. The derivative suit is brought by tlleged stockholders of Oracle,
purportedly on Oracls’behalf, against our current directors, includigginst our Chief Executive Officer as an allegedtiolling stockholde!
Plaintiffs allege that Oracle’s directors breachesr fiduciary duties in agreeing to purchasedaPilbata Systems, Inc. at
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an excessive price. Plaintiffs allege breach afdidry duty, aiding and abetting breach of fidugiduty, waste of corporate assets and unjust
enrichment. Plaintiffs seek an injunction of théaPiData transaction, rescission of the Pillard@ansaction, disgorgement of our Chief
Executive Officer’s alleged profits and other deatary and monetary relief. On January 13, 201&infiffs filed an amended complaint. On
February 29, 2012, defendants filed a motion tilis the amended complaint; plaintiffs filed an egifion on April 27, 2012; and defendants
filed a reply on May 18, 2012. A hearing on thistion is scheduled for August 22, 2012.

While the outcome of the derivative litigations ahe related action noted above cannot be preditittdcertainty, we do not believe that the
outcome of any of these matters, individually ottia aggregate, will result in losses that are rialg in excess of amounts already
recognized, if any.

Other Litigation

We are party to various other legal proceedingsdaichs, either asserted or unasserted, which erifee ordinary course of business,
including proceedings and claims that relate taigsitions we have completed or to companies we laaggired or are attempting to acquire.
While the outcome of these matters cannot be prestlizith certainty, we do not believe that the oute of any of these matters, individually
or in the aggregate, will result in losses thatraegerially in excess of amounts already recognifedhy.
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SCHEDULE 11
Beginning
(in millions) Balance
Allowances for Doubtful Trade Receivab
Year Ended
May 31, 201( $ 27C
May 31, 2011 $ 30t
May 31, 201z $ 37z

ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions
Charged
to Operations ot

Other Accounts

g
$ 164
$ 92

130

Write -offs

$ (92
$ (119
$ (107)

Translation
Adjustments

and
Other

$ (16
$ 16
$ (34
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

ORACLE CORPORATION

Date: June 26, 201 By: /s/__LAwRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bydtowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the ddiedted.

Name Title Date
/s/  LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Princif June 26, 201
Lawrence J. Ellisol Executive Officer)
/sl SAFRAA. CATZ President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc June 26, 201
Safra A. Cat: (Principal Financial Officer)
/sl WiLLiAM C oREYW EST Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€ June 26, 201
William Corey Wes Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ JErFFReYO. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors June 26, 2012
Jeffrey O. Henle
/ s/ JEFFREYS. BERG Director June 26, 2012
Jeffrey S. Ber¢
/s/  H. RAYMOND B INGHAM Director June 26, 2012
H. Raymond Binghar
/sl MIcHAEL J. BOSKIN Director June 26, 2012
Michael J. Boskir
/s/ BRUCER. CHIZEN Director June 26, 2012
Bruce R. Chizel
/s/ GEORGEH. C ONRADES Director June 26, 2012
George H. Conrade
/'s/ HECTORG ARCIA -M OLINA Director June 26, 2012
Hector Garci-Molina
/sl MARKV.H URD President and Director June 26, 2012
Mark V. Hurd
/s/ DoNALD L. L ucas Director June 26, 2012
Donald L. Lucas
/s/  Naowmi O. SELIGMAN Director June 26, 201

Naomi O. Seligmau
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The following exhibits are filed herewith or aredmporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfieith the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission.
Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit File Filing Filed Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form No. Exhibit  Date By Here with

3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio ~ 8-K 12G:Z 00(-51788 3.1 2/6/06 Oracle Corporatiol
Oracle Corporation and Certificate of Amendment of
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation o
Oracle Corporatiol

3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle Corpor: 8-K 00C-51788 3.02 7/14/0¢ Oracle Corporatiol
4.01 Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stoc S-3 ASR 333166643 4.04 5/7/10 Oracle Corporatiol

4.02 Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Ozark hipldi 8-K 000-14376 10.34 1/20/0¢ Oracle Systems Corporati
Inc., Oracle Corporation and Citibank, N.

4.03 Form of Old 2016 Note, together with the Officers’ 8-K 000-14376 10.351/20/0¢ Oracle Systems Corporati
Certificate issued January 13, 2006 pursuant to the
Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Oracle
Corporation (formerly known as Ozark Holding Inand
Citibank, N.A.

4.04 Form of New 5.25% Note due 20 S-4/A 333132250 4.4 4/14/0¢ Oracle Corporatiol

4.05 First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 an  S-3 ASR 333142796 4.3 5/10/07 Oracle Corporatiol
Oracle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The BankNafw
York Trust Company, N.A

4.06 Forms of 4.95% Note due 2013, 5.75% Note due 2018 8-K 000-51788 4.09 4/8/08 Oracle Corporation
and 6.50% Note due 2038, together with Officers’
Certificate issued April 9, 2008 setting forth teems of
the Notes

4.07 Forms of 3.75% Note due 2014, 5.00% Note due 2019 8-K 000-51788 4.08 7/8/09 Oracle Corporation
and 6.125% Note due 2039, together with Officers’
Certificate issued July 8, 2009 setting forth therts of
the Notes

4.08 Forms of Original 2020 Note and Original 2040 Note, 10-Q  000-51788 4.08 9/20/1( Oracle Corporation
together with Officers’ Certificate issued July 2910
setting forth the terms of the Not
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Exhibit File Filing Filed Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form No. Exhibit Date By Here with

4.09 Forms of New 2020 Note and New 2040 N S-4 333176405 4.5 8/19/11 Oracle Corporatiol

10.01* Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rls ~ 10-Q 00(-51788 10.01 3/23/09 Oracle Corporatiol
amended and restated as of January 1,

10.02* Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pla®1 1C0-K 00(-51788 10.02 7/1/10 Oracle Corporatiol
as amended and restated as of October 1,

10.03* Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 i 10-Q 00(-51788 10.03 9/21/09 Oracle Corporatiol
Stock Plan, as amended and restated on July 19,

10.04* Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentiv 8-K  000-51788 10.30 10/13/1( Oracle Corporation
Plan, as approved on October 6, 2!

10.05* Form of Stock Option Agreements under the Amendetl a10-Q 000-51788 10.05 12/23/1. Oracle Corporation
Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan fd3.U
Executive Vice Presidents and Section 16 Offi

10.06* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Or: 10-Q 00C-51788 10.06 12/23/1: Oracle Corporatiol
Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 DirectorliSt
Plan

10.07* Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and Exée 10-Q 00(-51788 10.07 12/23/1: Oracle Corporatiol
Officers

10.08 Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement relatintpe 8-K  00(-51788 10.2  2/9/06  Oracle Corporatiol
$5,000,000,000 Commercial Paper Prog

10.09 Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement between O 8-K 00C-51788 10.3 2/9/06 Oracle Corporatiol
Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association dated as of February 3, 2

10.10* Offer letter dated February 2, 2010 to John Foatet 10-Q 00C-51788 10.26 3/29/10 Oracle Corporatiol
employment agreement dated February 2, :

10.11* Offer letter dated September 2, 2010 to Mark V.dHamd  8-K  00(-51788 10.28 9/8/10  Oracle Corporatiol
employment agreement dated September 3,

10.12* Oracle Corporation Executive Bonus P 8-K  00(-51788 10.29 10/13/1( Oracle Corporatiol
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Exhibit File Filing Filed Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form No. Exhibit Date By Here with

10.13* Resignation Agreement dated May 11, 2011 betweasl€ 10-K 00C-51788 10.15 6/28/11 Oracle Corporatiol
Corporation and Jeffrey E. Epst¢

10.14* Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive | 10-Q 00C-15086 10.1  2/6/08 Sun Microsystems, In

12.01 Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chal X

21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registre X

23.01 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registere X
Public Accounting Firn

31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek- X
Oxley Act—Lawrence J. Ellisol

31.02 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley X
Act—Safra A. Cat:

32.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saesa@xley X
Act

101 Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Ragn S- X

T: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31224nhd
2011, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operatiomstfe
years ended May 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (iii) Clicested
Statements of Equity for the years ended May 31220
2011 and 2010, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Céslus
for the years ended May 31, 2012, 2011 and 20)\dtes
to Consolidated Financial Statements and (vi) Féfen
Statement Schedule

* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemer
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ORACLE CORPORATION
Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(Unaudited)
Year Ended May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Earnings @
Income before provision for income ta» $ 1296 $ 1141 $ 824 $ 7,83 $ 7,83
Add: Noncontrolling interest 11¢ 97 95 84 60
Add: Fixed charge 827 87E 80¢ 68t 454
Total earnings $ 1390¢ $ 12,381 $ 9,14¢ $ 8,600 $ 8,34¢
Fixed Charges(2)
Interest expens $ 76€ $ 808 $ 754 $§ 63C $ 394
Estimate of interest in rent exper 61 67 54 55 60
Total fixed charge $ 827 $ 87t $§ 80 $ 68t $ 454
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 17x 14x 11x 13x 18x

(1) The term “earnings” means the amounts resultingfifee following: (a) our income before provisiom facome taxes, plus (b) the noncontrolling intésés the net income of our
majority owned subsidiaries, plus (c) our fixed rgies.
(2) The term“fixed charge” means the amounts resulting from the following:o@j interest expensed, plus (b) our estimate®friterest component of rent exper

We do not report any shares of preferred stocktauding in our consolidated financial statementsabse our outstanding preferred stock is
owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsi@igriOur ratio of earnings to combined fixed chaayes preferred dividends for any given
period is equivalent to our ratio of earnings t@f charges.



Name of Subsidiar

ORACLE CORPORATION
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Oracle International Corporatic
Oracle Global Holdings, In¢
Oracle America, Inc

Oracle Technology Compat
OCAPAC Holding Compan
OCAPAC Research Partn
OCAPAC Distributor Partne
OCAPAC Hardware Partn

Exhibit 21.01

Place of Incorporatio

California
Delaware
Delaware
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
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CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifoHewing Registration Statements:

Form &-8  33:-181023
Form S-8 333-179586

Form S-8 333-179132

Form &-8  33:-176986

Form &4 33:-176405

Form S-8 333-171939

Form &8  33:-169089

Form &3 333166643
Form -8 333-164734

Form &8 333163147
Form &8 333157758

Taleo Corporation 2004 Stock Plan, Taleo Corpona®@09 Equity Incentive Ple

RightNow Technologies, Inc. 2004 Equity Incentivark? as amended and restated, RightNow Technoldgies
Amended and Restated 1998 L-Term Incentive and Stock Option Pl

Endeca Technologies, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Ftadeca Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restated 19
Stock Incentive Plan, GoAhead Software, Inc. 20@®ISPlan

FatWire Corporation 2007 Stock Option Plan, as atednFatWire Corporation Second Amended 1999 £
Option Plan, as amended, InQuira, Inc. AmendedRestated 2002 Stock Plan, InQuira, Inc. Amended and
Restated 2002 Stock Plan for Officers and Direc

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 Loagrn Equity Incentive Plan
Art Technology Group, Inc. Amended and Restated51®@ck Option Plan, Art Technology Group, Inc.frus
Knowledge Solutions, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Cemgation Plal

Phase Forward Incorporated Amended and Restated 0@k Option and Incentive Plan, Convergin, Isaeli
2001 Stock Option Plan, as ameni

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive Pfam Microsystems, Inc. 1990 Lc¢-Term Equity Incentive
Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. Equity Compensatiogusition Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1988 Diregto
Stock Option Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1997 EmneBtock Option Plan, Afara Websystems, Inc. 20qQity
Incentive Plan, Cobalt Networks, Inc. Amended ardtBted 1997 Employee Stock Plan, Forte Softwace,1199¢
Stock Option Plan, Forte Software, Inc. 1997 StOgkion Plan, Gridware, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentivar?
HighGround Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan, Innb8aérnational, Inc. 1992 Stock Incentive PlamdBoft
International, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan,di&olnc. Stock Option Plan, Kealia, Inc. Amended &estated
2001 Stock Plan, Large Storage Configurations,fomated 1992 Stock Option Plan, MySQL AB Globah&h
Option Plan 2005, Neogent, Inc. 2001 Stock IncenBian, Pirus Networks, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan
SeeBeyond Technology Corporation 1998 Stock Plame&Space, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan, Star Division Corporation 1998 &t&tan, Amended and Restated Storage Technology
Corporation 1995 Equity Participation Plan, Storagehnology Corporation 2004 Long Term IncentivarR|
Tarantella, Inc. 2002 Incentive Stock Option Plaarantella, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan, Wavesehhelogies,
Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan, SilveelCSystems, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive F

GoldenGate Software, Inc. 2002 Equity IncentivenPés amende

Primavera Software, Inc. Amended and Restated 300¢k Option Plal



Form &-8

Form &-8

Form &-8

Form &-8

Form &-8

Form &-8

Form S-8

Form &-8
Form &-8
Form S-8

Form &-8

335-153660
33:-151045

335-147400
33&-145162

33&-142776

33E-142225

333-139901

33&-139875
335-138694
333-136275

335-131988

AdminServer, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Pl

BEA Systems, Inc. 1995 Flexible Stock IncentivenPBEA Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, E
Systems, Inc. 2000 Non-Qualified Stock IncentivenlPBEA Systems, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plarg Theory
Center Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option/3¢sclance Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 1997 Equity
Incentive Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 2002 Stelzn

Bridgestream 1999 Stock Plan, Logical Apps, InQ2&quity Incentive Pla

Agile Software Corporation 1995 Stock Option Plagile Software Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory St@gition
Plan, The Digital Market, Inc. 1995 Stock P

Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity InceatRlan, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1999 Stopki@h
Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 Stocki@p&tock Issuance Plan, Hyperion Solutions Cortana
1992 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Software Corporati991 Stock Plan, Decisioneering, Inc. 1997 Stpkon
Plan, SQRIBE 1995 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion SafemMCorporation 1991 Non-Employee Director Stock
Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 2000 Non-Executdeector Stock Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc983Stock
Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Directorso&t Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 NBrecutive Stocl
Option Plan, Arbor Software Corporation 1995 St@gkion/Stock Issuance Pl

Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity InceatRian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 St
Option/Stock Issuance Plan, Arbor Software Corponat 995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance F

Stellent, Inc. 1994-1997 Stock Option and Compeéasdlan, InfoAccess, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan a
amended September 29, 1999, InfoAccess, Inc. 1885k ®ption Plan as amended September 29, 1998 18te
Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Option and Compensatian,Ptellent, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, 8t#llInc.
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Incebtare Stellent, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997ckire
Stock Option Plan, Optika Imaging Systems, Inc.418%ck Option /Stock Issuance Plan, Amendmentpik@
Imaging Systems, Inc. 1994 Stock Option/Stock Iesa&Plan, Optika Inc. 2000 Non-Officer Stock In¢emPlan,
Optika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, AmendmenOfptika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, Stelldnt. 2005
Equity Incentive Plan, French Annex to the Stellémt. 2000 Stock Incentive Pl

MetaSolv, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, MetaSol, lnon¢-Term Incentive Pla
SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LLC 2005 Option Plan, SRbrldGroup Holdings, LLC 2004 Equity Incentive PI

Portal Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plamrt&@oftware, Inc. 2000 Supplemental Stock Opfden, Portal
Software, Inc. 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Pda amended and succeeded by the 1999 Stockilreeen
Plan)

Siebel Systems, Inc. 1996 Equity Incentive Plaab8i Systems, Inc. 1996 Supplemental Stock Op8ahel
Systems, Inc. 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, IntenfetiVorkPlace, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan, Janrste®ys Inc.
Amended and Restated Share Compensation Plan,enQaifitware, Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Option and
Compensation Plan, OnLink Technologies, Inc. 19@®ISOption Plan



Form &-8

33:-131427

OnTarget, Inc. 1999 Stock Award Plan, OpenSite Meldyies, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, Sales.Comm, 199¢
Equity Incentive Plan, Options Granted Outside @&S.com, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan,
SalesRepsOnline.com, Inc. 2000 Stock Option/Steskdnce Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1991 Stotki©Op
Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1995 Director OpBtam

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 -Term Equity Incentive Plan, Oracle Corporation Amhed
and Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, Oracl@@ation 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amenQedcle
Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (1992mended and restated, ProfitLogic, Inc. Secondrited
and Restated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as ameRgeplesoft, Inc. Amended and Restated 1989 Stiack P
Peoplesoft, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan, Peoplesoft,2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoé, 11992
Directors’ Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoft, Inc. 2@iBectors Stock Plan, Intrepid Systems, Inc. 188&k Option
Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Incentive Stopkdd Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Nonqualifie
Stock Option Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1997 §duicentive Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 2003 Bqui
Incentive Plan, Red Pepper Software Company 1988kSDption Plan, Skillsvillage 1999 Stock Plan, Meaape
Corporation 1998 Stock Plan, Trimark Technologies, 1993 Stock Option Plan, The Vantive Corponatio
Amended and Restated 1991 Stock Option Plan, TiiwéaCorporation 1997 Nonstatutory Stock OptioarR|
Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rlaacle Corporation 401(k) Savings and Investmdam

of our reports dated June 26, 2012, with respetttda@onsolidated financial statements and scheafuacle Corporation, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting of Oracle Corporation, included in this AmhReport (Form 10-K) of Oracle
Corporation for the year ended May 31, 2012.

San Jose, California
June 26, 2012

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contemid procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirtzat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdmion our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRge and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveaniagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 26, 201 By: /s/ L AWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Direct
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer and | are responsibledetablishing and maintaining disclosure contemid procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirtzat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdmion our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRge and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveaniagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 26, 201 By: /s/ SAFRAA. C ATZ

Safra A. Cat:
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc
(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PR INCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C.
SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OFTHE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being subndtta connection with the report on Form 10-K of €eaCorporation for the purpose of
complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}lé Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sectio® I8%hapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officer@racle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Chieéfcial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that, to the best of his or her Kedge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc
2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of Oracle

Corporation
Date: June 26, 2012 By: /s/ L AWRENCEJ. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer
Date: June 26, 201 By: /s/ SAFRAA. C ATZ

Safra A. Cat:
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc
(Principal Financial Officer



